Characterizing Time-Evolving Functional Networks

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

vorgelegt von **Thorsten Rings** aus Bad Honnef

Bonn, 2023

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

Gutachter und Betreuer: Prof. Dr. Klaus Lehnertz Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Frank Bertoldi

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 24. Oktober 2023

Erscheinungsjahr: 2024

Abstract

Understanding spatially-extended, complex dynamical systems is a vital task in the natural sciences. From the climate over eco-socio-cultural systems to the human brain, time-evolving complex systems abound. These systems can exhibit various dynamical phenomena, some of which are only partially understood and can drastically and disastrously affect all areas of life – from climate change over a loss of resilience of ecosystems to other extreme events like epileptic seizures. Typically exceeding our ability to comprehend in total due to the their sheer complexity, a powerful tool to understand these systems is the functional network ansatz. With this ansatz, a system is reduced to a network of interacting elementary units. Here, network vertices are associated with sampled units and network edges represent interactions between the units. In case interactions can not be assessed directly, one resorts to characterizing properties of interactions from recordings of the units' dynamics employing multivariate time series analysis techniques in a time-resolved manner. Then, the time-evolving functional networks can be investigated in lieu of the original complex dynamical system and assessed with network characteristics from graph theory on different scales - from the global scale encompassing the whole network to the local scale of single network constituents (vertices and edges). Relationships between the various time-evolving characteristics and the dynamics of the underlying system – both its emergent global dynamics as well as the dynamics of its elementary units -, however, are not yet fully understood. With this thesis, we set out to improve our understanding of such relationships. We critically assess the functional network ansatz and its assumptions and identify confounding variables in order to evaluate the approach's suitability for field data analysis. To this end, we investigate paradigmatic model systems with wellknown constraints as well as a complex natural system, the human brain. We provide novel insights into the rich interplay between structural organization, dynamics and functional relationships in these systems. Of note, local but not global network characteristics, that describe structural organization, robustly indicated the emergent global system dynamics, including the generation of extreme events. Regarding the latter, we developed a non-perturbative, data-driven approach to evaluate a system's stability against endogenous and exogenous perturbations by aggregating edge characteristics, thereby providing a proxy for the system's resilience. Notwithstanding these advancements, the problem of bridging various spatial and temporal scales in a time-evolving functional networks remains. Nevertheless, an improved understanding of complex systems and their dynamics can be achieved with the functional network approach, whose full potential is yet to be exhausted.

Contents

Abst	bract	1
Con	Contents	
I.	Introduction	4
	A. Motivation	4
	B. Central Concepts	5
	1. Networks	5
	2. Networked dynamical systems	8
	3. Deriving networks from time series data	9
	4. Characterizing networks	10
	5. Interpreting time-evolving network characteristics	12
	C. Overview of this thesis	14
	1. Investigated systems and phenomena	14
	2. New methods	20
	D. Structure of this thesis	22
II.	Synopsis of "Network structure from a characterization of interactions in complex systems: possibilities and limitations"	23
III.	Synopsis of "Distinguishing between direct and indirect directional couplings in large oscillator networks: Partial or non-partial phase analyses?"	25
IV.	Synopsis of "How important are hubs for the generation of extreme events in networks of excitable units?"	27
V.	Synopsis of "Precursors of seizures due to specific spatial-temporal modifications of evolving large-scale epileptic brain networks"	29
VI.	Synopsis of "Traceability and dynamical resistance of precursor of extreme events"	31
VII.	Summary, Outlook, and Concluding Remarks	33
	References	38

In the following, the journal articles summarized in this cumulative thesis are listed as well as how their authors contributed to them:

- Chapter II: T. Rings, T. Bröhl and K. Lehnertz. Network structure from a characterization of interactions in complex systems. *Sci. Rep.* 12, 11742 (2022). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14397-2
 - Thorsten Rings performed the research regarding global network characteristics and local network characteristics.
 - Timo Bröhl performed the research regarding local network characteristics.
 - Klaus Lehnertz supervised the research.
 - All authors conceived the research project and wrote the manuscript.
- Chapter III: T. Rings and K. Lehnertz. Distinguishing between direct and indirect directional couplings in large oscillator networks: Partial or non-partial phase analyses? *Chaos* 26, 093106 (2016). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 4962295
 - Thorsten Rings performed the research.
 - Klaus Lehnertz supervised the research.
 - Both authors conceived the research project and wrote the manuscript.
- Chapter IV: T. Rings, G. Ansmann and K. Lehnertz. How important are hubs for the generation of extreme events in networks of excitable units? *Eur. Phys. J. Spec. Top.* 226, 1963-1970 (2017). DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1140/epjst/e2017-70021-3
 - Thorsten Rings performed the research.
 - Gerrit Ansmann provided guidance in simulating dynamical systems.
 - Klaus Lehnertz supervised the research.
 - All authors conceived the research project and wrote the manuscript.
- Chapter V: T. Rings, R. von Wrede and K. Lehnertz. Precursors of seizures due to specific spatial-temporal modifications of evolving large-scale epileptic brain networks. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 10623 (2019). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47092-w
 - Thorsten Rings performed the research.
 - Randi von Wrede provided guidance in clinical research.
 - Klaus Lehnertz supervised the research.
 - All authors conceived the research project and wrote the manuscript.
- Chapter VI: T. Rings, M. Mazarei, A. Akhshi, C. Geier. M. Reza Rahimi Tabar and K. Lehnertz. Traceability and dynamical resistance of precursor of extreme events. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 1744 (2019). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-018-38372-y
 - Thorsten Rings performed the research.
 - Mahmood Mazarei and Amin Akhshi supported the research.
 - Christian Geier provided guidance in hierarchical cluster analysis.
 - Klaus Lehnertz and M. Reza Rahimi Tabar supervised the research.
 - All authors conceived the research project and wrote the manuscript.

I Introduction

"Chaos was the law of nature; order was the dream of man."

— Henry Adams

A. Motivation

Spatially-extended, complex dynamical systems account for large parts of nature and can exhibit various phenomena like synchronization and de-synchronization [PRK01], chimera states [Sch16],wave propagation [Mer92], phase transitions [Sch20], or extreme events [CGUF15]. In current times of climate change [Wor21], political turmoil [HT17], a pandemic $[SMP^+22]$, and mass extinction [RRMV22], understanding such systems is crucially important – especially when the systems undergo extensive changes over time. Yet, the sheer complexity of many systems can make this task highly difficult [Pro88, vK99, Wil02, AO04, HSA06, HDL17, Fie21 and simplifying a system under investigation becomes necessary.

Assuming that the system under investigation can be decomposed into delimitable elementary units, one ansatz is to describe the system as a *network* of vertices – representing the units – and edges – representing couplings and/or interactions between units. The system's collective dynamics is then thought to emerge from the interplay as well as the coupling structure of the units' dynamics, and analysis of the system's internal structure and organization can be performed on the network instead with so-called network characteristics from graph theory [New18]. These characteristics describe various topological and spectral properties of networks and of their key constituents (vertices resp. edges). This ansatz has proven highly successful in providing deeper insights into structure of and relationships within systems in diverse areas of science including physics, quantum information theory, earth and climate sciences, sociology, quantitative finance, biology, and the neurosciences [BLM⁺06, ADGK⁺08, BS09, DZMK09a, AE11, Bar11, BGL11, New12, BFPS⁺13, LAB⁺14, HSP15, GBB16, GV17, BFDD19. However, the relationships between

collective and individual dynamics of elementary units, coupling structure and internal organization, as well as the system's function (in the sense of purpose, impact, capability to act, and operating principles of the system) are still only partially understood.

If a network is derived from traceable, physical couplings between units of a system, it is called a *structural network* and such networks are often interpreted as an accurate representation of a system's internal structure. However, access to a system's couplings is often restricted or impossible without critically damaging the system through disassembly, (strong) perturbation of a system's units, or the introduction of a tracer agent. Examples of structural networks include representations of man-made systems such as road systems [BBG⁺18] and computer networks [KKR⁺99] or of natural systems simple and transparent (or dispensable) enough to allow investigation such as, e.g., a muscle and nerve cell network of a P. pacificus nematode BRRS13.

When deriving a structural network is impractical, dangerous, or outright impossible with current technology and methodology, functional networks represent an often used alternative. Instead of the aforementioned tracing of couplings, functional networks are based on characterizing interactions between elementary units derived from (ideally passive) observations of the units' dynamics in the form of time series data. Furthermore, and depending on the actual research question, functional networks might also present a more accurate picture of the internal organization of the systems: e.g., in a traffic system, even though two cities are connected by a highway (a structural connection), commuter do not necessarily drive along that road unless workplace and home align with the two cities (a functional connection). Deriving a functional network form traffic (starting and end points of individual car drives, etc.) might

provide more accurate information about congestion and a need for street maintenance than the corresponding road map (i.e., the structural network) alone. The ansatz of functional networks has been successfully applied in the study of diverse systems in nature such as (functional) brain networks [BS09], climate networks [DZMK09b, ZGAH15], protein-protein interactions [UGC⁺00], gene interactions [TAWM09], plant-pollinator $[HNL^{+}09,$ $OBD^+11],$ interactions foodwebs [DBB⁺19], or communication and social networks [OSH+07, PBV07].

Of special interest, a system might evolve with time due to, e.g., changing control parameters or some hidden rule or function. For example, the use of a transportation network is highly dependent on typical working hours (including deviations on irregular holidays and holiday seasons, etc.), most biological systems are dependent on the alternation of day and night, and stock markets follow events such as the slow development and consolidation of globalization as well as the rapid onset of global financial crises [STZM11]. So called evolving networks [HS12, BdKP14] extend the concept of networks to represent such behavior and allow for the investigation of the system's time evolution. For this purpose, a common method is to derive – with a moving window ansatz – a sequence of functional snapshot networks as a representation of the evolving network¹. Then, tracking changes between the snapshot networks along the sequence informs on phenomena exhibited by the system.

Problematic in a technical sense, comparing networks – and, consequently, identifying significant and meaningful changes between successive snapshot networks – currently remains an unsolved issue. While tailored metrics do exist (see, e.g., [BBK06, AMPL08, MHVD09, Mém11, DDSA16, MWH20]), they often place strong constraints on the investigated networks (equal number of vertices or equal edge density, etc.) or their interpretation is unclear. Alternatively, comparing quantifiable network characteristics necessitates appropriate normalization of characteristics for various circumstances. Furthermore, characteristics can be very specific, so that interpretations regarding the networks (and, by extension, the underlying system) require unintuitively summarizing multiple characteristics in unison. Even then, statements often can only be made relative to compared snapshot networks (e.g., an evolving network exhibit a higher clustering coefficient at one time than at another time).

In this thesis, we aim to further our understanding of the interplay between coupling structure, dynamics, and functional relationships within complex dynamical systems that undergo changes with time. We trace these changes by characterizing time-evolving functional networks derived from time series data of the systems' dynamics. The resulting temporal sequences of characteristics are then compared to the phenomena encountered in the collective dynamics of the system – e.g., synchronization, extreme events, or changes of resilience. We address fundamental challenges of characterizing time-evolving functional networks in nature and of their interpretation at the example of paradigmatic model systems - oscillator networks with complex coupling topologies – and one of the most complex systems in nature – the human brain.

B. Central Concepts

In the following, we present central concepts essential for the time-evolving functional networks approach.

1. Networks

Mathematically, a network is equivalent to a graph: a set \mathcal{V} of discrete objects together with a set \mathcal{E} of relations between the discrete objects. The objects are typically called *vertices* (or *nodes*) and the relations are called *edges* (or *links*). An edge connects two vertices. The terms network and graph are largely interchangeable and the choice of the term is

¹ Structural networks can and do evolve with time as well – indeed, changes in functional networks are thought to represent changes in structural networks.

context driven [BP14] with network being the term mostly employed for systems in nature and graph for abstract concepts. For simplicity, in this thesis we typically employ the term network.

Historically, the negative solution to the Seven Bridges of Königsberg problem by Leonard Euler [Eul41] published in 1741 is considered the first use of network theory in a mathematical proof (see Fig. I.1). Euler proved the impossibility of crossing each of the seven bridges exactly once while traversing Königsberg (now Kaliningrad, Russia) from an arbitrary starting point. To be more precise: Euler proved it to be possible to pass each edge in a network exactly once only for networks with exactly zero or two vertices with an odd number of edges connected to them.

The unfortunate destruction of two of the seven bridges during World War I modified the network such that this condition is now fulfilled and one can now traverse each of the *five* bridges of Kaliningrad exactly once. This anecdote also emphasizes an often neglected aspect of networks: it is possible for a network to change with time and modify its characteristics.

Generally, a network can be *binary* (an edge either exists between two vertices or not) or weighted (an edge carries an additional information – a weight). A weight can be any property relevant to the described network: from simple (e.g., the physical length of a street between two places) to abstract (e.g., the probability of a virus to spread between two populations of animals or people) to complex (e.g., the estimated strength of an interaction between coupled dynamical elementary units). Furthermore, we distinguish between *directed* networks and undirected networks. In directed networks, an edge starts at one vertex and terminates at another – two edges connecting the same vertices but with opposing direction are called a *bidirectional edge*. In undirected networks, all edges are bidirectional. A network, in which one can reach every vertex via edges starting at any other vertex is called connected. We explicitly do not consider unconnected networks in this thesis - i.e., networks that are separated into disconnected sub-networks. Furthermore, we also exclude so-called *multi-edges* – two vertices connected by more than one edge (cf. the network representing Königsberg before World War I in Fig. I.1).

A binary network of $N = |\mathcal{V}|$ vertices can be represented by an *adjacency matrix* $\mathcal{A} \in \{0,1\}^{N\times N}$, where $\mathcal{A}_{ij} = 1$ if vertex *i* and *j* are connected by an edge or $\mathcal{A}_{i,j} = 0$ otherwise². A weighted network on the other hand can be described by a *weight matrix* $\mathcal{W} \in \mathbb{R}^{N\times N}_+$, where each element \mathcal{W}_{ij} equals the weight of the edge between vertices *i* and *j*. In this case, the absence of an edge is represented by $\mathcal{W}_{ij} =$ 0. To exclude so-called self-loops, we set $\mathcal{A}_{ii} :=$ 0 respectively $\mathcal{W}_{ii} := 0 \forall i \in \mathcal{V}$. For undirected networks, \mathcal{A} respectively \mathcal{W} are symmetric³.

The *topology* of a network describes the manner in which all vertices and edges in the network are arranged and comprises a number of properties important for the study of networks. These topological properties include the size – number of vertices N as well as of edges E –, the *paths*, and the (local) *cou*pling structure among others. Here, paths are routes through a network described by sets \mathcal{P}_{ij} of edges which have to be traversed while traveling from one network constituent (vertex or edge) i to another j. The coupling structure, however, illustrates which vertices are connected to which other vertices by edges and what commonalities are shared between connected vertices⁴. In weighted networks, the weights of edges and their distribution can also be considered part of the topological properties. For convenience, it is possible to

² While not a common moniker, it would be more accurate to call \mathcal{A} the *vertex adjacency matrix*. This indicates the point of view which is used to describe the network: it is vertices that are connected by edges. Note, that the inverse point of view – edges are connected by vertices – is equivalent.

³ Equivalently, a binary network of $\mathbf{E} = |\mathcal{E}|$ edges can also be described by an *edge adjacency matrix* $\mathcal{A}^{(e)} \in \{0,1\}^{\mathbf{E}\times\mathbf{E}}$ while a weighted network can be represented by a *weighted edge adjacency matrix* $\mathcal{W}^{(e)} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbf{E}\times\mathbf{E}}_+$. The entries $\mathcal{A}^{(e)}_{lm}$ of the edge adjacency matrix are either 1 if two edges l and mshare a vertex or 0 otherwise, and the entries $\mathcal{W}^{(e)}_{lm}$ of the weighted edge adjacency matrix are assigned the average of the weights of edges l and m. Again, $\mathcal{A}^{(e)}_{ll} \coloneqq 0$ respectively $\mathcal{W}^{(e)}_{ll} \coloneqq 0, \ \forall l \in \mathcal{E}.$

⁴ Or, conversely, what commonalities are shared between edges connected to the same vertices.



FIG. I.1. Depiction of the Seven Bridges of Königsberg problem. Left: map of Königsberg in Leonard Euler's time; adapted from [Mer50]. It is impossible to cross every bridge (marked by green and turquoise lines) exactly once while traversing Königsberg. Two of the seven bridges were destroyed (turquoise lines) during World War I and it now possible to cross every existing bridge exactly once. Upper right: representation of Königsberg's bridges and riversides as a network. Black lines represent the bridges (edges) and black circles represent the land (vertices) divided by the Pregolya River. Numbers inside the circle represent the number of edges connected to the respective vertices. Lower right: Same as upper right but without the two edges representing the bridges destroyed during World War I.



FIG. I.2. Schematics of five archetypal network topologies. Black dots depict vertices and black lines depict edges. The examples have N = 8 vertices and varying number of edges^a. From left to right: a complete network, a regular network in the form of a ring with each vertex being connected to its two nearest neighbors, a scale-free network generated by preferential attachment [AB02], a small world network based on a ring with two rewired edges (equivalent to a rewiring probability of $p_r = 0.25$) [WS98], and a random network topology where each pair of vertices is connected with a probability of $p_e = 0.3$ [ER59].

^a Arguably, properties of the described archetypal networks typically hold for $N \to \infty$. However, the networks still represent reasonable approximations for finite N of the anyhow idealized archetypes.

define distinct types of topologies, and five archetypal types of topologies (see Fig. I.2) are:

- **complete network**: every vertex is connected to every other vertex in the network.
- regular network: vertices are connected in some regular pattern including rings, grids, and stars. Regular net-

work topologies are common in manmade systems (e.g., a typical bus in computer architecture [NL18] or the infamous checkerboard pattern of streets and junctions in the Untied States of America [Boe21] or of the city center of Mannheim, Germany).

• scale-free network: for this type of network, the distribution of the number of edges connected to each vertex follows a power law. This scale-free property indicates *self-similarity* over different spatial scales and often allows for a description of the network by a *core* (or *hub*) of vertices with a large number of connected edges and a *periphery* of vertices with lower numbers of connected edges. Postulated to be the result of a network generation mechanism based on *preferential attachment* [AB02], many systems in nature are thought to have a scale-free topology.

- small world network: a regular structure (e.g., a ring or a lattice) of vertices and edges is disrupted by edges connecting (seemingly) random vertices. Small world networks can be easily generated with, e.g., the Watts-Strogatz model [WS98]: starting from a regular network, each edge is rewired with some small probability p_r by exchanging one of the vertices connected by the edge with another randomly chosen vertex. Small world networks are often interpreted as the connecting link between an arbitrary regular network topology and a random network topology where the mixing of the two can be controlled by the rewiring probability. It has been reported (and doubted) that many systems in nature have small-world network topology [BS09, BHL10, PZMB16].
- random network: every vertex is connected to any other vertex with some probability p_e [ER59]. Random network topologies share a connection with random matrix theory [Meh04] and are often employed as a null model when studying order (or lack thereof) in networks.

These types of topologies, while not necessary exhaustive, are typically used as references for networks found in nature. Problematically, comparisons with such references are sensitive to the methods used to estimate networks from data as well as measurement and statistical errors [BHL10, HHP12, PZMB16].

Furthermore - and important for this thesis -, the concept of networks can also be used for representing a system with high numbers of degrees of freedom, for which (at least in some abstract sense) elementary units can be determined. In this case, an elementary unit is represented by a vertex and functional connections resp. interactions are depicted as edges⁵.

2. Networked dynamical systems

Before we discuss how to derive networks from time series data, we briefly consider dynamical systems coupled according to network topologies. Based on the assumption that couplings act additive on the time evolution of an elementary unit i of a system, the network decomposition of dynamical systems reads

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}_{i} = \mathbf{f}_{i}(\mathbf{x}_{i}) + \mathbf{h}\left(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}; \mathbf{x}_{i}; \mathbf{x}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{N}\right), \quad (I.1)$$

where \mathbf{x}_i represent the unit's state variables. Boldfaced symbols indicate vector-valued dynamical variables resp. functions or (in the case of \mathcal{M}) matrices. The function \mathbf{f}_i represents the *i*-th unit's *self-dynamics*⁶ including all of its control parameters.

The function $\mathbf{h}(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}; \mathbf{x}_i; \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_N)$ represents the dynamical coupling structure, which describes the form and effect of the couplings between the various units. It includes a (global) coupling strength ϵ , the system's coupling topology in the form of entries of the adjacency matrix $(\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{A})$ or weight matrix⁷ ($\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{W}$), and the coupling function $\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x}_i; \mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_N)$. The latter is typical separated into (yet not necessarily restricted to) diffusive – or alternatively termed attractive – coupling and repulsive coupling, which either turn the coupled units' dynamical variables closer together or further apart with time, respectively. Interestingly, both types can induce various forms of synchronization between the dynamics of the elementary

⁵ For simplicity, we will use the same index i (as well as j) for vertices and elementary units, since we assume a one-to-one relationship between vertices and units: each of the system's units is represented by exactly one vertex. In this context, N is also the number of elementary units of a system.

⁶ E.g., the right-hand-side of a first order differential equation corresponding to the equation of motion of a physical oscillator.

⁷ A weight matrix effectively individualizes the coupling strength of couplings between all (or a selected number of) pairs of interacting elementary units of the system.

units [PRK01]. Other forms of coupling (e.g., multiplicative couplings or couplings influencing control parameters of the self-dynamics) are intentionally excluded in this decomposition and from the deliberations in this thesis.

3. Deriving networks from time series data

There are an almost infinite number of possible approaches to derive networks from natural systems – e.g., labeling all junctions of an arbitrary city map as vertices and then adding edges for every street between two junctions [Boe21] or defining different species in a food web as vertices and add predatorprev relationships as edges [DBB⁺19]. However, in this thesis, we concentrate on networks derived from time series data. For this purpose, vertices are associated with parts of a system that were sampled by sensors (when investigating natural systems) or by dynamical variables of elementary units described by equations of motion (when simulating model systems). Edges are associated with properties of interactions between elementary units that can be estimated from time series of recordings from sensors or from time series of dynamical variables. Networks constructed by this means are functional networks and can differ drastically from the underlying structural network (sometimes also called *coupling topology*) of actually existing connections between elementary units (see Chapter II). On the most fundamental level, estimators for properties of interactions assume that an interaction between two elementary units change the time evolution of the trajectory of the units' dynamical variables in state space. Properties of interactions are:

• the strength of interaction: a numerical value that describes the level of interdependence between two elementary units⁸. Estimating the strength of interaction requires a quantification of the impact of the dynamics of interacting

⁸ Strength of interaction can be interpreted as an estimation of the coupling strength ϵ (cf. Section IB2) and ideally changes monotonically with changes in ϵ .

elementary units on each other – typically by concentrating on different aspects of the dynamics (e.g., amplitude distribution, phase positions, information content, etc.). Most estimators for the strength of interaction are designed to be limited to the interval [0, 1]. With respect to the aspect (or aspects) utilized by the employed estimator, values close to 0 indicate independence of the elementary units, and values close to 1 indicate the strongest discernible coupling⁹. This property is often used as a weight of a bidirectional edge between the two subsystems and we predominantly concentrate on networks based on the strength of interactions in this thesis.

• the direction of interaction: a numerical value indicating which of the two interacting elementary units is driving the other. Many estimators for the direction of interaction are based on assumptions about cause and effect between elementary units and on (not necessarily universal) models for the temporal evolution of their dynamics. While the value of an estimator for the direction of interaction can indicate the confidence of the estimate, in most cases only the sign of the value indicates the direction. Small values of the estimator can indicate both independence of the two elementary units or a strong bidirectional interaction [LD15]. The direction of interaction is sometimes used to derive directed networks, where weights of directed edges between two vertices $(i, j; \text{ edge } i \rightarrow j)$ indicate to what degree the elementary unit associated with the vertex i can be assumed to drive the one associated with the vertex j. Problematically, this version of networks does not inform on the strength of interactions between elementary units without addi-

⁹ Given that very high coupling strengths ϵ can produce overshoot-like effects which might seemingly decouple elementary units (cf. Eq. I.1 for $\mathbf{h} \gg \mathbf{f}_i$), the "strongest discernible coupling" might not be associated with $\epsilon \to \infty$ but with some finite value of ϵ .

tional strength-of-interaction-based estimates, yet there are currently no commonly accepted methods to combine strength and direction of interactions.

• the functional form of interaction: a function dependent on dynamical variables (or derivatives thereof) describing how two elementary units react to each other. Estimating the functional form of an interaction requires a number of (implicit and often restrictive) assumptions about the elementary units [SDMS12, TLI19]. To our knowledge, no networks were derived from estimates of the functional form of interactions so far and doing so would require a highly abstract, possibly symbolic assignment of edges (and edge weights).

The different properties of interactions can be estimated with various analysis techniques derived from statistics, nonlinear dynamics, synchronization theory, statistical physics, and information theory, among others. These techniques are based on (statistical) correlation [RN88], Kramers-Moyal theory [RGHLT19, ARZL21], predicitability [Gra69, Eic05], information flow [Sch00, Liu04], phase synchronization [MLDE00, RP01, SDMS12, or generalized synchronization [AGLE99, QQAG00, ACLM11, ASR12], to name but a few. Since each technique relies on certain characteristic aspects of the dynamics – capturing different aspects of an interaction - and exhibit various sensitivities $[KMA^+07]$, the use of the respective techniques for an investigation of interaction properties depends on the specific problem.

In this work, we predominately¹⁰ focus on weighted networks derived with the phasesynchronization-based estimator mean phase coherence [MLDE00], which assesses the strength of interaction [KMA⁺07]. For the systems investigated in this thesis (weakly chaotic oscillators and oscillatory brain dynamics), phase-based approaches have proven successful in the past and are robust under a range of influencing factors including noise [MLDE00, PKL14].

For systems with time-evolving coupling structures and coupling strengths or changing sensitivity of elementary units to interactions (possibly due to changing control parameters or some hidden rule or function), the generation of a single, all encompassing network is impractical or even conceptually misleading. Instead, evolving networks allow for a better description of such systems. By using a moving window approach, one can generate a sequence (basically a time series) of snapshot networks, where in each window the interaction property of interest is calculated for each pair of elementary units. The length of non-overlapping windows, then, can be chosen according to a balance between the number of data points necessary for good (statistical) accuracy of the estimator of the interaction property and approximate stationarity of the system.

4. Characterizing networks

Networks can be characterized with a large number of characteristics, that reflect their specific topological and spectral properties. These characteristics describe either single network constituents (vertices and edges) on a *local network scale* or the network as a whole on a *global network scale*¹¹. The largest class of local network characteristics are so called *centralities* based on concepts that reflect a multitude of different roles a vertex or an edge can

¹⁰ In Chapter II, we utilize two other estimators for the strength of interaction: maximum-lag cross correlation [KMA⁺07] and mutual information [TRW⁺98, KSG04, KMA⁺07]. For a brief discussion of these two techniques, see the corresponding Methods Section ??. Note, that for the specific investigation presented in Chapter II (cf. Section IC 1, Rössler oscillators), results attained for maximum-lag cross correlation are largely comparable to those for mean phase coherence.

Furthermore, in Chapter III, we utilize two phase-based estimators for the direction of interaction – namely the *evolution map approach* [RP01] and its partialized extension, the *partialized triplet approach* [KPR14].

¹¹ Additionally, on a *mesoscopic network scale*, characteristics can describe groups of constituents sorted according to specific rules (often based on local characteristics). Often the grouping itself is considered the characteristic (e.g., in some social network, a vertex representing a person belongs to one or multiple cliques of "friend"-vertices that can be identified with the correct method).

occupy in a network. We concentrate on vertex centralities¹² and present four widely used centralities showcasing different approaches to *importance* of vertices.

The arguably simplest (and most straightforward) local network characteristics is the *degree* k of a vertex. Predating first definitions of centralities – Leonard Euler already used this characteristic for his solution to the Seven Bridges of Königsberg problem in 1736 (cf. Figure I.1) –, the degree is the number of edges connected to a vertex $i: k(i) := \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathcal{A}_{ij}$. The equivalent of the degree in a weighted network is the *strength centrality* [BBPSV04, OAS10]: $\mathcal{C}^{S}(i) := \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathcal{W}_{ij}$. Both characteristics describe to what extent a given vertex can affect (and is affected by) other vertices in the network.

The eigenvector centrality C^{E} of a vertex *i* [Bon87] is defined as the *i*-th entry of the eigenvector \vec{v} corresponding and normalized to the dominant eigenvalue λ_{max} of a matrix \mathcal{M} , where $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{A}$ for binary networks or $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{W}$ for weighted networks. A vertex assessed as central with eigenvector centrality is connected to other central vertices.

Closeness centrality \mathcal{C}^{C} utilizes the average distance of a vertex to all other vertices in a network [Fre79]. Here, distance is defined as the length d of the shortest path between two network constituents. In binary networks this length is the shortest number of edges needed to be traversed to travel from vertex i to vertex j. In weighted networks, this length is defined as the minimum sum of the inverse weights of edges along each possible path [Fre79]. A vertex with a large closeness centrality has short shortest paths connecting the vertex to all other constituents of its type. Therefore, it is an ideal starting point to reach other vertices and is considered important for spreading processes in the network.

Betweenness centrality C^{B} of a specific vertex *i* assesses the amount of shortest

paths between all vertices traversing the vertex [New01, BBPSV04, WHV08, OAS10]. The amount is then normalized to the number of all possible shortest paths between vertices. A vertex with a large betweenness centrality acts as a bottleneck or bridge between the other vertices.

Strength and eigenvector centrality are often grouped as degree/weight-based (resp. strength-of-interaction-based) local network characteristics, while closeness and betweenness centrality are grouped as based on the organization of shortest paths in a network. Additionally, the rank order of the values of a local network characteristics is used to define importance of network constituents [LMM⁺17]: the vertex associated with the largest value of a local network characteristics is typically deemed the most important in the network with respect to the concept behind the characteristics.

Four of the most commonly utilized global network characteristics are global clustering coefficient C [WS98], average shortest path length L [New01], assortativity A [New02b], and synchronizability S [BP02b]. The first three characteristics – C, L, and A – can be grouped as sensitive to topological properties of networks, while synchronizability evaluates spectral properties that are linked to stability and robustness of dynamics of coupled elementary units arranged on the corresponding network.

The global clustering coefficient C assesses the degree to which vertices in a network tend to cluster together and characterizes the functional segregation of a network. In a binary network, C assesses the relative amount of all vertices adjacent to any specific vertex that are also connected with each other [WS98]. In a weighted network, the geometric average of weights of edges between such mutually connected triplets of vertices can be considered [OSKK05]. A large global clustering coefficient indicates a highly interconnected network (at the extreme, a network with complete network topology), while a small global clustering coefficient indicates sparsely connected networks (e.g., a network with random network topology and only a small number of

¹² In Chapter II, we also evaluate various edge centralities. However, we do not utilize the related concepts when interpreting changes in evolving functional networks related to dynamical phenomena and treat edge centralities as a sideshow in this thesis. For more information on edge centralities, we refer to the corresponding Methods Section ?? and references therein.

edges).

The average shortest path L assesses a network's functional integration and is the average of the length of all shortest paths between any pair of vertices in the network. Typically associated with information flow in a network, a small value of L indicates fast transport of information and a small degree of separation between all vertices in the network [New01].

The assortativity A of a network describes the preference of vertices with similar characteristics to be connected by an edge [New02b, BL13]. A typical choice of the characteristics in question is the degree of the vertices. Interestingly, the dynamics of coupled elementary units arranged on an assortative network are reported to be harder to synchronize than ones on a less assortative or even disassortative network [MZK06, dBGS07].

The synchronizability S of a network describes the stability of (and the possibility to exhibit) a synchronized state of the networked dynamics [BP02b, ABJ06, vMSK⁺11], where each unit is synchronized with each other unit. Derived from the ratio of the largest and smallest non-vanishing eigenvalue of the Laplacian matrix \mathcal{L} of a network, a large value of S indicates an unstable synchronized state (elements of the Laplacian matrix are defined as $\mathcal{L}_{ij} = \sum_{i} \mathcal{A}_{ij} \delta_{ij} - \mathcal{A}_{ij}$ for binary networks resp. $\mathcal{L}_{ij} = \sum_{i} \mathcal{W}_{ij} \delta_{ij} - \mathcal{W}_{ij}$ for weighted networks). Interestingly, a large synchronizability can indicate – depending on the dynamics of the elementary units – that the system in question can not exhibit a synchronized state independent of the coupling strength between the units.

In evolving networks, the network characteristics can change with time. Network constituents may lose or gain placement in one centrality ranking and may stay at their placement in another. Networks as a whole can become more or less segregated, while their assortativity monotonically decreases with time. Interpreting these changes can be difficult, as there is no established way for comparing networks as a whole [ABC99, vWSD10, TITP19]. Tracking network characteristics over a sequence of snapshot networks, network characteristics can be calculated for each snapshot resulting in time series of characteristics that then can be analyzed further.

5. Interpreting time-evolving network characteristics



FIG. I.3. Example of a network alteration. Vertices are depicted as black dots, edges as black lines. Top: network before at time t_0 . The magenta-framed vertex is a bottleneck in the network and exhibits the highest betweenness centrality in the network at that point in time. The average shortest path in the network is short thanks to the magenta-framed vertex acting as a bridge between different groups of vertices. Bottom: network after at time t_1 after an alteration. The magenta-framed vertex looses five edges and is no longer the most central vertex according to betweenness centrality. Shortest paths are rerouted via a remote vertex, and the average shortest path length of the network increased.

To gain a comprehensive picture of possible modifications a network undergoes with time, it is often necessary to interpret changes in a combination of different local and global network characteristics. For example, if we only know, that the average shortest path length of a network gets longer with time, we can conclude, that information flow in the network decreases in efficiency. If we include knowledge about a simultaneous change in the rank order of betweenness centrality, where the most "betweenness-central" vertex becomes significantly less central, we can make a more refined interpretation: a bottleneck-like vertex got closed off and the rerouting of a number of shortest paths through some other vertex or vertices produce shortest paths of higher lengths (see figure I.3).

An important factor when interpreting the changes an evolving networks undergoes is statistical validation of results $[N^+12]$. Without appropriate models, the significance of a change in the various properties of a network can often only be evaluated with bootstrapping methods and Monte-Carlo simulations – i.e., with surrogate techniques. Such techniques can be applied on various levels of the chain of analysis under formulation of appropriate null hypotheses [Efr04].

Briefly, an ensemble of surrogate data is created by simulating realizations of an appropriate null model with Monte Carlo methods. In these realizations, all important statistical and dynamical aspects of the original data are preserved – but not the property which is tested for. The null hypothesis can then be rejected – with reasonable confidence depending on the number of statistically independent constrained realizations – if some discriminating statistics for the original data is outside the range of values determined for the surrogate ensemble.

On the level of time series analysis, surrogates can help affirm confidence in the existence of, e.g., non-linearity or interactions. Non-linearity – or, more correctly, the absence of non-linearity, – can be tested with so-called *iterative amplitude adjusted Fourier transform surrogates* [SS96, SS00]. By randomizing aspects of the dynamics that include all effects of a possible non-linearity¹³, we can create surrogates that resemble the original time series with high precision but without its possible non-linearity. Then, if the value of an indicator for non-linearity exceeds or falls below the values for the surrogates, we can reject the null hypothesis of an absence of non-linearity. Partially extending from these monovariate techniques and by randomizing the aspect of a recorded dynamics on which the estimator for the property of interaction is based, we can generate constrained realizations of the multivariate time series [Sch98, SS00, AKS⁺03, Pal07, LIP⁺18, RCR⁺20]. If an estimation for a property of interaction is then outside the range of estimations for the surrogates, we then can reject the null hypothesis that a possible interaction is not related to the aspect of the dynamics.

As a special consideration, an aspect of a time series can be a temporally close, upcoming event (e.g., an extreme event). So-called seizure time surrogates¹⁴ $[AMK^+03]$ can be used to test the null hypothesis of the nonexistence of an event-permissive (or even facilitating) state. Under the assumption that such a state exists in some interval prior to the event and that the state can be discriminated by some statistics from the time intervals where we assume the system to behave "normal", a straightforward way to generate a suitable surrogate is to randomize the points in time of the events while keeping the distribution of inter-event intervals. This changes what time intervals are considered prior to an event resp. what intervals are during normal behavior. For the original data, a statistically significant difference between the discriminatory statistics from the two types of intervals can then be considered a first indicator for the existence of precursors. However, if this difference is equal or greater for the surrogates than for the original data, the null hypothesis - i.e., the non-existence of a event-permissive state – can not be rejected. In that case, the event might be an abrupt phenomenon without precursors.

On the level of networks, surrogates can be based on, e.g., preservation of degree or strength distributions of networks [AL11, AL12, KDGBT12, ZGC12, RA13, FLPA15,

¹³ By combining Parseval's theorem and the Wiener-Khinchin theorem, one can conclude that all effects which can not be explained by linear dynamics are expressed in the time series' Fourier phases. Consequently, randomizing the phase position of the Fourier transformation resp. of the inverse Fourier transformation while fixing the amplitude distribution and the distribution of Fourier coefficients destroys non-linearity in time series.

¹⁴ The name refers to the original purpose of this surrogate concept: the identification of a seizure-permissive state in data from epileptic human brains. Revealing such a state can be considered an important step for seizure prediction [KLR⁺18].

SMG15, SL17] while randomizing the existence resp. the weights of edges. A change in network characteristics can than be considered significant, if the change puts the characteristic outside the range derived for the surrogate networks, which were generated from the network before the change.

C. Overview of this thesis

Having addressed central concepts, we continue with outlining the different systems and phenomena investigated in this thesis with the approach of time-evolving functional networks. We also introduce new methods important to our investigation.

1. Investigated systems and phenomena

In this work, investigated systems can be largely separated in two groups: *simulated systems* for evaluation and testing of methods and a *natural system* that we aim to gain a better understanding of.

a Simulated systems

We employ networks of coupled *Rössler oscillators* and of coupled *FitzHugh-Nagumo oscillators* to simulate complex dynamics for preliminary studies regarding the derivation of networks from time series data and regarding the relationship of (local or global) network properties with different dynamical phenomena such as synchronization and extreme events. The two types of oscillators support rich dynamics and act as excitable media when diffusively coupled while still being comparably simple.

Rössler oscillators

The Rössler oscillator was initially designed to exhibit similar dynamics to the Lorentz oscillator [Lor63], while being easier to analyze [R76]. Anecdotally, the oscillator was inspired by the movement of a taffy puller and was not explicitly designed to represent physical systems. Instead, the Rössler oscillator is often used to illustrate chaotic dynamics which here arises from a weak non-linearity.

The i-th Rössler oscillator in some set of N uncoupled oscillators is described by the following 3-dimensional differential equation:

$$\dot{x}_i = -\omega_i y_i - z_i
\dot{y}_i = \omega_i x_i - a y_i
\dot{z}_i = b + z_i (x_i - c).$$
(I.2)

The parameters a, b, and c control the dynamics of the system. Depending on their setting, the system can exhibit convergence to a fixed point or to a limit circle as well as chaotic dynamics. Furthermore, we introduce an eigenfrequency ω_i^{15} to the original equation [R76], which we use to diversify oscillators – a common method to hamper synchronization in networks of coupled oscillators [BLM+06]. Fig. I.4 shows exemplary time series of the dynamical variables of a single Rössler oscillator as well as a portrait of its state space.

Coupled Rössler oscillators can exhibit various phenomena like complete (phase or otherwise) synchronization, chimera states [DSBI⁺20, KJ21] or oscillator resp. amplitude death [KVK13]. For networks of coupled Rössler oscillators, Eq. I.2 can be extended to

$$\dot{x}_i = -\omega_i y_i - z_i + h(x_i; x_1, \dots, x_N)$$

$$\dot{y}_i = \omega_i x_i - a y_i$$

$$\dot{z}_i = b + z_i (x_i - c).$$
(I.3)

where $h(x_i; x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ is the coupling term. For diffusive coupling as used in this thesis,

$$\widetilde{h}(x_i; x_1, \dots, x_N) = \frac{\epsilon}{k} \sum_{j=1}^N \mathcal{A}_{ij}(x_j - x_i) \quad (I.4)$$

with coupling strength ϵ and degree k. All information about the network's topology is encoded in the entries \mathcal{A}_{ij} of the adjacency matrix. Time series of the dynamical variables of a network of coupled Rössler oscillators are

¹⁵ The eigenfrequency is not the actual frequency of the weakly non-linear oscillator, but nonetheless directly influences the oscillator's speed of revolution around its center.



FIG. I.4. Exemplary time series of dynamical variables x (top), y (middle), and z (bottom) of a Rössler oscillator (left; cf. Eq. I.2) and a 3-dimensional depiction of its corresponding state space (right). Parameter were set to a = 0.1, b = 0.1, c = 18, $\omega = 1$, and initial conditions for x, y, and z were randomly chosen from the interval [0, 1] resulting in chaotic dynamics of the oscillator. We here dropped indices i for readability. To generate the time series, Eq. I.2 was integrated with the Dormand-Prince method [DP80] and with a step size of 0.01 for 200 time units after initial transients of 200 time units were discarded.

depicted in Fig. I.5.

Analogously to Arnold tongues [PRK01] in the case of two coupled oscillators, synchronization in networks of coupled Rössler oscillators is affected by the diversity of the oscillators – the variety in eigenfrequencies ω_i – and by the coupling strength ϵ . However the relationship between the set of $\{\omega_i, \epsilon\}$ and the system's global dynamics is typically less straight forward compared to Arnold tongues in the two-oscillator case. While phase synchronization¹⁶ usually increases with an increase of coupling strength and a decrease of inhomogeneity of the eigefrequencies (e.g., a decrease of the range or variance of the distribution of eigenfrequencies), this behavior is not necessarily monotonic (see Chapter II). Interestingly, changes in the coupling topology can affect the global dynamics of the networked dynamical system akin to changes in coupling strength [ALF16]. An increase in the rewiring probability of a small-world coupling topology (increasing the randomness of which vertices

¹⁶ The global phase synchronization of a network of oscillators is quantifiable with, e.g., the Kuramoto order parameter [Kur84] or as an average over phase-based strength of interaction estimates of time series from pairs of oscillators. and associated oscillators are coupled), e.g., can affect the dynamics similar to an increase in coupling strength.



FIG. I.5. Exemplary dynamics of a network of 100 coupled Rössler oscillators. (a) 10 randomly selected time series of dynamical variables x_i (top), y_i (middle), and z_i (bottom) of the oscillators. For visibility, time series are plotted with an offset. (b) Symmetric adjacency matrix representing the bidirectional couplings between the Rössler oscillators. White (black) colored pixel indicate an existing (an absent) coupling between two oscillators. The network has with random coupling topology and two oscillators are coupled with a probability of p = 0.1. (c) Time series of the averaged dynamical variables $\langle x \rangle$ (top), $\langle y \rangle$ (middle), and $\langle z \rangle$ (bottom). (d) 3-dimensional projection of $\langle x \rangle$, $\langle y \rangle$, and $\langle y \rangle$. While $\langle x \rangle$ and $\langle y \rangle$ evolve in an oscillatory pattern, $\langle z \rangle$ evolves seemingly erratically. Control parameters of the Rössler oscillators were set to a = 0.1, b = 0.1, and c = 18. Eigenfrequencies ω_i were drawn from a normal distribution $\mathcal{N}(1, 0.05)$ and initial conditions for all x_i , y_i , and z_i were randomly chosen from the interval [0, 1]. To generate the time series, Eq. I.2 was integrated with the Dormand-Prince method [DP80] and with a step size of 0.01 for 200 time units after initial transients of 200 time units were discarded.

FitzHugh-Nagumo oscillators

The FitzHugh-Nagumo oscillators was initially designed as a simplification of the Hodgkin-Huxley model for the initiation and propagation of action potentials in squid giant axons [Fit61] but variations of this oscillator found diverse use in model studies in a large number of fields like cardiology [Rap22], social sciences [PV22], or material sciences resp. simulated electronics [BG22] to name but a few. We use a modified version of this weakly non-linear oscillator:

$$\dot{x}_{i} = x_{i}(\iota - x_{i})(x_{i} - 1) - y_{i}
\dot{y}_{i} = \nu_{i}x_{i} + \gamma y_{i}.$$
(I.5)

 x_i is known as the excitatory variable of the *i*-

th oscillator, while y_i is the inhibitory variable and ι , ν_i , and γ are control parameters. In lieu of an eigenfrequency, we diversify FitzHugh– Nagaumo oscillators via the control parameter ν_i that regulates how strongly the inhibitory variable reacts to the excitatory one. Lower values of ν_i facilitate excitation and short refractory periods. Figure I.6 shows exemplary time series of the dynamical variables of a FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillator and a state space representation of the system.

When coupled, FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators can be considered an excitable medium and, as such, are sometimes used to simulate phenomena like wave propagation and excitation on complex coupling topologies [AKLF13, ALF16, Ans16]. For networks of coupled FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators, Eq. I.5 can be extended to

$$\dot{x}_{i} = x_{i}(\iota - x_{i})(x_{i} - 1) - y_{i} + \tilde{h}(x_{i}; x_{1}, \dots, x_{N})$$
$$\dot{y}_{i} = \nu_{i}x_{i} + \gamma y_{i}.$$
(I.6)

Here, \tilde{h} again represents diffusive coupling (cf. equation I.4).

In such systems, excitation is marked by a high-amplitude oscillation¹⁷ of an oscillator induced by a weak input via a coupling. Figure I.7 shows exemplary time series of the dynamical variables of 100 FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators coupled onto a random coupling topology. Interestingly – and for the correct range of control parameter settings – the diffusive couplings between the oscillators dampen the amplitude most of the time (cf. Figs. I.6) and I.7) with oscillations whose amplitudes compare to the case of an uncoupled oscillator at seemingly random times. These rare, recurring high-amplitude oscillations coincidentally executed by all (or almost all) oscillators can be considered extreme events [AKLF13]. While individual oscillators frequently exhibit such high-amplitude oscillations in a form of *proto-events*, the dynamics only evolve into a full extreme event if a sufficient number of oscillator are excited during a proto-event at the same time. In this case, the rest of the oscillators are recruited to join in generating the extreme event. In Chapter IV, we discuss which and why oscillators are prone protoevents with respect to control parameter settings and local aspects of coupling topologies.

b Natural system

Next, we introduce the natural system, we aim to gain a better understanding of.

Perhaps the most complex system in nature known to men, the human brain is a conglomerate of about 86.1×10^{10} neurons and about as many other cells (glia, epithelial and endothelial cells as well as pericytes) [ACG⁺09]. Depending on type and anatomical location, each neuron is connected to other neurons by between 1 and approximately 200000 synapses (effectively, receivers for incoming electrical activity). Axons (parts of neurons that act as organic cabling between cells) vary in length between approximately 10^{-6} m and 1 m and their total length is estimated to exceed the average distance between Earth and Moon.

From the point of view of spatial organization, networks in the brain are highly interconnected and neither random nor entirely regular, span multiple spatial scales, from individual cells and synapses via cortical columns to (sub)cortical areas. Besides this structural complexity, the brain also supports a enormous number of cognitive and behavioral functions [HY00, EFS01, SS01, VLRM01, MDOD04, BM10, FA11, BAK12, Fre12, RFV12, SDE12. Typically, these functions are shared among all humans even though differences in morphology and in connection structure are prevalent. Additionally, in the case of brain pathologies, normal and abnormal functions and structures can coexist [SG05, US06, SNV14].

Historically, our knowledge of brain functions originates from observations of subjects with disrupted functions like, e.g., loss of motor control after an injury of the motor cortex or loss of sight due to a damaged visual cortex [Lur62]. A treatise on trauma dated

¹⁷ A high-amplitude oscillation is distinguished from other (lowamplitude) oscillation by a maximum value of the dynamical variable x_i during an oscillation that exceeds the maximum values during other oscillations many times over.



FIG. I.6. Exemplary time series of dynamical variables x (top) and y (bottom) of a FitzHugh-Nagumo oscillator (left) and a 2-dimensional depiction of its corresponding state space (right). Parameter were exemplarily set to $\iota = -0.027$, $\nu = 0.006$, and $\gamma = 0.02$, and initial conditions for x and y were randomly chosen from the interval [0, 1]. We dropped indices i for readability. To generate the time series, Eq. I.5 was integrated with the Dormand-Prince method [DP80] and with a step size of 0.1 for 2000 time units after initial transients of 2000 time units were discarded.

to circa 1600 BCE¹⁸ [All05], the so-called Edwin Smith Papyrus, already describes paralysis due to brain injury as well as a connection between the position of a cranial injury and the affected side of the body [ZV61, SB07]. In more recent history, head injuries during the Russo-Japanese War, World War I, and World War II expanded our understanding of brain (dis-)function drastically (e.g., the functional partitioning of visual processes in the occipital cortex [Lan09]) at the cost of a colossal loss of lives.

Fortunately, nowadays, the development of non-invasive (or, at least, weakly invasive) techniques to assess brain dynamics allows for the study of brain function and dynamics in healthy subjects¹⁹. While there is a small number of theses techniques (e.g., functional magnetic resonance tomography [HSM04], magnetoencephalography [HHI+93], or positron emission tomography [BMTV05]), we concentrate on *electroencephalography* (EEG) in this work as it is the only techniques capable of long term (days to weeks) continuous recordings [Lop93, WDHK+19, VDHG+21].

Electroencephalography measures the aggregated electrical activity²⁰ of the surfaces layer of the brain as electrical potential differences between sensors placed along the scalp of a subject [TT09, FQ12, SC13]. The placement of sensors is internationally standardized in the so-called 10–20 system (see Fig. I.8). Problematically, EEG is a measurement of electrical potentials without a well defined ground due to safety concerns. While the choice of reference is matter of ongoing debate with various schemes providing different advantages and disadvantages [FRBM88, NSW⁺97, HNT01, GVN⁺05, Sch05, YWO $^+$ 05, ZDS06, GL17b], an EEG sensor can be chosen as reference (unless otherwise noted, the interhemispheric sensor Cz was chosen in this work as to not amplify signals from one hemisphere). Furthermore, movement of facial muscles can significantly interfere with EEG recordings and can produce severe artifacts especially in recordings from pre-frontal brain regions 21 .

The first human EEG was recorded by Hans Berger in 1924 [Haa03]. The German psychi-

¹⁸ Terminology and grammar indicate this papyrus to be a copy of an even older text, possibly from the *Old Kingdom* (circa 3000-2500 BCE) [Bre30].

¹⁹ Research into the human brain falls under human experimentation and is as such subject to supervision by research ethics committees and to accordance to the declaration of Helsinki [Wor13]. Use of data from research subjects requires informed consent.

²⁰ Notably, it is unclear how exactly an EEG signal arises from the electrophysiologic activity of brain tissue [NL05], as it is an inverse problem. Furthermore, important electromagnetic characteristics (e.g., permittivity and permeability) of biological matter are currently impossible to measure, subject specific, and/or generally unknown in vivo [GGC96, FVDMDMH99, AMB⁺10, LE19].

²¹ Sensors sampling these regions are placed atop the forehead and voltage differences are consequentially strongly affected by the electrical activity of the occipitofrontalis muscle.



FIG. I.7. Exemplary dynamics of a network of 100 coupled FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators. (a) Cutouts of time series of dynamical variables x_i (top) and y_i (bottom) of FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators. For visibility, time series are plotted with an offset and each consecutive pair of ticks along the y-axis frames 20 time series. (b) Symmetric adjacency matrix representing the bidirectional couplings between the FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators. White (black) colored pixel indicate an existing (an absent) coupling between two oscillators. The network has random coupling topology and two oscillators are coupled with a probability of p = 0.1. (c) Cutouts of time series of the averaged dynamical variables $\langle x \rangle$ (top) and $\langle y \rangle$ (bottom). (d) 2-dimensional projection of $\langle x \rangle$ and $\langle y \rangle$ as an approximation of the system's state space derived from the whole length of the time series. Parameter were set to $\iota = -0.027$, $\nu_i = 0.006 + i \cdot 0.00008$, and $\gamma = 0.02$, and initial conditions for x_i and y_i were randomly chosen from the interval [0, 1]. To generate the time series, Eq. I.5 was integrated with the Dormand–Prince method [DP80] and with a step size of 0.1 for 20000 time units after initial transients of 2000 time units were discarded. The cutouts of length of 2000 time units are selected to show a rare and recurring high-amplitude event at $t \approx 800$, that is interpreted as an extreme event and of which 17 occurred over the whole observation period.

atrist was also the first to describe the alpha rhythm²² and thereby had a formative influence on the popular (and sometimes contested) interpretation of EEG signals as signs of *brain waves*. Besides basic research, EEG is used for medical diagnosis of neurological diseases such as stroke, epilepsy, dementia or brain tumors [LFB⁺16]. EEG is also auxiliary used to assess the depth of anesthesia during surgery [Pic12, AKRA13].

Intracranial EEG (iEEG) is a decidedly invasive technique to more directly measure electrophysiological brain activity. By implanting sensors within the skull, iEEG cir-

²² Oscillatory EEG signals in the range of 8-12 Hz, that can predominantly be recorded from the occipital lobe during wakeful relaxation with closed eyes. Amplitudes of alpha waves are reduced when eyes are open or during sleep [MP20].



FIG. I.8. Exemplary time series of EEG recordings (left) of a subject suffering from epilepsy and schematic of the location of sensors of the international 10–20 system (right). Time series from different sensors were plotted with an offset for visibility and are 15 sec cutouts from longer recordings acquired during the medical evaluation of the subject's epilepsy. An epileptic seizure begins approximately at the 10 sec mark and continues beyond the length of the cutout.

cumvents some of the problems encountered with scalp sensors (muscle artifacts, skin effect, etc.) increasing signal-to-noise ratios by a factor of $\approx 100 \; [BKM^+09]$ at the cost of introducing foreign matter to a system as sensitive and essential as the human brain. Typically, the iEEG sensors are either placed directly on top of the cerebral cortex with so-called strip and grid electrodes²³ or within subjacent brain regions with depth $electrodes^{24}$. Due to the inherent risks of intracranially implanting sensors, iEEG is typically only used as a diagnostic tool for, e.g., pre-surgical evaluation for epilepsy surgery [RL01]. Accordingly, number and anatomical location of intracranial sensors are solely adapted to the individual subject's needs and are highly non-uniform.

2. New methods

Next, we briefly introduce new and unconventional methods for investigating aspects of time-evolving functional networks.

a Identifying dynamical regimes

To classify the dynamics of spatiallyextended, complex systems, we do not identify dynamics via measuring information content [Sha48], spectral energy densities [Boa92], attractor geometry [KS03], or other commonly employed pattern identifying schemes. Instead, we utilize the dynamical coupling structure (cf. Sec. IB 2 and function $\mathbf{h}(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}; \mathbf{x}_i; \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_N)$ in Eq. I.1), which we probe in a time-resolved manner with an estimator for the strength of interactions between each pair of time series data. Following Münnix et al. $[MSS^+12]$, we then check for recurrences of this structure in time. We identify recurring patterns of the dynamical coupling structure as dynamical regimes of the system. Contrariwise, we consider the self-dynamics of the elementary units themselves to be stationary and interactions (and their underlying couplings) to change with time.

Technically, this can be achieved by identifying recurrences of snapshot networks in a sequence of functional networks either with a recurrence plot and an appropriate recurrence threshold [EOR87] or by clustering the weight matrices representing the snapshot networks with a cluster algorithm (e.g., k-means algorithm [Mac67]). Problematically, the number of recurrent patterns – i.e., the number of dynamical regimes in the system – is typically

 $^{^{23}}$ Frames with 4, 8, 8 \times 4, or 8 \times 8 sensors with an inter-sensor distance of 10 mm.

 $^{^{24}\,}$ Typically, poles with 8 or 10 cylindrical sensors with an intersensor distance of 4 mm.

a priori unknown and might not be uncovered even by a thorough preliminary investigation. In such cases, a hierarchical clustering algorithm might at least provide a range of numbers of dynamical regimes, for which the classification method procures comparable results. Finally, each dynamical regime can be described by an average weight matrix (i.e., the centroid of its cluster representation).

Dynamical regimes derived from time series of stock returns have been shown to relate to emerging financial crises $[MSS^+12]$ and those derived from iEEG time series to emerging epileptic seizures and to other brain activities like sleep (Chapter VI). Generally, the existence of identifiable dynamical regimes in the dynamics of a system indicates a recurrence of the dynamical coupling structures and internal strengths of interaction – i.e., elementary units of the system react to each other in various but recurring ways.

b Estimating dynamical resistance as a proxy for resilience

Resilience is a notoriously ill-defined catch-all term for all properties of a system that allows the system to maintain its current functions and operations under any endogenous or exogenous stress. Probably most broadly defined as "the capacity of a system to absorb disturbance and reorganize while undergoing change so as to still retain essentially the same function, structure, identity, and feedbacks" [WHCK04] (see also [Hol73]), methods to characterize resilience of a system utilize various approaches from bifurcation theory [Sey09], stability and perturbation theory [Lya92, Nay11], statistical physics [Tab19], non-linear time series analysis [KS03, LLM15], ecology [Wis84, SF21], or economics [QR65, Tay15] among others. However, methods are usually dependent on intimate knowledge of the system's equations of motion or of its responses to perturbation.

If the system's equations of motion are unknown and perturbation experiments are either impractical, dangerous, or unethical (e.g., a power network at risk of a blackout or a human brain at risk of death), the number of available methods drastically declines. To the best of the author's knowledge, there are currently two methods available to evaluate resilience of a system from time series data that are either based on changes in the variance of time series due to *critical slowing* down [DSvN⁺08, SBB⁺09] or on changes in the dynamical coupling structure as exploited by *dynamical resistance* (Chapter VI).

Conceptionally, critical slowing down is a property of a saddle-node bifurcation (see, e.g. [Cra91, Wis84, SBB+09, BH13, DCvS15, MS16, DJ10, HWS^+21). Briefly, in the case of such a bifurcation, a potential wall separating two equilibrium states (one preferred, one adverse) decreases with the change of some control parameter, which in turn weakens the restoring force affecting a system in the preferred state under some weak perturbation. As a consequence, the rate of recovery of the preferred state decreases. Before the critical transition between the preferred and the adverse state, then, the variance of the related state variable increases, which is interpreted as a loss of resilience²⁵ [Kub66]. However, for many real world systems, this ansatz has proven to be too simplistic. Careful analyses of some real world systems for which loss of resilience is postulated has indicated no or even opposite phenomena to critical slowing down (i.e., critical speeding up) [WRL19, RCR17]. Especially, resilience in multi-stable systems with various states representing normal functioning with innocuous transitions can not be described by critical slowing down alone.

For dynamical resistance, we return to Eq. I.1 and reinterpret the equation from a different point of view:

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}_{i} = \mathbf{f}_{i}(\mathbf{x}_{i}) + \mathbf{h}\left(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}; \mathbf{x}_{i}; \mathbf{x}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}}
ight).$$

Instead of reading the dynamical coupling structure $\mathbf{h}(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}; \mathbf{x}_i; \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_N)$ as the inter-

²⁵ Other markers for a loss of resilience concomitant with critical slowing down are an increase in the integrated power spectrum of the state variable resp. a larger zero-crossing time of the state variable's autocorrelation function. However, changes in the variance of a variable are related to changes in the variable's Fourier spectrum by Parseval's theorem and the spectrum, then, are related to the variable's autocorrelation function by the Wiener-Khinchin theorem. Accordingly, the three typically proposed markers of critical slowing down are highly correlated.

action between the system's elementary units, we now interpret \mathbf{h} as a perturbation acting upon the self-dynamics $\mathbf{f}_i(\mathbf{x}_i)$ of the units. However, at the same time, we neglect the self-dynamics and concentrated on differences in the relative strength of perturbation over time as a proxy for the system's resilience. In practice, we sort the dynamics from some time span of intermediate length to different dynamical regimes as described above. The Euclidean distances between regimes' average weight matrices, then, is proportional to the strength of perturbation, which the system can absorb by switching between regimes representing the system's normal (preferred) states. A large distance indicates a high capability of the system to absorb disturbance and reorganize, i.e., a large resilience.

D. Structure of this thesis

In Chapter II, we investigate if and to what extend the structural organization of a coupling topology – here connecting Rössler oscillators – can be revealed from strength-ofinteraction estimates from time series of the system's dynamics.

Subsequently, in Chapter III, we explore the relative merit of partialization techniques to weaken the effect of indirect couplings resp. transitivity. We do this at the example of a pairwise and a partialized phase-based estimator for the direction of interaction in systems of directionally coupled Rössler oscillators and in the human brain.

Chapter IV, then, illustrates how topological properties of vertices can affect the dynamics of the corresponding elementary units and of the system as a whole. Specifically, we show the influence of the degrees of vertices on the generation and spreading of extreme events in a system of coupled FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators.

In following Chapter V, we provide evidence that changes in local network characteristics of evolving networks are entwined with changes in the collective dynamics of the underlying system – in this case the human brain. We identify precursor states of epileptic seizures as an elementary step to understand and eventually predict the genesis of these harmful events.

Finally, in Chapter VI, we introduce a novel measure for the evaluation of resilience of complex extended dynamical systems – dynamical resistance – and provide evidence for the utility of the measures again at the example of the human brain.

This thesis is closed with a short summery of the conducted research, an outlook, and concluding remarks.

II Synopsis of "Network structure from a characterization of interactions in complex systems: possibilities and limitations"

Thorsten Rings, Timo Bröhl, and Klaus Lehnertz

Scientific Reports 12, 11742 (2022). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14397-2

The functional network approach – reducing a spatially-extended, complex system to vertices (representing the system's elementary units) and edges (interactions between units) via the data-driven estimation of properties of interactions – has been recognized as a useful tool in the investigation of various systems in nature. This approach has been successfully employed in, e.g., the study of the human brain [BS09], DZMK09a, climate systems ZGAH15, protein-protein interactions $[UGC^+00]$, gene [TAWM09], plant-pollinator interactions $[HNL^{+}09,$ $OBD^+11],$ interactions foodwebs [DBB⁺19], or communication and social networks [OSH+07, PBV07].

Often, a functional network is assumed to be a proxy of the underlying coupling structure of a system when this coupling structure (or structural network) can not be sufficiently accessed, e.g., without damaging the system or due the system's scale. Then, the functional network – instead of the structural one – is investigated with methods from graph theory designed to reveal information about aspects of the system's internal organization by means of characterizing the network's topological and spectral properties or key constituents. However, revealing the structural network – the system's coupling topology – from a functional network is an inverse problem and might not have a unique solution. A large number of previous studies investigated the limits of identifying a structural network's edges from a corresponding functional network [MZL17, Tim07, LP11, ST11, WLGY11, PDG12, CLL13, LP14, TC14, CLL15, Pik16, WLG16, CNHT17a, Lai17, NCT17, Pei18, Pik18, STŽ⁺18, LLTŽ19,

PCL⁺19, Pei19, AdCEG20, FRCM20, CP⁺21, RMBM⁺14, TSEBM15, BMRAB16, LMK16, LKT17, MHM⁺17, CMT18, HD19, LMM⁺19, GMCR20, FOTMP21] and reported a good – but not perfect – performance. However, since failure to correctly identify even a single edge can drastically alter the appearance of a structural network (topologically, the difference between, e.g., a line and a ring of coupled units is just one edge), it is still an unsolved issue if and to what extend properties of functional networks match those of the corresponding structural networks.

In the present article, consequently, the authors investigate the extend of this match of properties – an unusual approach to the intricate task of comparing networks (for other methods see, e.g., [BBK06, AMPL08, MHVD09, Mém11, DDSA16, MWH20]) - on two different scales: the global scale encompassing the whole network and the local scale of single network constituents (vertices as well as edges). For this purpose, Thorsten Rings simulated – as ground truth –the dynamics of complex networks of bidirectionally coupled Rössler oscillators [R76, RL12]. These oscillators are a weakly nonlinear and, as a simplified model of the Lorenz attractor, are used to model a large variety of systems including lasers and electrical circuits, to name just a few. In addition, Thorsten Rings coupled the aforementioned oscillators onto an empirical network, namely the fully identified neuron network of the nematode P. pacificus [BRRS13]. For these networks, he generated time series of the dynamics of the oscillators and derived functional networks employing different time series analysis techniques (an amplitude-based one and a more general

one based on entropy). For a number of factors that modify the oscillators' dynamics, he investigated the degree of concurrence between global properties as well as local vertex properties of structural and functional networks. Timo Broehl did the same for local edge properties [BL19].

Surprisingly, the authors of the present article observe that especially key constituents of functional networks coincide with ground truth. Both, concurrence between the rank order of constituents from structural and functional networks as well as the concurrence between their most central constituents (largest centrality values) clearly exceed chance levels - at least for weak to intermediate coupling strengths; too weak or too strong coupling strengths lead to either independently oscillating or indistinguishable dynamics, which do not allow for conclusions to be drawn about the structural makeup of the system. Global network characteristics of functional networks on the other hand clearly deviate from ground truth independent of factors impacting the dynamics.

The authors conjecture that an extension of the employed pairwise ansatz to characterize properties of interactions (e.g., based on partialization methods [Dah00, BS01, EDS03, CRFD04, SWE⁺06, PKKD13, KPR14, PKL14, MHD16]; see next chapter) together with Monte-Carlo-based techniques to minimize faulty concurrences [AL11, AL12, KDGBT12, ZGC12, RA13, FLPA15, SMG15, SL17] could help to enhance the detection of correspondences between structural and functional networks. Finally, the authors imagine that characterizing properties of networks on a mesoscopic scale [Alo07, KGH⁺10, GSH12, FZB15, EA16, FH16, BL19] and the tracing of time-dependent changes of networks [HS12, DDSRC⁺13, BBC⁺14] will add to understanding the relationship between structure, function, and dynamics of complex systems.

III Synopsis of "Distinguishing between direct and indirect directional couplings in large oscillator networks: Partial or non-partial phase analyses?"

Thorsten Rings and Klaus Lehnertz

Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science 26, 093106 (2016). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4962295

Transitivity is a problematic effect often encountered in the study of spatially-extended, complex dynamical systems [AHD18]. It describes the indirect influence an elementary unit of a system can have on another unit, which is not coupled to it. This influence is thought to be mediated by another, unobserved unit assumed to be coupled to both the first and the second one. When utilizing time series analysis techniques– e.g., to derive functional networks from recordings of system dynamics -, such indirect influences can lead to an overestimation of various properties of interaction, which in turn can lead to misinterpretations regarding the internal organization of the investigated system. Especially sensitive to this effect is the notoriously intricate estimation of the direction of an interaction.

Various methods to handle transitivity based on partialization analysis have been proposed in the past [Dah00, BS01, EDS03, CRFD04, SWD⁺06, SWE⁺06, FP07, SB09, VKM09, NRT⁺10, ZRT⁺11, RHPK12, SWPM12, BDBTS13, Kug13a, Kug13b, LPD^+13 , PKKD13, $REI^{+}13,$ ESTS15, FKN^{+15} , MMT^{+15} , Run15] with the central idea of conditioning the estimators for properties of interactions between two units on a third, possibly interaction-mediating unit. More recent to the publication of the present article, Kralemann et al. [KPR14] proposed a novel phase-based time series analysis technique to estimate direction of interaction – called partial triplet approach (PTA) – as an extension to a previously introduced estimator [RP01] – called evolution map approach (EMA) – by incorporating the partialization method. While the PTA already showed promising results [KPR14, STMS15] in small networks of phase oscillators, it remains unclear to what degree this approach also qualifies for a data-driven analysis of larger networks with hundreds of vertices or more.

To investigate suitability of the partialized approach in large networks, Thorsten Rings simulated – as ground truth – the dynamics of complex networks of bidirectionally coupled Rössler oscillators [R76, RL12]. For these networks, he generated time series of the dynamics of the oscillators, and from these time series, he derived weighted, directed networks with both the EMA and the PTA. He, then, investigated the relative merit of the PTA over the EMA for several factors that modify the oscillators' dynamics – especially, network size as well as additive and multiplicative noise contaminations. To also assess the two approaches' suitability in an empirical example, he furthermore derived directed, weighted functional network from a multichannel, multiday intracranial electroencephalographic recording of human electrical brain activity,

For the simulated systems, Thorsten Rings compared the derived functional networks with the ground truth of existing or nonexisting directional couplings with a threshold approach. For the empirical system, he evaluated the two approaches with directionality indices and identified the amount of congruent indications of the same direction from both approaches. The latter evaluation was based on the assumption that a complex system like the human brain should – at least to some degree – exhibit indirect interactions. If the PTA indeed improves the EMA when handling indirect interactions, the findings achieved with the PTA should provide an improved characterization of the system's directed couplings by deviating from the findings achieved with the EMA – otherwise, there is no relative advantage of the partialized approach over the pairwise one when investigating the directions of interactions in the human brain.

The authors observe that coupling strength as well as network size influence to what degree directed couplings can be identified from the weighted and directed functional networks. Too weak coupling strengths lead to independently oscillating dynamics for which direction is basically randomly assigned, while too strong coupling strength lead to basically indistinguishable dynamics. Since estimators of direction of interaction, however, exploit differences in the time evolution of elementary units, both cases results in no reliable indication of direction. A larger network size, on the other hand, drastically impairs the ability to identify directed couplings and only in small networks (number of vertices ≤ 10), the PTA performs better than the EMA by a small margin. For larger systems, the pairwise approach even overtakes the performance of the PTA. However, both approaches diminish in performance due to an increased number of couplings per elementary unit. For the PTA, this effect is more severe, since the uncertainty about which third unit the estimator should be conditioned on increases with the number of units. Interestingly, both types of noise affects both estimators' performance roughly the same way and, for the sensitive intermediate range of coupling strengths, the estimators are resistant against noise contaminations up to noise-to-signal ratios of 0.1.

For the empirical system human brain, the EMA and the PTA predominantly indicate the same directions in spite of the high physiological variability that is to be expected when observing brain activity over longer periods. This indicates an inability of the PTA to consistently handle the expected transitivity in this system.

The authors conclude that partialization methods do not improve the performance of time series analysis techniques to estimate properties of interactions in larger (number of elementary units > 10) systems and point to similar findings with other techniques extended with partialization methods [MFL⁺08, JK11, ZFLH14, REI⁺13, Kug13a, HKKN11, RMBM⁺14]. The authors also note that while the inverse relationship between estimator performance and number of elementary units can, in principle, be balanced by increasing the length of the time series [SB09, RMBM⁺14], this often invites other adverse effects due to, e.g., nonstationarity. Finally, the authors project that methods [PR13, SWF+14, ZMD15, TB16] exploiting the sparseness of couplings of many real world systems might prove helpful for distinguishing direct and indirect couplings in the future.

IV Synopsis of "How important are hubs for the generation of extreme events in networks of excitable units?"

Thorsten Rings, Gerrit Ansmann, and Klaus Lehnertz

European Physical Journal: Special Topics 226, 1963-1970 (2017). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1140/epjst/e2017-70021-3

Extreme events are well-known phenomena in various natural and man-made systems, whose exact mechanisms are often beyond current understanding. Defined as a rare, recurrent, but drastic deviation of a system's dynamics from its otherwise typical behavior [CGUF15], extreme events commonly have strong and harmful consequences for the systems in which they occur and can be a strain on human security and interests. Examples include earthquakes, tsunamis, extreme weather events, wars, market crashes, large-scale blackouts in power-supply networks, and epileptic seizures in the human brain (see, e.g., [Hob94, BKS02, Sor03, AJK06, GYH⁺11, WMGT⁺13]). Capturing early warning signs of – or even controlling – these events in many scenarios is a currently unsolved problem whose solution might strongly depend on an improved understanding of the generation mechanisms of extreme events.

A growing interest into whether and how the coupling structure of a spatially-extended, complex system influences the emergence of extreme events in such a system (see, e.g., [KSA11, RL11, KSA12, AKLF13, KSS13, BBB⁺14, CHL14, LGB⁺14, Xia14, HMSK15, ALF16) motivated the authors of the current article to extend this line of inquiry and to investigate the influence of local network properties on the generation of extreme events. For this purpose, Thorsten Rings simulated networked dynamics of coupled FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators [AKLF13, KAFL14, ALF16, thereby mimicking excitable media with diffusion-like transport processes between adjacent oscillators. Here, excitation is characterized by a high amplitude oscillation which is followed by a re-

fractory period that suppresses the excitation. The oscillators' control parameters were chosen such that the collective dynamics exhibited rare, recurring high-amplitude oscillations, i.e., extreme events. Oscillators had a refractory period of different duration and were coupled onto a scale-free network [AB02]. This topology is characterized by a small number of strongly interconnected vertices (the core) surrounded by low-degree vertices (the network's periphery). The core mostly consists of hubs, i.e., vertices with high degree, here representing oscillators with many couplings. The scale-free topology is also thought to be commonly encountered in nature and is often associated with phenomena such as growth, structural resilience, and extreme events [AB02, Cal07, Bar09, KSA11, ZL13, LKLK15].

For various numbers of elementary units and with the guidance of Gerrit Ansmann, Thorsten Rings generated time series of the oscillators' dynamics and identified their associated vertex degrees. As a next step, he singled out the extreme events in the time evolution of the (explicitly stationary) oscillator dynamics and, with high temporal resolution, traced the excitation of the single oscillators during such events.

In a joint effort, the authors observe that both the control parameters and the vertex degree of an elementary unit provide information about the role the unit plays in generating extreme events. The authors also observe that especially the units associated with low-degree vertices are responsible for the initiation of the extreme events. This result is notably surprising considering that scale-free networks are renowned for the small amount of strongly interconnected, high-degree vertices (the hubs, which are typically deemed important for associated dynamics). The latter, according to the authors observations, only act as facilitators of the spreading of excitation that results in an extreme event. They are, however, never involved in the initial generation of the events.

The authors conclude that warning signs of upcoming extreme events might be more likely to be encountered in a wide-scale observation of a system's less strongly interconnected elementary units. This is in stark contrast to the often-employed approach of observing only the dynamics of the hubs to gather information about the system's collective dynamics. Control of a system, then, might include a minimal perturbation [KSS13, CHL14] of peripheral units or a pinning of states of such peripheral units.

V Synopsis of "Precursors of seizures due to specific spatial-temporal modifications of evolving large-scale epileptic brain networks"

Thorsten Rings, Randi von Wrede, and Klaus Lehnertz

Scientific Reports 9, 10623 (2019). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47092-w

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological disorders affecting approximately 65 million people worldwide. It is intractable with anti-epileptic drugs in roughly one third of people suffering from epilepsy [KSB11] and has a highly negative impact on the quality of live of the affected people. A severe factor of the burden of epilepsy is the apparent unpredictability of epileptic seizures – sudden surges of abnormal and excessive electrical activity in the brain that can affect motor and cognitive functions. Consequently, the field of seizure prediction aims to predict the onset of seizures ahead of time to improve quality of life for people suffering from epilepsy - e.g., by enabling them to take countermeasures before an upcoming seizure – and to improve treatment options with methods that anticipate an upcoming seizure to deliver ontime treatments. In addition to the immediate value of identifying precursors of seizures, understanding the underlying mechanism that allows the seizure to occur, or at least identifying changes in the dynamics of elementary units – i.e., brain regions – associated with that mechanism, have value on their own and might lead to new treatment options for epilepsy $[LDP^+16]$.

From a physics point of view, epileptic seizures fulfill the criteria for extreme events: they are a rare and recurrent deviation of the system's dynamics from its average behavior. The brain region whose dynamics shows the first such strong deviation is typically deemed the seizure onset zone (SOZ), which was long thought to be an initiator of a seizure. However, a number of previous studies on the predictability of seizures with an identifiable SOZ reported time evolution of interactions between brain regions distant to the SOZ to carry relevant, predictive information [LDP⁺16, MKR⁺05, DVE⁺05, KVS⁺05, LSN⁺05, BMJB09, KFL⁺10, FSS⁺11, BSM⁺12, PDG13, LD15]. These results led to the concept of an epileptic brain network [BZM⁺98, Spe02, Ric10, KC12, Lau12, LAB⁺14] responsible for the generation of seizures.

Employing this concept, the authors of the present article conceived a research project to investigate possible precursors of epileptic seizures in the time evolution of local network characteristics - vertex centralities – of time-evolving functional brain networks. Randi von Wrede provided guidance in clinical research, while Klaus Lehnertz supervised the research. Employing a moving window approach, Thorsten Rings derived the functional networks from multichannel, multiday intracranial electroencephalographic recordings of human electrical brain activity from a large number of people suffering from epilepsy. In each time window, he estimated the strength of interaction between the dynamics of each pair of brain regions to derive weighted functional networks and calculated their local characteristics (strength centrality and betweenness centrality) for each vertex (i.e., the sampled brain region). Next, Thorsten Rings separated data from the resulting sequences of the local characteristics for each vertex into two distributions: data from a 4h period preceding seizure activity during which precursors are assumed to occur (pre-ictal time span), and data from time spans temporally distant from seizure activity during which brain activity is assumed unrelated to seizure activity (inter-ictal time span).

Using advanced statistical techniques (nonparametric tests and Monte-Carlo methods), the authors of the present article observe that prior to the majority of seizures the preictal local network characteristics of some few vertices clearly deviate from the inter-ictal ones. These vertices are exclusively associated with brain regions outside of the clinically defined seizure onset zone. The authors also observe that precursor-carrying vertices are typically connected by edges whose weight alterations also carry predictive information as already reported on earlier [LDP+16]. Together, the findings indicate a redistribution of edge weights, which reveals a backbone-like structure in the investigated functional brain networks. This structure, which consists of only a few vertices and associated edges, appears resistant against pre-ictal changes of the network as these changes modify the rest of the network and shift associated shortest paths toward a few backbone-associated brain regions distant from the SOZ. There these paths form bottlenecks.

Based on their findings and together with previous research [MAEL07, KLR⁺18, GLMG16, the authors of the present article propose a model for the generation of seizures in epileptic brain networks, which interprets the observed pre-ictal changes of functional brain networks as possible components of a mechanism of seizure generation. Changes of the functional brain networks appear to begin hours before the seizure but not at vertices associated with the seizure onset zone, with effects on electrical brain activity near the SOZ becoming more pronounced as the seizure onset approaches. The proposed model puts into perspective the role of SOZ in seizure generation in an epileptic brain network – the SOZ appears like a weak spot that breaks first when the rest of the brain is putting it under increasing strain. The authors subsequently hypothesise that control techniques that aim at the spatial and temporal emergence of seizure precursors [HCHB08, NAK⁺18] combined with novel approaches to track changes in resilience of evolving epileptic networks (see next chapter) represent promising avenues for further research.

VI Synopsis of "Traceability and dynamical resistance of precursor of extreme events"

Thorsten Rings, Mahmood Mazarei, Amin Akhshi, Christian Geier, M. Reza Rahimi Tabar, and Klaus Lehnertz

Scientific Reports 9, 1744 (2019). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-38372-y

Extreme events are rare, (apparently) unpredictable strong deviations from the average behavior of complex systems. They can critically determine the evolution and character of a vulnerable man-made or natural system [BKS02, Sor03, AJK06, FBS⁺12, Hel13, Buz17] and can have disastrous consequences for such systems. Well-known examples include heat waves, floods, earthquakes, epileptic seizures in the human brain [Leh06], meltdown of nuclear power plants [CFA⁺11], and large-scale blackouts in power supply networks [AAN04, BPP⁺10].

Together with progress in the identification precursors of of extreme events [MSS⁺09, SBB⁺09, SCL⁺12, BH13, KZG15, KVADR⁺15, LCAC15, JREM17, LHCZ17, KLR $^{+18}$] (see also chapter V), a current research focus is the development of strategies for adaption, mitigating, and avoidance of such events. For such strategies to be effective, however, knowledge about possible time-dependent alterations of stability and resilience of a system is indispensable. However, the continuous, data-driven monitoring of such system properties remains a problem for which there currently are no satisfactory solutions.

Motivated by this issue, the authors proposed a novel, data-driven approach allowing to measure the so-called dynamical resistance – a proxy for resilience. Thorsten Rings, Reza Rahimi Tabar, and Klaus Lehnertz developed the underlying theoretical concepts with support of Mahmood Mazarei and Amin Akshi. Thorsten Rings with support of Christian Geier implemented the approach and carried out all investigations.

For dynamical resistance, interactions are

assumed to be endogenous perturbations upon the dynamics of a system's elementary units. Thus, the authors concentrated on differences in the relative strength of perturbations over time as a proxy for the system's resilience thereby neglecting the units' selfdynamics. A system's current state, then, is defined by its current strength-of-interactionbased, weighted functional network (i.e., its snapshot network), and the time-evolution of the system's state is encoded in its sequence of snapshot networks (i.e., the system's timeevolving functional network). Hence, system states are identified employing a hierarchical clustering scheme, which sorts the snapshot networks to one of several so-called dynamical regimes – the number of dynamical regimes is assumed to be system dependent. Finally, dynamical resistance is defined as the smallest Euclidean distances between the matrix representations of the different dynamical regimes and acts as a worst-case estimate of the system's resilience.

To illustrate the approach, Thorsten Rings investigated whether resilience of the human epileptic brain changes prior to epileptic seizures. Intuitively, one would expect a weakening of resilience in order to facilitate the generation of a seizure. Employing a moving window approach, he derived sequences of functional networks from multichannel, multiday intracranial electroencephalographic recording of electric brain activity from a large number of people suffering from epilepsy. In each time window, he estimated the strength of interaction between each pair of brain regions to derive weighted functional networks. From the sequences of functional brain networks, he derived sequences of dynamical resistance for each subject.

The authors observe an influence of day and night (possibly related to the circadian rhythm) on dynamical resistance with it being higher during the night, as expected. Using advanced statistical techniques (nonparametric tests and Monte-Carlo methods), the authors also identify changes in dynamical resistance prior to seizures, that might serve as seizure precursors. These changes, however, appear counterintuitive at first glance. Prior to the majority of investigated seizures, the authors observe dynamical resistance to increase.

The authors explain this finding as a possible consequence of the investigated types of epilepsy – subjects suffered from seizures that could not be controlled sufficiently with antiepileptic drugs – and they speculate that the relative (in-)effectiveness of treatments might be related to this increase. They further hypothesize that control schemes for epileptic seizures or other extreme events may benefit from estimations of a system's resilience and stability to determine how and when to apply control to a system. The authors also note limits of the proposed approach – e.g., a comparably high demand on the number of data points or the typically a-priori-unknown number of dynamical regimes. Finally, the authors point out that the only other technique that is thought to estimate resilience in a data-driven way, namely the time-resolved analysis of variance exploiting the concept of critical slowing down $[DSvN^+08, SBB^+09]$, is only suitable for low-dimensional systems with simple critical transitions.

VII Summary, Outlook, and Concluding Remarks

Various spatially-extended, complex dynamical systems in nature exhibit phenomena that drastically affect and shape our world. Examples include synchronization in diverse systems from clocks over cardiac pacemaker cells to applauding audiences [PRK01], extreme events like epileptic seizures in the human brain [LGRS17] or extreme weather conditions in the climate system [AJK06], and spreading of diseases in social systems [New02b]. Understanding these systems and their phenomena, however, is often an arduous task due to the systems' eponymous complexity [Pro88, vK99, Wil02, AO04, HSA06, HDL17, Fie21]. In particular, the rich interplay between a system's structural organization, its functional relationships, and the individual as well as collective dynamics of its elementary units is only partially understood - especially if these aspects change with time.

In this thesis, we assessed the time-evolving functional network approach devised to facilitate the understanding of such complex systems, and we evaluated the approach's suitability for field data analysis. To this end, we explored changes of time-evolving network characteristics accompanying various dynamical phenomena of interest exhibited by system dynamics including transitivity [AHD18], extreme events [CGUF15], and changes in resilience [SCF⁺01]. Specifically, we investigated paradigmatic model systems with well-known constraints such as coupling strengths, coupling topologies, number of elementary units, and several noise contaminations. Furthermore, we investigated a natural complex system which exhibits rich dynamics and supports a large variety of functions and dysfunctions: the human epileptic brain. We provided novel insights into the aforementioned interplay between a system's structural organization, its functional relationships, and the individual as well as collective dynamics of its elementary units. We furthermore developed a non-perturbative, data-driven approach to evaluate a system's stability against endogenous and exogenous perturbation based on

pooled characteristics of edges (i.e., strengths of interactions between elementary units).

In the following we recite key results of this thesis.

Interpreting a functional network is mostly based on the assumption that properties of interactions reflect the coupling structure of the system from which the network is derived. However, retrieving the coupling structure from observations of the dynamics of units can be regarded an inverse problem. Consequently, as a preliminary investigation, we checked if and to what extent at least the organization of a coupling structure can be revealed from properties of interactions estimated from time series of the system's dynamics.

Advantageously, especially local network characteristics (rank orders of centralities and most central constituents) of functional networks indeed reflected those of the underlying coupling structures to a large extent. On the other hand, most global network characteristics of functional networks differed substantially from ground truth.

Nevertheless, global network characteristics have been successfully employed to describe and characterize climate [TR04, DZMK09a, ZFLH14], geo-physical [PSH15, AS06, HSP15, CIK⁺19], and economical systems [HH18] among others. These characteristics have also been extensively employed in the neurosciences (see, e.g., [BS09, BFPS⁺13, LGRS17), and they are capable of tracking changes in the organization of interactions within a system induced by perturbations [RVWB⁺21, HRB⁺22, vWRS⁺21, vWBR⁺22. These characteristics resp. their changes, however, can currently not be directly mapped to the underlying coupling structures of the systems.

Explaining some of the difference between functional networks and coupling structures, transitivity is one of the prominent difficulties encountered when estimating properties of interactions. Often, it is problematic to distinguish a direct interaction between a system's elementary units (unit i is coupled with unit j) from an indirect one (unit i is not coupled with unit j, however, both are coupled to a third unit k, which mediates interactions). This typically leads to an overestimation of properties of interactions between units, and the concept of partialization is often considered an answer to this issue. By effectively conditioning an estimator for a property of interaction between two units on a possible third, mediating unit, partialized estimators are considered to be more robust against transitivity.

However, at the example of estimators for the direction of interaction – the evolution map approach [RP01] and its partialized extension [KPR14] – used to identify the direction of couplings in directed networks of coupled oscillators, we observed that the partialized approach only outperforms the non-partialized one for small systems (number of elementary units N \leq 10). In larger systems (here, 20 or 100 units), this small improvement vanishes. Furthermore, in an exemplary natural system (dynamics of the brain of a subject suffering from epilepsy), estimates of the direction of interaction between units (here, sampled brain regions) did not differ substantially when using either the partialized or the non-partialized estimator.

Similar findings have been reported with other partialized estimators (e.g., partial correlation [MFL⁺08, JK11, ZFLH14], renormalized partial directed coherence [REI⁺13], partial transfer entropy, and conditional Granger causality index [Kug13a]). We hypothesize that the predominant difficulty with partialization is the question on which third unit in a larger system estimations should be conditioned. When a system is composed of many elementary units, a potential third unit is much harder to correctly identify compared to the case of a system of only few units. Consequently, in large systems, it is more probable to condition an estimator on an uninvolved unit, impairing the characterization of properties of interactions instead of improving it.

Next, we showed that local network characteristics are indeed related to the role of elementary units in the emergence of global system dynamics in networks with complex coupling topologies. Specifically, we investigated the generation and spreading of extreme events – rare and recurrent abnormally large amplitude values – in scale-free networks of coupled FitzHugh–Nagumo oscillators.

In these systems, we were able to show that extreme events originate from vertices with low vertex degree²⁶. High-degree vertices (in various contexts also called hubs), on the other hand, act as a facilitator for the spreading of an extreme event, while their large number of diffusive couplings dampen their ability to initiate an event themselves. The larger the vertex degree, the stronger the trend of the associated unit's dynamics to an effectively averaged (and typically non-extreme) dynamics of the units coupled to it. In this sense, low-degree vertices have more leeway to deviate and, possibly, to exhibit extreme motion. Then, if enough low-degree vertices do exhibit such an extreme motion, the high-degree vertices follow and spread the extreme event to the remaining vertices.

Similar indications of the importance of lowdegree vertices have been reported for dynamical robustness with respect to node removal [TMA12], noise $[BGP^+13]$, or signal generation and transmission in recurrent networks [JMT14] as well as for dynamical impact on long-term time evolution [QAS13]. More recently, Ray et al. $[RBM^+22]$ observed similar findings for extreme events in oscillator networks with repulsive couplings. Ironically, these observations indicates that controlling vertices with low vertex degree – which are often deemed less impor $tant [LMM^+17] - might be more suitable for$ the prevention of extreme events than controlling hubs.

Contrasting these findings from static networks, in brain networks derived from iEEG time series of subjects suffering from epilepsy,

²⁶ More precisely: the event originates from the elementary units associated with the low-degree vertices, but linguistics details become tedious in this context. We hope that the one-to-one association of vertices and elementary units is clear at this point.

we observed that the networks underwent significant reorganization of their coupling structure prior to epileptic seizures. Specifically, the organization of shortest paths in the epileptic brain networks underwent significant restructuring in pre-seizure periods when compared to the remaining seizure-free time periods.

Brain regions usually deemed unaffected by focal epileptic processes [RL01, LNN⁺06] appear more akin to bottlenecks during preseizure periods, bridging remote brain areas. On average, the interactions between brain regions that make up the shortest paths increase in strength, while the remaining edges vary only little between pre-seizure and seizurefree periods. These observations were validated and refined by Fruengel et al. [FBRL20] with additional vertex centrality concepts. In total, we hypothesize, that the emergence of a backbone-like sub-structure in the brain networks leads to the generation of epileptic seizures in a not yet understood fashion.

Current research into the role of edges with so-called edge centralities [Gra73, GN02, CRS^+10 , BL19, BL20, BL22 might further improve our understanding of seizure generation and pre-seizure dynamics in the foreseeable future. Otherwise and while the approach to characterize - in a time resolved manner – the role of network constituents to improve our understanding of dynamical phenomena is flexible and well-suited for multivariate field data analysis, studies utilizing this approach are comparably rare. Diverse examples, however, include the exploration of phenomena like grooming of ants in response to pathogens $[AUF^+21]$, the development of interdisciplinary research by reference to citation networks [LS08], and solar activity during stages of the solar cycle [MF22].

Building onto the discriminatory properties of time-evolving networks for dynamics (preseizure periods vs. the remaining seizure-free periods) and recurrence patterns in functional networks [MSS⁺12], we then described dynamical regimes (effectively states of global system dynamics) by representations of the associated snapshot networks. We hypothesized and found some evidence that abstract properties of the dynamical regimes are indicative of the resilience of systems as defined by Holling [Hol73], and we derived the socalled dynamical resistance.

Dynamical resistance could successfully trace the change in brain dynamics due to sleep – an increased resilience of the system at night. Unexpectedly, however, we observed an increase of dynamical resistance prior to seizures in approximately 2/3 of the investigated seizures, which might be a consequence of the brain's ability to defy control based on its inherent plasticity and adaptiveness [Sch02, HCHB08].

In general, the relationship between brain dynamics as recorded by EEG or iEEG and the brain's resilience appear to be more complex than a simple pitchfork-like bifurcation as assumed by the ansatz of critical slowing down [DSvN⁺08, SBB⁺09] – a point of view which was validated by other recent studies [DJ10, DHW15, MS16, RCR17, JF19, WRL19]. More recently, Fischer et al. [FRRRTL22] affirmed our hypothesis by providing a versatile test bed for resilience and assaying dynamical resistance, which hopefully will facilitate the data-driven analysis of resilience in diverse areas of science.

While we hope that the advances documented in this thesis prove valuable, they are by no means exhaustive. Further improvements of our understanding of complex systems and their dynamics via the ansatz of time-evolving functional networks might be achieved with further research into the following open topics.

For a large number of complex systems, interacting elementary units operate on different temporal and spatial scales. Temporal scales of, e.g., the human organism easily span from microseconds (e.g., neuron activity) over hours (e.g, digestion) to years (e.g., growth circles) with numerous scales in between [Hil91]. Already characteristics of EEG signals and of EEG-derived timeevolving functional networks on their own exhibit various ultra-, circa-, and infradian rhythms [LRB21]. Other examples include changes in the climate system spanning various time scales from hours to millennia [Cla85, Ben02], transport networks where decadespanning infrastructure projects amalgamate with traveler's short-term needs [Roc17], or even the way our mesoscopic world arises from interacting microscopic system [Suc19]. Bridging such scales, however, is a currently unsolved problem of great importance not only in network science but in physics in general [Cal11, Suc19, LBR20]. Attempts to solve this issue are currently centered around coarse-grained modeling – especially in molecular chemistry [PSK08, Noi13, $ILU^{+}14$, $KGK^{+}16$] – or (non-generalizable) temporal normalization²⁷, which circumvent the need to actually understand the processes involved in connecting various scales.

As a direct extension of the research presented in this thesis, evaluating the importance of edges resp. interaction with so-called edge centralities may further improve our understanding of changes in networks. Recent interest in the development and use of these measures [DMFFR12, PR12, QLZ⁺17, WTL18, BL19, BL22, vRB⁺22] already provided novel insights in studies of various manmade and natural systems including commuter networks, social networks, and brain networks among others. Given that the functional network ansatz assumes system dynamics to emerge from interacting elementary units and that edges represent these interactions, we conjecture that edge centralities will significantly improve our understanding of the relationship between interactions and local resp. global dynamics of complex systems.

Next, information regarding an arbitrary system is not necessarily limited to the global scale of the network as a whole and the local scale of single network constituents. Arguably, investigating mesoscopic network scales of groups of constituents has the potential to generate transparency in the research of currently opaque phenomena. We conjecture that

²⁷ So-called fast-slow systems represent a mathematical framework for this class of modeling; see, e.g., [Kue15] for an overview by identifying and describing groups of constituents utilizing concepts such as network decompositions based on local network characteristics [KGH⁺10, BL19] as well as by characterizing the structure of inter-group couplings [LAS08], further insights into the complex interplay of structure, function, and dynamics of complex systems can be gained. Especially, tracking changes in the composition of these groups might prove enlightening.

From a descriptive perspective – and abreast of macroscopic aspects -, so-called networks of networks provide the means to more intuitively describe complex systems composed of large, interconnected components which can exhibit different functions and modes of operation [DS14]. With this approach, these components are described as (sub-)networks that are connected with each other with some inter-network coupling topology²⁸. Various terminologies describing networks of networks already exist (e.g., multiplex or multi-layer networks) and are used to describe organizational structures in nature (see, e.g., [DS14, BNL14, BBC⁺14, AM19]). Examples for which the description of complex systems as a networks of networks already proved useful include describing the human organism as a whole [IB14], global trade [MD15], seismic activity [LDR18], and the spreading of epidemics [DHS12]. However, how alterations of networks of networks affect (local or global) system dynamics is even less understood than for classical networks²⁹. Particularly, recent discoveries regarding an asymmetric impact of within sub-network and between sub-network couplings on the dynamics of coupled oscillators [RGSA⁺18] hint at mechanisms underlying the emergence of several yet-to-be-understood dynamics.

Another topical extension of the network ansatz is called *hyper graphs* [Ber84]. By allowing single edges to connect more than two

²⁸ In a transport network, sub-networks could describe train tracks, streets, and air-lanes with airports and train stations connecting the sub-networks.

²⁹ Multiplex networks, e.g., interpret time as a direction in a network – a vertex from one point in time is connected by an edge with the same vertex at a different point in time. This can easily obfuscate what a network characteristic actually characterizes.

vertices, hyper graphs are designed to capture couplings with structures of higher dimensional simplices (dimension > 2), that are otherwise excluded from the network ansatz. Besides conceptual deliberations, current methodological and technical improvements allow for the estimation of properties of higher-order interactions³⁰ (see, e.g., [BAB⁺21] for an overview). In principle, this then also allows for deriving time-evolving functional hyper graphs from time series data. However, advantages of hyper graphs over classical networks have yet to be shown in practice. Also, it is currently unclear how to model and simulate higher-order interactions $consistently^{31}$.

On the topic of simulations, studies regarding the impact of non-uniform (local) coupling strengths on the dynamics of elementary units are curiously underrepresented in current research aside from the odd investigation of so-called Bellerophon states³² [BHB⁺16]. Considering that most functional network representations of natural systems derived with strength-of-interaction estimates show highly non-uniform strengths, this direction of research might prove important in the intermediate future.

Finally, fundamental assumptions of the description of complex dynamical systems with the network ansatz might be inaccurate or incomplete. Unlike the fundamentally additive network decomposition, it is possible that the dynamical coupling structure is multiplicatively connected to a unit's self-dynamics or that the coupling topology itself is dependent on the units' state variables. While such situations have little impact on deriving functional networks from observations of systems in nature³³, our interpretation of results from the network ansatz would be significantly affected. First simulations of systems with systems with state-dependent coupling topologies have already displayed rich dynamics [Sca10, YFX⁺21, FRRRTL22] and might bring observations of complex systems and current models closer together in the future.

To summarize, the approach of timeevolving functional networks is a powerful tool for improving our understanding of complex dynamical systems. In this thesis, we explored advantages and disadvantages of the approach, and we provided novel insights into the rich interplay between structural organization, dynamics and functional relationships in complex systems. Overall, we rate the approach suitable for field data analysis. However, the approach's full potential is yet to be exhausted, and additional refinement of the approach as well as exploration of the above-mentioned topics can be expected to further advance our understanding of the natural world.

³⁰ Higher-order interactions are mutual interactions between three or more elementary units of a system that can not be separated into several pairwise interactions and which are explicitly not transitive.

³¹ While it appears that any combination of three or more dynamical variables in a coupling term can be interpreted as an higher-order interaction, the argued scientific hypothesis demands that their impact on the dynamics can not be modeled by groups of pairwise interactions. This can only achieved by non-linear coupling terms, which typically increases a model's complexity excessively.

³² Bellerophon states describes systems, whose non-transient dynamics exhibit partial phase synchrony, where (seemingly quantized) groups of oscillators exhibit coherent phases on average over time. However, single oscillators repeatedly break from the coherent groups to perform oscillations of higher (or lower) frequency until they return to the coherent group for a intermediate time span.

³³ We are currently unable to reliable separate eigendynamics and dynamical coupling structure anyway. However, advances in, e.g., Kramers-Moyal analysis of multidimensional systems might change that in the future [RGHLT19, ARZL21].

- [AAN04] Réka Albert, István Albert, and Gary L Nakarado. Structural vulnerability of the north american power grid. Phys. Rev. E, 69:025103, 2004.
- [AB02] R. Albert and A.-L. Barabási. Statistical mechanics of complex networks. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 74:47–97, 2002.
- [ABC99] B. S. Anderson, C. Butts, and K. Carley. The interaction of size and density with graph-level indices. Soc. Networks, 21:239-267, 1999.
- [ABJ06] F. M. Atay, T. Bıyıkoğlu, and J. Jost. Network synchronization: Spectral versus statistical properties. *Physica D*, 224:35-41, 2006.
- [ACG⁺09] Frederico A C Azevedo, Ludmila R B Carvalho, Lea T Grinberg, José Marcelo Farfel, Renata EL Ferretti, Renata E P Leite, Wilson Jacob Filho, Roberto Lent, and Suzana Herculano-Houzel. Equal numbers of neuronal and nonneuronal cells make the human brain an isometrically scaled-up primate brain. J. Comp. Neurol., 513(5):532-541, 2009.
- [ACH12] Donald M. Anderson, Allan D. Cembella, and Gustaaf M. Hallegraeff. Progress in understanding harmful algal blooms: Paradigm shifts and new technologies for research, monitoring, and management. Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci., 4(1):143-176, 2012.
- [ACLM11] R. G. Andrzejak, D. Chicharro, K. Lehnertz, and F. Mormann. Using bivariate signal analysis to characterize the epileptic focus: The benefit of surrogates. *Phys. Rev. E*, 83:046203, 2011.
- [AdCEG20] Malbor Asllani, Bruno Requião da Cunha, Ernesto Estrada, and James P Gleeson. Dynamics impose limits to detectability of network structure. New J. Phys., 22:063037, 2020.
- [ADGK⁺08] Alex Arenas, Albert Díaz-Guilera, Jürgen Kurths, Yamir Moreno, and Changsong Zhou. Synchronization in complex networks. *Phys. Rep.*, 469:93-153, 2008.
- [AE11] R. J. Allen and T. C. Elston. From physics to pharmacology? *Rep. Prog. Phys.*, 74:016601, 2011.
- [AGLE99] J. Arnhold, P. Grassberger, K. Lehnertz, and C. E. Elger. A robust method for detecting interdependences: application to intracranially recorded EEG. *Physica D*, 134:419-430, 1999.
- [AHD18] Mohammad Al Hasan and Vachik S Dave. Triangle counting in large networks: a review. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Data Min. Knowl. Discov., 8(2):e1226, 2018.
- [AJK06] Sergio Albeverio, Volker Jentsch, and Holger Kantz, editors. Extreme events in nature and society. The Frontiers Collection. Springer, Berlin, 2006.
- [AKLF13] Gerrit Ansmann, Rajat Karnatak, Klaus Lehnertz, and Ulrike Feudel. Extreme events in excitable systems and mechanisms of their generation. *Phys. Rev. E*, 88:052911, 2013.
- [AKRA13] Mahmoud I Al-Kadi, Mamun Bin Ibne Reaz, and Mohd Alauddin Mohd Ali. Evolution of electroencephalogram signal analysis techniques during anesthesia. *Sensors*, 13(5):6605–6635, 2013.
- [AKS⁺03] R. G. Andrzejak, A. Kraskov, H. Stögbauer, F. Mormann, and T. Kreuz. Bivariate surrogate techniques: Necessity, strengths, and caveats. *Phys. Rev. E*, 68:066202, 2003.
- [AL11] G. Ansmann and K. Lehnertz. Constrained randomization of weighted networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 84:026103, 2011.

- [AL12] Gerrit Ansmann and Klaus Lehnertz. Surrogateassisted analysis of weighted functional brain networks. J. Neurosci. Methods, 208:165-172, 2012.
- [ALF16] Gerrit Ansmann, Klaus Lehnertz, and Ulrike Feudel. Self-induced switchings between multiple space-time patterns on complex networks of excitable units. *Phys. Rev. X*, 6:011030, 2016.
- [All05] James P Allen. The art of medicine in ancient Egypt. Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, 2005.
- [Alo07] U. Alon. Network motifs: theory and experimental approaches. *Nat. Rev. Gen.*, 8:450-461, 2007.
- [AM19] Alberto Aleta and Yamir Moreno. Multilayer networks in a nutshell. Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys., 10:45-62, 2019.
- [AMB⁺10] Massoud Akhtari, Mark Mandelkern, Diem Bui, Noriko Salamon, Harry V Vinters, and Gary W Mathern. Variable anisotropic brain electrical conductivities in epileptogenic foci. Brain Topogr., 23(3):292-300, 2010.
- [AMK⁺03] R. G. Andrzejak, F. Mormann, T. Kreuz, C. Rieke, A. Kraskov, C. E. Elger, and K. Lehnertz. Testing the null hypothesis of the nonexistence of a preseizure state. *Phys. Rev. E*, 67:010901(R), 2003.
- [AMPL08] Roberto FS Andrade, José GV Miranda, Suani TR Pinho, and Thierry Petit Lobão. Measuring distances between complex networks. *Phys. Lett. A*, 372:5265-5269, 2008.
- [Ans16] G. Ansmann. Extreme Events and other emergent phenomena in the collective dynamics of complex networks of excitable units. Dissertation, Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultät der Universität Bonn, 2016.
- [AO04] L A N Amaral and J M Ottino. Complex systems and networks: challenges and opportunities for chemical and biological engineers. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, 59(8-9):1653-1666, 2004.
- [ARZL21] Esra Aslim, Thorsten Rings, Lina Zabawa, and Klaus Lehnertz. Enhancing the accuracy of a datadriven reconstruction of bivariate jump-diffusion models with corrections for higher orders of the sampling interval. J. Stat. Mechan.: Theor. Exp., 2021:033406, 2021.
- [AS06] S. Abe and N. Suzuki. Complex earthquake networks: Hierarchical organization and assortative mixing. *Phys. Rev. E*, 74:026113, 2006.
- [ASR12] Ralph G. Andrzejak, Kaspar Schindler, and Christian Rummel. Nonrandomness, nonlinear dependence, and nonstationarity of electroencephalographic recordings from epilepsy patients. *Phys. Rev. E*, 86:046206, 2012.
- [AT14] Thomas A A Adcock and Paul H Taylor. The physics of anomalous (rogue) ocean waves. *Rep. Prog. Phys.*, 77:105901, 2014.
- [AUF⁺21] Giacomo Alciatore, Line V Ugelvig, Erik Frank, Jérémie Bidaux, Asaf Gal, Thomas Schmitt, Daniel JC Kronauer, and Yuko Ulrich. Immune challenges increase network centrality in a queenless ant. Proc. Royal Soc. B, 288(1958):20211456, 2021.
- [BA99] A.-L. Barabási and R. Albert. Emergence of scaling in random networks. Science, 286:509–512, 1999.
- [BAB⁺21] Federico Battiston, Enrico Amico, Alain Barrat, Ginestra Bianconi, Guilherme Ferraz de Arruda, Benedetta Franceschiello, Iacopo Iacopini, So-

nia Kéfi, Vito Latora, Yamir Moreno, et al. The physics of higher-order interactions in complex systems. *Nat. Phys.*, 17(10):1093-1098, 2021.

- [BAK12] György Buzsáki, Costas A Anastassiou, and Christof Koch. The origin of extracellular fields and currents-EEG, ECoG, LFP and spikes. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 13:407-420, 2012.
- [BAK15] Stephan Bialonski, Gerrit Ansmann, and Holger Kantz. Data-driven prediction and prevention of extreme events in a spatially extended excitable system. *Phys. Rev. E*, 92:042910, 10 2015.
- [Bar09] Albert-László Barabási. Scale-free networks: a decade and beyond. Science, 325:412–413, 2009.
- [Bar11] M. Barthélemy. Spatial networks. Phys. Rep., 499:1-101, 2011.
- [BB06] Danielle Smith Bassett and ED Bullmore. Smallworld brain networks. The neuroscientist, 12(6):512-523, 2006.
- [BBB⁺14] N. Boers, B. Bookhagen, H. M. J. Barbosa, N. Marwan, J. Kurths, and J. A. Marengo. Prediction of extreme floods in the eastern central andes based on a complex networks approach. *Nat. Commun.*, 5:5199, 2014.
- [BBC⁺14] Stefano Boccaletti, Ginestra Bianconi, Regino Criado, Charo I Del Genio, Jesús Gómez-Gardenes, Miguel Romance, Irene Sendina-Nadal, Zhen Wang, and Massimiliano Zanin. The structure and dynamics of multilayer networks. *Phys. Rep.*, 544(1):1–122, 2014.
- [BBG⁺18] Hugo Barbosa, Marc Barthelemy, Gourab Ghoshal, Charlotte R James, Maxime Lenormand, Thomas Louail, Ronaldo Menezes, José J Ramasco, Filippo Simini, and Marcello Tomasini. Human mobility: Models and applications. *Phys. Rep.*, 734:1– 74, 2018.
- [BBK06] Alexander M Bronstein, Michael M Bronstein, and Ron Kimmel. Efficient computation of isometryinvariant distances between surfaces. SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 28:1812-1836, 2006.
- [BBPSV04] A. Barrat, M. Barthélemy, R. Pastor-Satorras, and A. Vespignani. The architecture of complex weighted networks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A., 101:3747-3752, 2004.
- [BBV08] A. Barrat, M. Barthélemy, and A. Vespignani. Dynamical Processes on Complex Networks. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 2008.
- [BCI⁺20] Federico Battiston, Giulia Cencetti, Iacopo Iacopini, Vito Latora, Maxime Lucas, Alice Patania, Jean-Gabriel Young, and Giovanni Petri. Networks beyond pairwise interactions: structure and dynamics. Phys. Rep., 874:1–92, 2020.
- [BDBTS13] L. A. Baccalá, C. S. N. De Brito, D. Y. Takahashi, and K Sameshima. Unified asymptotic theory for all partial directed coherence forms. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. A*, 371:20120158, 2013.
- [BDCMT18] Paul Boon, Elien De Cock, Ann Mertens, and Eugen Trinka. Neurostimulation for drug-resistant epilepsy: a systematic review of clinical evidence for efficacy, safety, contraindications and predictors for response. Curr. Opin. Neurol., 31:198-210, 2018.
- [BdKP14] I. Belykh, M. di Bernardo, J. Kurths, and M. Porfiri. Evolving dynamical networks. *Physica* D, 267:1-6, 2014.
- [Ben02] Martin Beniston. Climate modeling at various spatial and temporal scales: where can dendrochronology help? Dendrochronologia, 20(1-

2):117-131, 2002.

- [Ber84] Claude Berge. Hypergraphs: combinatorics of finite sets, volume 45. Elsevier, New York, 1984.
- [BFDD19] Jacob Biamonte, Mauro Faccin, and Manlio De Domenico. Complex networks from classical to quantum. Communications Physics, 2(1):53, 2019.
- [BFPS⁺13] A. Baronchelli, R. Ferrer-i-Cancho, R. Pastor-Satorras, N. Chater, and M. H. Christiansen. Networks in cognitive science. *Trends Cogn. Sci.*, 17:348–360, 2013.
- [BG22] Juan Bisquert and Antonio Guerrero. Chemical inductor. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 144(13):5996-6009, 2022.
- [BGL11] A.-L. Barabási, N. Gulbahce, and J. Loscalzo. Network medicine: a network-based approach to human disease. Nat. Rev. Genet., 12:56-68, 2011.
- [BGP⁺09] Paolo Bonifazi, Miri Goldin, Michel A Picardo, Isabel Jorquera, A Cattani, Gregory Bianconi, Alfonso Represa, Yehezkel Ben-Ari, and Rosa Cossart. Gabaergic hub neurons orchestrate synchrony in developing hippocampal networks. *Science*, 326:1419– 1424, 2009.
- [BGP⁺13] Arturo Buscarino, Lucia Valentina Gambuzza, Maurizio Porfiri, Luigi Fortuna, and Mattia Frasca. Robustness to noise in synchronization of complex networks. Sci. Rep., 3:2026, 2013.
- [BH13] C. Boettiger and A. Hastings. Tipping points: From patterns to predictions. Nature, 493(7431):157-158, 2013.
- [BHB⁺16] Hongjie Bi, Xin Hu, S Boccaletti, Xingang Wang, Yong Zou, Zonghua Liu, and Shuguang Guan. Coexistence of quantized, time dependent, clusters in globally coupled oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 117(20):204101, 2016.
- [BHL10] S. Bialonski, M.T. Horstmann, and K. Lehnertz. From brain to earth and climate systems: Smallworld interaction networks or not? *Chaos*, 20:013134, 2010.
- [BKM⁺09] Tonio Ball, Markus Kern, Isabella Mutschler, Ad Aertsen, and Andreas Schulze-Bonhage. Signal quality of simultaneously recorded invasive and noninvasive eeg. *Neuroimage*, 46(3):708–716, 2009.
- [BKM⁺18] Maxime O Baud, Jonathan K Kleen, Emily A Mirro, Jason C Andrechak, David King-Stephens, Edward F Chang, and Vikram R Rao. Multi-day rhythms modulate seizure risk in epilepsy. Nat. Commun., 9:88, 2018.
- [BKO⁺02] S. Boccaletti, J. Kurths, G. Osipov, D. L. Valladares, and C. S. Zhou. The synchronization of chaotic systems. *Phys. Rep.*, 366:1–101, 2002.
- [BKS02] A. Bunde, J. Kropp, and H.-J. Schellnhuber, editors. *The Science of Disaster*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2002.
- [BL13] Stephan Bialonski and Klaus Lehnertz. Assortative mixing in functional brain networks during epileptic seizures. *Chaos*, 23:033139, 2013.
- [BL19] Timo Bröhl and Klaus Lehnertz. Centrality-based identification of important edges in complex networks. *Chaos*, 29:033115, 2019.
- [BL20] Timo Bröhl and Klaus Lehnertz. Identifying edges that facilitate the generation of extreme events in networked dynamical systems. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 30(7):073113, 2020.
- [BL22] Timo Bröhl and Klaus Lehnertz. A straightforward edge centrality concept derived from generalizing de-

gree and strength. Sci. Rep., 12:4407, 2022.

- [Bli11] K. J. Blinowska. Review of the methods of determination of directed connectivity from multichannel data. Med. Biol. Eng. Comput., 49:521-529, 2011.
- [BLM⁺06] S. Boccaletti, V. Latora, Y. Moreno, M. Chavez, and D.-U. Hwang. Complex networks: Structure and dynamics. *Phys. Rep.*, 424:175–308, 2006.
- [BM10] S. L. Bressler and V. Menon. Large-scale brain networks in cognition: emerging methods and principles. *Trends Cogn. Sci.*, 14:277-290, 2010.
- [BM14] Elinor Ben-Menachem. Medical management of refractory epilepsy – practical treatment with novel antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsia*, 55:3–8, 2014.
- [BMJB09] R. Badawy, R. Macdonell, G. Jackson, and S. Berkovic. The peri-ictal state: cortical excitability changes within 24 h of a seizure. *Brain*, 132:1013– 1021, 2009.
- [BMLA⁺06] D. S. Bassett, A. Meyer-Lindenberg, S. Achard, T. Duke, and E. Bullmore. Adaptive reconfiguration of fractal small-world human brain functional networks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 103:19518-19523, 2006.
- [BMM⁺15] Gregory K Bergey, Martha J Morrell, Eli M Mizrahi, Alica Goldman, David King-Stephens, Dileep Nair, Shraddha Srinivasan, Barbara Jobst, Robert E Gross, Donald C Shields, et al. Longterm treatment with responsive brain stimulation in adults with refractory partial seizures. *Neurology*, 84:810-817, 2015.
- [BMRAB16] E Bianco-Martinez, N Rubido, Ch G Antonopoulos, and MS Baptista. Successful network inference from time-series data using mutual information rate. Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science, 26:043102, 2016.
- [BMTV05] Dale L Bailey, Michael N Maisey, David W Townsend, and Peter E Valk. *Positron emission tomography*, volume 2. Springer, London, 2005.
- [BNL14] Federico Battiston, Vincenzo Nicosia, and Vito Latora. Structural measures for multiplex networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 89(3):032804, 2014.
- [Boa92] B. Boashash. Time frequency signal analysis: methods and applications. Longman Cheshire, Melbourne, 1992.
- [Boe21] Geoff Boeing. Off the grid... and back again? J. Am. Plann. Assoc., 87(1):123-137, 2021.
- [Bol01] B. Bollobás. Random Graphs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2nd edition, 2001.
- [Bon87] P. Bonacich. Power and centrality: A family of measures. Am. J. Sociol., 92:1170-1182, 1987.
- [BP02a] C. Bandt and B. Pompe. Permutation entropy: A natural complexity measure for time series. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 88:174102, 2002.
- [BP02b] M. Barahona and L. M. Pecora. Synchronization in small-world systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 89:054101, 2002.
- [BP14] Albert-László Barabási and Márton Pósfai. Network science. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- [BPP⁺10] Sergey V Buldyrev, Roni Parshani, Gerald Paul, H Eugene Stanley, and Shlomo Havlin. Catastrophic cascade of failures in interdependent networks. *Nature*, 464:1025–1028, 2010.
- [Bre30] James Henry Breasted. The Edwin Smith Surgical Papyrus: published in facsimile and hieroglyphic transliteration with translation and commentary in two volumes. University of Chicago Press, Chicago,

1930.

- [BRH13] Carl Boettiger, Noam Ross, and Alan Hastings. Early warning signals: the charted and uncharted territories. *Theor. Ecol.*, 6:255-264, 2013.
- [BRRS13] Daniel J Bumbarger, Metta Riebesell, Christian Rödelsperger, and Ralf J Sommer. System-wide rewiring underlies behavioral differences in predatory and bacterial-feeding nematodes. *Cell*, 152(1-2):109-119, 2013.
- [BS01] Luiz A Baccalá and Koichi Sameshima. Partial directed coherence: a new concept in neural structure determination. *Biol. Cybern.*, 84:463–474, 2001.
- [BS09] E. Bullmore and O. Sporns. Complex brain networks: graph theoretical analysis of structural and functional systems. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 10:186–198, 2009.
- [BS12] E. Bullmore and O. Sporns. The economy of brain network organization. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 13:336– 349, 2012.
- [BSM⁺12] M. R. Bower, M. Stead, F. B. Meyer, W. R. Marsh, and G. A. Worrell. Spatiotemporal neuronal correlates of seizure generation in focal epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 53:807–816, 2012.
- [BSY⁺14] Samuel P Burns, Sabato Santaniello, Robert B Yaffe, Christophe C Jouny, Nathan E Crone, Gregory K Bergey, William S Anderson, and Sridevi V Sarma. Network dynamics of the brain and influence of the epileptic seizure onset zone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 111:E5321–E5330, 2014.
- [Buz17] Natalia Buzulukova. Extreme Events in Geospace: Origins, Predictability, and Consequences. Elsevier, 2017.
- [BWL11] S. Bialonski, M. Wendler, and K. Lehnertz. Unraveling spurious properties of interaction networks with tailored random networks. *PLoS ONE*, 6:e22826, 2011.
- [BZM⁺98] E. H. Bertram, D. X. Zhang, P. Mangan, N. Fountain, and D. Rempe. Functional anatomy of limbic epilepsy: a proposal for central synchronization of a diffusely hyperexcitable network. *Epilepsy Res.*, 32:194–205, 1998.
- [Cal07] Guido Caldarelli. Scale-free networks: complex webs in nature and technology. Oxford University Press, New York, USA, 2007.
- [Cal11] Gianluca Calcagni. Discrete to continuum transition in multifractal spacetimes. Phys. Rev. D, 84(6):061501, 2011.
- [CBS⁺15] Sofie Carrette, Paul Boon, Mathieu Sprengers, Robrecht Raedt, and Kristl Vonck. Responsive neurostimulation in epilepsy. Expert Rev. Neurother., 15:1445-1454, 2015.
- [CFA⁺11] John P Christodouleas, Robert D Forrest, Christopher G Ainsley, Zelig Tochner, Stephen M Hahn, and Eli Glatstein. Short-term and long-term health risks of nuclear-power-plant accidents. New Engl. J. Med., 364:2334-2341, 2011.
- [CGUF15] Mario Chavez, Michael Ghil, and Jaime Urrutia-Fucugauchi. Extreme events: Observations, modeling, and economics, volume 214. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, 2015.
- [CHL14] Yu-Zhong Chen, Zi-Gang Huang, and Ying-Cheng Lai. Controlling extreme events on complex networks. Sci. Rep., 4:6121, 2014.
- [CIK⁺19] D Chorozoglou, A Iliopoulos, C Kourouklas, O Mangira, and E Papadimitriou. Earthquake networks as a tool for seismicity investigation: a review.

Pure Appl. Geophys., 176(11):4649-4660, 2019.

- [CKP⁺14] Mathias J. Collins, Johnathan P. Kirk, Joshua Pettit, Arthur T. DeGaetano, M. Sam McCown, Thomas C. Peterson, Tiffany N. Means, and Xuebin Zhang. Annual floods in New England (USA) and Atlantic Canada: synoptic climatology and generating mechanisms. *Phys. Geogr.*, 35:195–219, 2014.
- [Cla85] William C Clark. Scales of climate impacts. Clim. Change, 7(1):5-27, 1985.
- [CLL13] Emily S. C. Ching, Pik-Yin Lai, and C. Y. Leung. Extracting connectivity from dynamics of networks with uniform bidirectional coupling. *Phys. Rev. E*, 88:042817, 2013.
- [CLL15] Emily S. C. Ching, Pik-Yin Lai, and C. Y. Leung. Reconstructing weighted networks from dynamics. *Phys. Rev. E*, 91:030801, 2015.
- [CMT18] Jose Casadiego, Dimitra Maoutsa, and Marc Timme. Inferring network connectivity from event timing patterns. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 121:054101, 2018.
- [CNHT17a] Jose Casadiego, Mor Nitzan, Sarah Hallerberg, and Marc Timme. Model-free inference of direct network interactions from nonlinear collective dynamics. Nat. Commun., 8(1):1-10, 2017.
- [CNHT17b] Jose Casadiego, Mor Nitzan, Sarah Hallerberg, and Marc Timme. Model-free inference of direct network interactions from nonlinear collective dynamics. Nat. Commun., 8:2192, 2017.
- [COB⁺13] M. J. Cook, T. J. O'Brien, S. F. Berkovic, M. Murphy, A. Morokoff, G. Fabinyi, W. D'Souza, R. Yerra, J. Archer, L. Litewka, S. Hosking, P. Lightfoot, V. Ruedebusch, W. D. Sheffield, D. Snyder, K. Leyde, and D. Himes. Prediction of seizure likelihood with a long-term, implanted seizure advisory system in patients with drug-resistant epilepsy: a first-in-man study. Lancet Neurol., 12:563-571, 2013.
- [CP⁺21] Gloria Cecchini, Arkady Pikovsky, et al. Impact of local network characteristics on network reconstruction. *Phys. Rev. E*, 103(2):022305, 2021.
- [Cra91] John David Crawford. Introduction to bifurcation theory. Rev. Mod. Phys., 63(4):991, 1991.
- [CRFD04] Y. Chen, G. Rangarajan, J. Feng, and M. Ding. Analyzing multiple nonlinear time series with extended Granger causality. *Phys. Lett. A*, 324:26–35, 2004.
- [CRS⁺10] X.-Q. Cheng, F.-X. Ren, H.-W. Shen, Z.-K. Zhang, and T. Zhou. Bridgeness: a local index on edge significance in maintaining global connectivity. J. Stat. Mech. Theor. Exp., 2010:P10011, 2010.
- [Dah00] R. Dahlhaus. Graphical interaction model for multivariate time series. *Metrika*, 51:157-172, 2000.
- [DBB⁺19] Eva Delmas, Mathilde Besson, Marie-Hélène Brice, Laura A Burkle, Giulio V Dalla Riva, Marie-Josée Fortin, Dominique Gravel, Paulo R Guimarães Jr, David H Hembry, Erica A Newman, Jens M. Olesen, Mathias M. Pires, Justin D. Yeakel, and Timothee Poisot. Analysing ecological networks of species interactions. *Biol. Rev.*, 94:16-36, 2019.
- [dBGS07] M. di Bernardo, F. Garofalo, and F. Sorrentino. Effects of degree correlation on the synchronization of networks of oscillators. Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos Appl. Sci. Eng., 17(10):3499–3506, 2007.
- [DCvS15] Vasilis Dakos, Stephen R. Carpenter, Egbert H. van Nes, and Marten Scheffer. Resilience indicators: prospects and limitations for early warnings of regime shifts. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B: Biol. Sci.*, 370:20130263, 2015.

- [DDB16] Manlio De Domenico and Jacob Biamonte. Spectral entropies as information-theoretic tools for complex network comparison. *Phys. Rev. X*, 6(4):041062, 2016.
- [DDSA16] Manlio De Domenico, Shuntaro Sasai, and Alex Arenas. Mapping multiplex hubs in human functional brain networks. Front. Neurosci., 10:326, 2016.
- [DDSRC⁺13] Manlio De Domenico, Albert Solé-Ribalta, Emanuele Cozzo, Mikko Kivelä, Yamir Moreno, Mason A. Porter, Sergio Gómez, and Alex Arenas. Mathematical formulation of multilayer networks. *Phys. Rev. X*, 3:041022, 2013.
- [DHS12] Mark Dickison, Shlomo Havlin, and H Eugene Stanley. Epidemics on interconnected networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 85(6):066109, 2012.
- [DHW15] Cees Diks, Cars Hommes, and Juanxi Wang. Critical slowing down as an early warning signal for financial crises? *Empirical Economics*, pages 1–28, 2015.
- [DJ10] Peter D Ditlevsen and Sigfus J Johnsen. Tipping points: early warning and wishful thinking. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 37:L19703, 2010.
- [DMFFR12] Pasquale De Meo, Emilio Ferrara, Giacomo Fiumara, and Angela Ricciardello. A novel measure of edge centrality in social networks. *Knowledge-based systems*, 30:136–150, 2012.
- [DP80] John R Dormand and Peter J Prince. A family of embedded Runge-Kutta formulae. J. Comp. Appl. Math., 6(1):19-26, 1980.
- [DPEL16] Henning Dickten, Stephan Porz, Christian E. Elger, and Klaus Lehnertz. Weighted and directed interactions in evolving large-scale epileptic brain networks. Sci. Rep., 6:34824, 10 2016.
- [DS14] Gregorio D'Agostino and Antonio Scala. Networks of networks: the last frontier of complexity. Springer, Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London, 2014.
- [DSBI⁺20] Vagner Dos Santos, Fernando S Borges, Kelly C Iarosz, Iberê L Caldas, Jose Danilo Szezech, Ricardo L Viana, Murilo S Baptista, and Antonio M Batista. Basin of attraction for chimera states in a network of rössler oscillators. *Chaos*, 30(8):083115, 2020.
- [DSvN⁺08] Vasilis Dakos, Marten Scheffer, Egbert H. van Nes, Victor Brovkin, Vladimir Petoukhov, and Hermann Held. Slowing down as an early warning signal for abrupt climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 105:14308–14312, 2008.
- [DVE⁺05] M. D'Alessandro, G. Vachtsevanos, R. Esteller, J. Echauz, S. Cranstoun, G. Worrell, L. Parish, and B. Litt. A multi-feature and multi-channel univariate selection process for seizure prediction. *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 116:506–516, 2005.
- [DZMK09a] J. F. Donges, Y. Zou, N. Marwan, and J. Kurths. The backbone of the climate network. *Europhys. Lett.*, 87:48007, 2009.
- [DZMK09b] J. F. Donges, Y. Zou, N. Marwan, and J. Kurths. Complex networks in climate dynamics. *Eur. Phys. J.-Spec. Top.*, 174:157–179, 2009.
- [EA16] Marius Eidsaa and Eivind Almaas. Investigating the relationship between k-core and s-core network decompositions. *Physica A*, 449:111–125, 2016.
- [EDS03] Michael Eichler, Rainer Dahlhaus, and Jürgen Sandkühler. Partial correlation analysis for the identification of synaptic connections. *Biol. Cybern.*,

89:289-302, 2003.

- [Efr04] Bradley Efron. Large-scale simultaneous hypothesis testing: The choice of a null hypothesis. JASA, 99:465, 2004.
- [EFS01] Andreas K. Engel, Pascal Fries, and Wolf Singer. Dynamic predictions: oscillations and synchrony in top-down processing. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 2(10):704-716, 2001.
- [EFS15] Leonardo Ermann, Klaus M. Frahm, and Dima L. Shepelyansky. Google matrix analysis of directed networks. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 87:1261–1310, 2015.
- [EH18] C. E. Elger and C. Hoppe. Diagnostic challenges in epilepsy: seizure under-reporting and seizure detection. *Lancet Neurol.*, 1:279-288, 2018.
- [Eic05] M. Eichler. A graphical approach for evaluating effective connectivity in neural systems. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.*, 360:953-967, 2005.
- [EOR87] J.-P. Eckmann, S. Oliffson Kamphorst, and D. Ruelle. Recurrence plots of dynamical systems. *Europhysics Letters*, 4(9):973-977, 1987.
- [ER59] P. Erdős and A. Rényi. On random graphs I. Publ. Math. Debrecen, 6:290-297, 1959.
- [ESTS15] Heba Elsegai, Helen Shiells, Marco Thiel, and Björn Schelter. Network inference in the presence of latent confounders: The role of instantaneous causalities. J. Neurosci. Methods, 245:91–106, 2015.
- [Eul41] Leonhard Euler. Solutio problematis ad geometriam situs pertinentis. Commentarii academiae scientiarum Petropolitanae, 13:128-140, 1741.
- [FA11] J. Fell and N. Axmacher. The role of phase synchronization in memory processes. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 12:105-118, 2011.
- [Faw06] T. Fawcett. An introduction to ROC analysis. Pattern Recogn. Lett., 27:861–874, 2006.
- [FBRL20] Rieke Fruengel, Timo Bröhl, Thorsten Rings, and Klaus Lehnertz. Reconfiguration of human evolving large-scale epileptic brain networks prior to seizures: an evaluation with node centralities. Sci. Rep., 10:21921, 2020.
- [FBS⁺12] C. B. Field, V. Barros, T. F. Stocker, Q. Dahe, D. J. Dokken, K. L. Ebi, M. D. Mastrandrea, K. J. Mach, G. K. Plattner, S. K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P. M. Midgley, editors. *IPCC 2012: Managing the* risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation. A special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2012.
- [Fei01] James A Feigenbaum. A statistical analysis of logperiodic precursors to financial crashes. *Quantitative Finance*, 1(3):346–360, 2001.
- [FFMD21] Leonardo N Ferreira, Nicole CR Ferreira, Elbert EN Macau, and Reik V Donner. The effect of time series distance functions on functional climate networks. *Eur. Phys. J. Special Topics*, 230(14):2973-2998, 2021.
- [FH16] S. Fortunato and D. Hric. Community detection in networks: A user guide. Phys. Rep., 659:1 – 44, 2016.
- [Fie21] Paul Fieguth. An introduction to complex systems. Springer Nature Switzerland, Cham, 2nd edition, 2021.
- [Fis12] R. S. Fisher. Therapeutic devices for epilepsy. Ann. Neurol., 71:157–168, 2012.
- [Fit61] Richard FitzHugh. Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane. *Bio*phys. J., 1:445-466, 1961.

- [FKN⁺15] Luca Faes, Dimitris Kugiumtzis, Giandomenico Nollo, Fabrice Jurysta, and Daniele Marinazzo. Estimating the decomposition of predictive information in multivariate systems. *Phys. Rev. E*, 91:032904, 2015.
- [FLPA15] Rico Fischer, Jorge C Leitao, Tiago P Peixoto, and Eduardo G Altmann. Sampling motifconstrained ensembles of networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115(18):188701, 2015.
- [FOTMP21] E Forero-Ortiz, G Tirabassi, C Masoller, and AJ Pons. Inferring the connectivity of coupled chaotic oscillators using Kalman filtering. Sci. Rep., 11:22376, 2021.
- [FP07] S. Frenzel and B. Pompe. Partial mutual information for coupling analysis of multivariate time series. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:204101, 2007.
- [FPST11] R. Friedrich, J. Peinke, M. Sahimi, and M. R. R. Tabar. Approaching complexity by stochastic methods: From biological systems to turbulence. *Phys. Rep.*, 506:87-162, 2011.
- [FQ12] Walter Freeman and Rodrigo Quian Quiroga. Imaging brain function with EEG: advanced temporal and spatial analysis of electroencephalographic signals. Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, 2012.
- [FRBM88] G. Fein, J. Raz, F. F. Brown, and E. L. Merrin. Common reference coherence data are confounded by power and phase effects. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 69:581–584, 1988.
- [FRCM20] Mara A Freilich, Rolando Rebolledo, Derek Corcoran, and Pablo A Marquet. Reconstructing ecological networks with noisy dynamics. Proc. Roy. Soc. A, 476:20190739, 2020.
- [Fre77] Linton C. Freeman. A set of measures of centrality based on betweenness. Sociometry, 40:35–41, 1977.
- [Fre79] L. C. Freeman. Centrality in social networks: Conceptual clarification. Soc. Networks, 1:215-239, 1979.
- [Fre12] Walter Freeman. Neurodynamics: an exploration in mesoscopic brain dynamics. Springer Science & Business Media, London, UK, 2012.
- [FRRRTL22] T Fischer, T Rings, M Reza Rahimi Tabar, and K Lehnertz. Towards a data-driven estimation of resilience in networked dynamical systems: designing a versatile testbed. *Front Netw Physiol*, 2:838142, 2022.
- [FSS⁺11] H. Feldwisch-Drentrup, M. Staniek, A. Schulze-Bonhage, J. Timmer, H. Dickten, C. E. Elger, B. Schelter, and K. Lehnertz. Identification of preseizure states in epilepsy: A data-driven approach for multichannel EEG recordings. *Front. Comput. Neurosci.*, 5:32, 2011.
- [FV14] Robert S Fisher and Ana Luisa Velasco. Electrical brain stimulation for epilepsy. Nat. Rev. Neurol., 10(5):261-270, 2014.
- [FVDMDMH99] TJC Faes, HA Van Der Meij, JC De Munck, and RM Heethaar. The electric resistivity of human tissues (100 hz-10 mhz): a meta-analysis of review studies. *Physiol. Meas.*, 20(4):R1, 1999.
- [FWD18] Aden Forrow, Francis G Woodhouse, and Jörn Dunkel. Functional control of network dynamics using designed Laplacian spectra. *Phys. Rev. X*, 8(4):041043, 2018.
- [FZB15] A. Fornito, A. Zalesky, and M. Breakspear. The connectomics of brain disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 16:159-172, 2015.

- [Gab46] D. Gabor. Theory of communication. part 1: The analysis of information. J. I. Electr. Eng., 93(26):429-441, 1946.
- [GBB16] Jianxi Gao, Baruch Barzel, and Albert-László Barabási. Universal resilience patterns in complex networks. *Nature*, 530:307, 2016.
- [GBEL15] Christian Geier, Stephan Bialonski, Christian E. Elger, and Klaus Lehnertz. How important is the seizure onset zone for seizure dynamics? *Seizure*, 25:160-166, 2015.
- [GBJF06] B. Gourevitch, R. Le Bouquin-Jeannes, and G. Faucon. Linear and nonlinear causality between signals: methods, examples and neurophysiological applications. *Biol. Cybern.*, 95:349–369, 2006.
- [GGC96] C. Gabriel, S. Gabriel, and E. Corthout. The dielectric properties of biological tissues: I. Literature survey. *Phys. Med. Biol.*, 41:2231-2249, 1996.
- [GHGT10] Carsten Grabow, Steven M Hill, Stefan Grosskinsky, and Marc Timme. Do small worlds synchronize fastest? *EPL*, 90(4):48002, 2010.
- [GL17a] C. Geier and K. Lehnertz. Long-term variability of importance of brain regions in evolving epileptic brain networks. *Chaos*, 27:043112, 2017.
- [GL17b] Christian Geier and Klaus Lehnertz. Which brain regions are mportant for seizure dynamics in epileptic networks? Influence of link identification and EEG recording montage on node centralities. Int. J. Neural Syst., 27:1650033, 2017.
- [GLMG16] Kais Gadhoumi, Jean-Marc Lina, Florian Mormann, and Jean Gotman. Seizure prediction for therapeutic devices: a review. J. Neurosci. Methods, 260:270-282, 2016.
- [GMCR20] Rodrigo A García, Arturo C Martí, Cecilia Cabeza, and Nicolás Rubido. Small-worldness favours network inference in synthetic neural networks. Sci. Rep., 10:2296, 2020.
- [GN02] M. Girvan and M. E. J. Newman. Community structure in social and biological networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 99:7821-7826, 2002.
- [Gow81] W. R. Gowers. Epilepsy, and other chronic convulsive diseases: their causes, symptoms, and treatment. J. and A. Churchill, London, 1881.
- [Gra69] C.W.J. Granger. Investigating causal relations by econometric models and cross-spectral methods. *Econometrica*, 37:424-438, 1969.
- [Gra73] M. S. Granovetter. The strength of weak ties. Am. J. Sociol., 78:1360-1380, 1973.
- [GSH12] Antonios Garas, Frank Schweitzer, and Shlomo Havlin. A k-shell decomposition method for weighted networks. New J. Physics, 14:083030, 2012.
- [GV17] José M Gómez and Miguel Verdú. Network theory may explain the vulnerability of medieval human settlements to the black death pandemic. Sci. Rep., 7(1):1-7, 2017.
- [GVN⁺05] R. Guevara, J. L. P. Velazquez, V. Nenadovic, R. Wennberg, G. Senjanovic, and L. G. Dominguez. Phase synchronization measurements using electroencephalographic recordings. What can we really say about neuronal synchrony? *Neuroinformatics*, 3:301-314, 2005.
- [GYH⁺11] Michael Ghil, Pascal Yiou, Stephane Hallegatte, Bruce D. Malamud, Phillipe. Naveau, Alexandre Soloviev, Petra Friederichs, Vladimir Keilis-Borok, Dmitri Kondrashov, Vladimir Kossobokov, Olivier Mestre, Catherine Nicolis, Henning W. Rust, Peter Shebalin, Mathieu Vrac, Annette Witt, and

Ilya Zaliapin. Extreme events: dynamics, statistics and prediction. *Nonlinear Proc. Geophys.*, 18:295– 350, 2011.

- [Haa03] Lindsay F Haas. Hans Berger (1873-1941), Richard Caton (1842-1926), and electroencephalography. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, 74(1):9-9, 2003.
- [HCHB08] D. Hsu, W. Chen, M. Hsu, and J. M. Beggs. An open hypothesis: Is epilepsy learned, and can it be unlearned? *Epilepsy Behav.*, 13:511-522, 2008.
- [HD19] Forough Hassanibesheli and Reik V Donner. Network inference from the timing of events in coupled dynamical systems. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 29:083125, 2019.
- [HDL17] Harold M Hastings, Jörn Davidsen, and Henry Leung. Challenges in the analysis of complex systems: introduction and overview. Eur. Phys. J.: Spec. Top., 226(15):3185-3197, 2017.
- [Hel01] Dirk Helbing. Traffic and related self-driven manyparticle systems. Rev. Mod. Phys., 73:1067–1141, 12 2001.
- [Hel13] Dirk Helbing. Globally networked risks and how to respond. Nature, 497:51–59, 2013.
- [HH18] David Hartman and Jaroslav Hlinka. Nonlinearity in stock networks. Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science, 28(8):083127, 2018.
- [HHI⁺93] M. Hämäläinen, R. Hari, R. J. Ilmoniemi, J. Knuutila, and O. V. Lounasmaa. Magnetoencephalography – theory, instrumentation, and applications to noninvasive studies of the working human brain. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 65:413–497, 1993.
- [HHP12] J. Hlinka, D. Hartman, and M. Paluš. Smallworld topology of functional connectivity in randomly connected dynamical systems. *Chaos*, 22:033107, 2012.
- [HIH⁺04] Kun Hu, Plamen Ch Ivanov, Michael F Hilton, Zhi Chen, R Timothy Ayers, H Eugene Stanley, and Steven A Shea. Endogenous circadian rhythm in an index of cardiac vulnerability independent of changes in behavior. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 101:18223-18227, 2004.
- [Hil91] G Hildebrandt. Reactive modifications of the autonomous time structure in the human organism. J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 42:5-27, 1991.
- [HKKN11] S. Hempel, A. Koseska, J. Kurths, and Z. Nikoloski. Inner composition alignment for inferring directed networks from short time series. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:054101, 2011.
- [HMSK15] D. Hunt, F. Molnár, B. K. Szymanski, and G. Korniss. Extreme fluctuations in stochastic network coordination with time delays. *Phys. Rev. E*, 92:062816, 2015.
- [HNL⁺09] Stein Joar Hegland, Anders Nielsen, Amparo Lázaro, Anne-Line Bjerknes, and Ørjan Totland. How does climate warming affect plant-pollinator interactions? *Ecol. Lett.*, 12:184–195, 2009.
- [HNT01] D. Hagemann, E. Naumann, and J. F. Thayer. The quest for the EEG reference revisited: A glance from brain asymmetry research. *Psychophysiol.*, 38:847-857, 2001.
- [Hob94] E Hobsbawm. The Age of Extremes: 1914–1991. Abacus, London, 1994.
- [Hol73] C. S. Holling. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Systemat., 4:1-23, 1973.
- [HRB⁺22] Christoph Helmstaedter, Thorsten Rings, Lara Buscher, Benedikt Janssen, Sara Alaeddin, Vanessa

Krause, Stefan Knecht, and Klaus Lehnertz. Stimulation-related modifications of evolving functional brain networks in unresponsive wakefulness. *Sci. Rep.*, 12(1):1–12, 2022.

- [HS12] P. Holme and J. Saramäki. Temporal networks. *Phys. Rep.*, 519:97–125, 2012.
- [HSA06] Cindy E Hmelo-Silver and Roger Azevedo. Understanding complex systems: Some core challenges. J. Learn. Sci., 15(1):53-61, 2006.
- [HSM04] Scott A Huettel, Allen W Song, and Gregory McCarthy. Functional magnetic resonance imaging. Sinauer Associates Sunderland, Sunderland, MA, USA, 3rd edition, 2004.
- [HSP15] Tobias Heckmann, Wolfgang Schwanghart, and Jonathan D. Phillips. Graph theory – recent developments of its application in geomorphology. *Geo*morphology, 243:130–146, 2015.
- [HSPVB07] K. Hlaváčková-Schindler, M. Paluš, M. Vejmelka, and J. Bhattacharya. Causality detection based on information-theoretic approaches in time series analysis. *Phys. Rep.*, 441:1–46, 2007.
- [HT17] Aida A. Hozić and Jacqui True. Brexit as a scandal: Gender and global Trumpism. Rev. Int. Polit. Econ., 24(2):270–287, 2017.
- [HWS⁺21] Annika Hagemann, Jens Wilting, Bita Samimizad, Florian Mormann, and Viola Priesemann. Assessing criticality in pre-seizure singleneuron activity of human epileptic cortex. *PLoS Computat. Biol.*, 17:e1008773, 2021.
- [HY00] B Hutcheon and Y Yarom. Resonance, oscillation and the intrinsic frequency preferences of neurons. *Trends Neurosci.*, 23(5):216-222, 2000.
- [HZ06] Xionglei He and Jianzhi Zhang. Why do hubs tend to be essential in protein networks? *PLoS Genetics*, 2:20088, 2006.
- [IB14] Plamen Ch Ivanov and Ronny P Bartsch. Network physiology: mapping interactions between networks of physiologic networks. In Networks of Networks: The last Frontier of Complexity, pages 203– 222. Springer, 2014.
- [IHH⁺07] Plamen Ch Ivanov, Kun Hu, Michael F Hilton, Steven A Shea, and H Eugene Stanley. Endogenous circadian rhythm in human motor activity uncoupled from circadian influences on cardiac dynamics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 104:20702-20707, 2007.
- [ILU⁺14] Helgi I Ingólfsson, Cesar A Lopez, Jaakko J Uusitalo, Djurre H de Jong, Srinivasa M Gopal, Xavier Periole, and Siewert J Marrink. The power of coarse graining in biomolecular simulations. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Comput. Mol. Sci., 4(3):225-248, 2014.
- [IYPL04] Plamen Ch. Ivanov, Ainslie Yuen, Boris Podobnik, and Youngki Lee. Common scaling patterns in intertrade times of U. S. stocks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 69:056107, 2004.
- [Jal16] M. Jalili. Functional brain networks: does the choice of dependency estimator and binarization method matter? Sci. Rep., 6:29780, 2016.
- [JF19] Georg Jäger and Manfred Füllsack. Systematically false positives in early warning signal analysis. *PloS* one, 14:e0211072, 2019.
- [JK11] M. Jalili and M. G. Knyazeva. Constructing brain functional networks from EEG: partial and unpartial correlations. J. Integr. Neurosci., 10:213-232, 2011.
- [JMT14] Sven Jahnke, Raoul-Martin Memmesheimer, and Marc Timme. Hub-activated signal transmission in

complex networks. Phys. Rev. E, 89:030701, 2014.

- [JREM17] Jan Jurczyk, Thorsten Rehberg, Alexander Eckrot, and Ingo Morgenstern. Measuring critical transitions in financial markets. Sci. Rep., 7:11564, 2017.
- [JSQ⁺14] Viktor K Jirsa, William C Stacey, Pascale P Quilichini, Anton I Ivanov, and Christophe Bernard. On the nature of seizure dynamics. *Brain*, 137:2210– 2230, 2014.
- [KAFL14] Rajat Karnatak, Gerrit Ansmann, Ulrike Feudel, and Klaus Lehnertz. Route to extreme events in excitable systems. *Phys. Rev. E*, 90:022917, 2014.
- [KC12] M. A. Kramer and S. S. Cash. Epilepsy as a disorder of cortical network organization. *The Neuroscientist*, 18:360–372, 2012.
- [KCR⁺08] B. Kralemann, L. Cimponeriu, M. G. Rosenblum, A. S. Pikovsky, and R. Mrowka. Phase dynamics of coupled oscillators reconstructed from data. *Phys. Rev. E*, 77:066205, 2008.
- [KDGBT12] Hyunju Kim, Charo I Del Genio, Kevin E Bassler, and Zoltán Toroczkai. Constructing and sampling directed graphs with given degree sequences. New J. Phys., 14(2):023012, 2012.
- [KEL10] M.-T. Kuhnert, C. E. Elger, and K. Lehnertz. Long-term variability of global statistical properties of epileptic brain networks. *Chaos*, 20:043126, 2010.
- [KEL⁺11] M. A. Kramer, U. T. Eden, K. Q. Lepage, E. D. Kolaczyk, M. T. Bianchi, and S. S. Cash. Emergence of persistent networks in long-term intracranial EEG recordings. J. Neurosci., 31:15757-15767, 2011.
- [Ken61] Maurice George Kendall. The advanced theory of statistics: Inference and relationship. Vol. 2. C. Griffin, London, 1961.
- [KFL⁺10] L. Kuhlmann, D. Freestone, A. L. Lai, A. N. Burkitt, K. Fuller, D.B. Grayden, L. Seiderer, S. Vogrin, I. M. Y. Mareels, and M. J. Cook. Patientspecific bivariate-synchrony-based seizure prediction for short prediction horizons. *Epilepsy Res.*, 91:214– 231, 2010.
- [KGEL12] M.-T. Kuhnert, C. Geier, C. E. Elger, and K. Lehnertz. Identifying important nodes in weighted functional brain networks: A comparison of different centrality approaches. *Chaos*, 22:023142, 2012.
- [KGH⁺10] Maksim Kitsak, Lazaros K Gallos, Shlomo Havlin, Fredrik Liljeros, Lev Muchnik, H Eugene Stanley, and Hernán A Makse. Identification of influential spreaders in complex networks. Nat. Phys., 6(11):888–893, 2010.
- [KGK⁺16] Sebastian Kmiecik, Dominik Gront, Michal Kolinski, Lukasz Wieteska, Aleksandra Elzbieta Dawid, and Andrzej Kolinski. Coarse-grained protein models and their applications. *Chem. Rev.*, 116(14):7898-7936, 2016.
- [KJ21] Anjuman Ara Khatun and Haider Hasan Jafri. Chimeras in multivariable coupled rössler oscillators. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 95:105661, 2021.
- [KKC⁺17] Philippa J Karoly, Levin Kuhlmann, Mark J Cook, Hoameng Ung, David B Grayden, Kent Leyde, and Dean R Freestone. The circadian profile of epilepsy improves seizure forecasting. *Brain*, 140:2169–2182, 2017.
- [KKR⁺99] Jon M Kleinberg, Ravi Kumar, Prabhakar Raghavan, Sridhar Rajagopalan, and Andrew S Tomkins. The web as a graph: Measurements, mod-

els, and methods. In International Computing and Combinatorics Conference, pages 1–17. Springer, 1999.

- [KKRN⁺18] Isabell Kiral-Kornek, Subhrajit Roy, Ewan Nurse, Benjamin Mashford, Philippa Karoly, Thomas Carroll, Daniel Payne, Susmita Saha, Steven Baldassano, Terence O'Brien, David Grayden, Mark Cook, Dean Freestone, and Stefan Harrer. Epileptic seizure prediction using big data and deep learning: toward a mobile system. *EBioMedicine*, 27:103-111, 2018.
- [KKZ09] Hans-Peter Kriegel, Peer Kröger, and Arthur Zimek. Clustering high-dimensional data: A survey on subspace clustering, pattern-based clustering, and correlation clustering. ACM Trans Knowl Discov Data, 3:1, 2009.
- [KLR⁺18] Levin Kuhlmann, Klaus Lehnertz, Mark P. Richardson, Bjoern Schelter, and Hitten P. Zaveri. Seizure prediction – ready for a new era. Nat. Rev. Neurol., 14:618–630, 2018.
- [KMA⁺07] T. Kreuz, F. Mormann, R. G. Andrzejak, A. Kraskov, K. Lehnertz, and P. Grassberger. Measuring synchronization in coupled model systems: a comparison of different approaches. *Physica D*, 225:29–42, 2007.
- [KNK⁺18] Sofia Khan, Lino Nobili, Ramin Khatami, Tobias Loddenkemper, Christian Cajochen, Derk-Jan Dijk, and Sofia H Eriksson. Circadian rhythm and epilepsy. Lancet Neurol., 17:1098–1108, 2018.
- [KPR11] Bjoern Kralemann, Arkady Pikovsky, and Michael Rosenblum. Reconstructing phase dynamics of oscillator networks. *Chaos*, 21:025104, 2011.
- [KPR14] Bjoern Kralemann, Arkady Pikovsky, and Michael Rosenblum. Reconstructing effective phase connectivity of oscillator networks from observations. New J. Phys., 16:085013, 2014.
- [KS03] H. Kantz and T. Schreiber. Nonlinear Time Series Analysis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2nd edition, 2003.
- [KSA11] Vimal Kishore, M. S. Santhanam, and R. E. Amritkar. Extreme events on complex networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:188701, 5 2011.
- [KSA12] V. Kishore, M.S. Santhanam, and R. E. Amritkar. Extreme events and event size fluctuations in biased random walks on networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 85:056120, 2012.
- [KSB11] P. Kwan, S. C. Schachter, and M. J. Brodie. Drug-resistant epilepsy. N. Engl. J. Med., 365:919– 926, 2011.
- [KSG04] A. Kraskov, H. Stögbauer, and P. Grassberger. Estimating mutual information. *Phys. Rev. E*, 69:066138, 2004.
- [KSS13] Vimal Kishore, Abhijeet R. Sonawane, and M. S. Santhanam. Manipulation of extreme events on scale-free networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 88:014801, 2013.
- [Kub66] Rep Kubo. The fluctuation-dissipation theorem. Rep. Prog. Phys., 29:255, 1966.
- [Kue15] Christian Kuehn. Multiple time scale dynamics, volume 191. Springer, New York, NY, 2015.
- [Kug13a] D. Kugiumtzis. Direct-coupling information measure from nonuniform embedding. *Phys. Rev.* E, 87:062918, 2013.
- [Kug13b] D. Kugiumtzis. Partial transfer entropy on rank vectors. Eur. Phys. J.-Spec. Top., 222(2):401-420, 2013.
- [Kur84] Y. Kuramoto. Chemical Oscillations, Waves and

Turbulence. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1984.

- [KVADR⁺15] Jan J Kuiper, Cassandra Van Altena, Peter C De Ruiter, Luuk PA Van Gerven, Jan H Janse, and Wolf M Mooij. Food-web stability signals critical transitions in temperate shallow lakes. Nat. Commun., 6:7727, 2015.
- [KvEZ⁺17] Hui Ming Khoo, Nicolás von Ellenrieder, Natalja Zazubovits, François Dubeau, and Jean Gotman. Epileptic networks in action: synchrony between distant hemodynamic responses. Ann. Neurol., 82:57-66, 2017.
- [KVK13] A. Koseska, E. Volkov, and J. Kurths. Oscillation quenching mechanisms: Amplitude vs. oscillation death. *Phys. Rep.*, 531:173 – 199, 2013.
- [KVS⁺05] S. Kalitzin, D. Velis, P. Suffczynski, J. Parra, and F. Lopes da Silva. Electrical brain-stimulation paradigm for estimating the seizure onset site and the time to ictal transition in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 116:718–728, 2005.
- [KZG15] Christian Kuehn, Gerd Zschaler, and Thilo Gross. Early warning signs for saddle-escape transitions in complex networks. Sci. Rep., 5:13190, 2015.
- [LAB⁺14] K. Lehnertz, G. Ansmann, S. Bialonski, H. Dickten, C. Geier, and S. Porz. Evolving networks in the human epileptic brain. *Physica D*, 267:7–15, 2014.
- [Lai17] Pik-Yin Lai. Reconstructing network topology and coupling strengths in directed networks of discretetime dynamics. *Phys. Rev. E*, 95:022311, 2017.
- [Lan09] Douglas J Lanska. Historical perspective: neurological advances from studies of war injuries and illnesses. Ann. Neurol., 66(4):444-459, 2009.
- [LAS08] Sergi Lozano, Alex Arenas, and Angel Sanchez. Mesoscopic structure conditions the emergence of cooperation on social networks. *PLoS one*, 3(4):e1892, 2008.
- [Lau12] H. Laufs. Functional imaging of seizures and epilepsy: evolution from zones to networks. Curr. Opin. Neurol., 25:194-200, 2012.
- [LBH⁺09] K. Lehnertz, S. Bialonski, M.-T. Horstmann, D. Krug, A. Rothkegel, M. Staniek, and T. Wagner. Synchronization phenomena in human epileptic brain networks. J. Neurosci. Methods, 183:42-48, 2009.
- [LBR20] Klaus Lehnertz, Timo Bröhl, and Thorsten Rings. The human organism as an integrated interaction network: Recent conceptual and methodological challenges. Front. Physiol., 11:1694, 2020.
- [LCAC15] Rui Liu, Pei Chen, Kazuyuki Aihara, and Luonan Chen. Identifying early-warning signals of critical transitions with strong noise by dynamical network markers. Sci. Rep., 5:17501, 2015.
- [LCR⁺16] L. Lü, D. Chen, X.-L. Ren, Q.-M. Zhang, Y.-C. Zhang, and T. Zho. Vital nodes identification in complex networks. *Phys. Rep.*, 650:1–63, 2016.
- [LD15] Klaus Lehnertz and Henning Dickten. Assessing directionality and strength of coupling through symbolic analysis: an application to epilepsy patients. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A*, 373:20140094, 2015.
- [LDP⁺16] Klaus Lehnertz, Henning Dickten, Stephan Porz, Christoph Helmstaedter, and Christian E. Elger. Predictability of uncontrollable multifocal seizures – towards new treatment options. Sci. Rep., 6:24584, 2016.
- [LDR18] Nastaran Lotfi, Amir Hossein Darooneh, and Francisco A Rodrigues. Centrality in earthquake

multiplex networks. Chaos, 28(6):063113, 2018.

- [LE19] J Latikka and H Eskola. The resistivity of human brain tumours in vivo. Ann. Biomed. Eng., 47(3):706-713, 2019.
- [Leh06] K. Lehnertz. Epilepsy: extreme events in the human brain, pages 123-143. Springer, New York, 2006.
- [Leh11] K. Lehnertz. Assessing directed interactions from neurophysiological signals – an overview. *Physiol. Meas.*, 32:1715–1724, 2011.
- [LFB⁺16] Erik K St Louis, LC Frey, JW Britton, JL Hopp, P Korb, MZ Koubeissi, WE Lievens, and EM Pestana-Knight. Electroencephalography (EEG): An Introductory Text and Atlas of Normal and Abnormal Findings in Adults Children, and Infants. American Epilepsy Society, Chicago, 2016.
- [LGB⁺14] Josef Ludescher, Avi Gozolchiani, Mikhail I. Bogachev, Armin Bunde, Shlomo Havlin, and Hans Joachim Schellnhuber. Very early warning of next el Niño. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 111:2064–2066, 2014.
- [LGRS17] Klaus Lehnertz, Christian Geier, Thorsten Rings, and Kirsten Stahn. Capturing time-varying brain dynamics. *EPJ Nonlin. Biomed. Phys.*, 5:2, 2017.
- [LHCZ17] Junhao Liang, Yanqing Hu, Guanrong Chen, and Tianshou Zhou. A universal indicator of critical state transitions in noisy complex networked systems. Sci. Rep., 7:42857, 2017.
- [LIP⁺18] Gemma Lancaster, Dmytro Iatsenko, Aleksandra Pidde, Valentina Ticcinelli, and Aneta Stefanovska. Surrogate data for hypothesis testing of physical systems. *Phys. Rep.*, 748:1–60, 2018.
- [Liu04] Z. Liu. Measuring the degree of synchronization from time series data. Europhys. Lett., 68:19–25, 2004.
- [LKLK15] Deokjae Lee, Jae-Young Kim, Jeho Lee, and B. Kahng. Forest-fire model as a supercritical dynamic model in financial systems. *Phys. Rev. E*, 91:022806, 2015.
- [LKT17] Benedict J Lünsmann, Christoph Kirst, and Marc Timme. Transition to reconstructibility in weakly coupled networks. *PLoS ONE*, 12:e0186624, 2017.
- [LLM15] Vangipuram Lakshmikantham, Srinivasa Leela, and Anatoly A Martynyuk. Stability analysis of nonlinear systems. Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, 2nd edition, 2015.
- [Llo82] S. Lloyd. Least squares quantization in PCM. IEEE Trans. Inf. Theor., 28:129–137, 1982.
- [LLTŽ19] Marc G Leguia, Zoran Levnajić, Ljupčo Todorovski, and Bernard Ženko. Reconstructing dynamical networks via feature ranking. *Chaos*, 29:093107, 2019.
- [LMK16] Bethany Lusch, Pedro D Maia, and J Nathan Kutz. Inferring connectivity in networked dynamical systems: Challenges using Granger causality. *Phys. Rev. E*, 94:032220, 2016.
- [LMM⁺17] H. Liao, M. S. Mariani, M.Medo, Y.-C. Zhang, and M.-Y. Zhou. Ranking in evolving complex networks. *Phys. Rep.*, 689:1–54, 2017.
- [LMM⁺19] Marc G Leguia, Cristina G. B. Martínez, Irene Malvestio, Adrià Tauste Campo, Rodrigo Rocamora, Zoran Levnajić, and Ralph G Andrzejak. Inferring directed networks using a rank-based connectivity measure. *Phys. Rev. E*, 99:012319, 2019.
- [LNN⁺06] Hans O Lüders, Imad Najm, Dileep Nair, Peter

Widdess-Walsh, and William Bingman. The epileptogenic zone: general principles. *Epileptic Disord.*, 8:1–9, 2006.

- [Lop93] F. H. Lopes da Silva. EEG analysis: Theory and practice. In E. Niedermayer and F. H. Lopes da Silva, editors, *Electroencephalography, Basic Principles, Clinical Applications and Related Fields*, page 1097. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, 3rd edition, 1993.
- [Lor63] E. N. Lorenz. Deterministic non-periodic flow. J. Atmos. Sci., 20:130-141, 1963.
- [LP11] Zoran Levnajić and Arkady Pikovsky. Network reconstruction from random phase resetting. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:034101, 2011.
- [LP14] Zoran Levnajić and Arkady Pikovsky. Untangling complex dynamical systems via derivative-variable correlations. Sci. Rep., 4:5030, 2014.
- [LPD⁺13] L. Leistritz, B. Pester, A. Doering, K. Schiecke, F. Babiloni, L. Astolfi, and H. Witte. Time-variant partial directed coherence for analysing connectivity: a methodological study. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. A*, 371:20110616, 2013.
- [LRB21] Klaus Lehnertz, Thorsten Rings, and Timo Bröhl. Time in brain: How biological rhythms impact on eeg signals and on eeg-derived brain networks. Front. Netw. Physiol., 1:755016, 2021.
- [LS08] Loet Leydesdorff and Thomas Schank. Dynamic animations of journal maps: Indicators of structural changes and interdisciplinary developments. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci., 59(11):1810-1818, 2008.
- [LSM⁺20] Raphael Liégeois, Augusto Santos, Vincenzo Matta, Dimitri Van De Ville, and Ali H Sayed. Revisiting correlation-based functional connectivity and its relationship with structural connectivity. Netw. Neurosci., 4(4):1235–1251, 2020.
- [LSN⁺05] M. Le Van Quyen, J. Soss, V. Navarro, R. Robertson, M. Chavez, M. Baulac, and J. Martinerie. Preictal state identification by synchronization changes in long-term intracranial EEG recordings. *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 116:559–568, 2005.
- [Lur62] Aleksandr Romanovich Luria. Higher cortical functions in man. Moscow University Press, Moscow, 1962.
- [Lya92] A. M. Lyapunov. The general problem of motion stability. Ann. Math. Stud., 17, 1892.
- [LYL⁺16] Y.-H. Li, X.-L. Ye, Q.-Q. Liu, J.-W. Mao, P.-J. Liang, J.-W. Xu, and P.-M. Zhang. Localization of epileptogenic zone based on graph analysis of stereo-EEG. *Epilepsy Res.*, 128:149–157, 2016.
- [MA14] J. M. Miotto and E. G. Altmann. Predictability of extreme events in social media. *PLOS ONE*, 9:1– 7, 2014.
- [Mac67] J. B. MacQueen. Some methods for classification and analysis of multivariate observations. In M. Le Cam and J. Neyman, editors, Proceedings of 5th Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, pages 281–297, Berkeley, USA, 1967. University of California Press.
- [MAEL07] F. Mormann, R. Andrzejak, C. E. Elger, and K. Lehnertz. Seizure prediction: the long and winding road. *Brain*, 130:314-333, 2007.
- [May77] Robert M May. Thresholds and breakpoints in ecosystems with a multiplicity of stable states. Nature, 269:471-477, 1977.
- [MBK15] Colm Mulhern, Stephan Bialonski, and Holger Kantz. Extreme events due to localization of energy.

Phys. Rev. E, 91:012918, 2015.

- [MC15] M. Mula and H. R. Cock. More than seizures: improving the lives of people with refractory epilepsy. *Eur. J. Neurol.*, 22:24–30, 2015.
- [MD15] Julian Maluck and Reik V Donner. A network of networks perspective on global trade. *PloS ONE*, 10:e0133310, 2015.
- [MDOD04] Scott Makeig, Stefan Debener, Julie Onton, and Arnaud Delorme. Mining event-related brain dynamics. *Trends Cogn. Sci.*, 8:204–210, 2004.
- [Meh04] M. L. Mehta. Random matrices. Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, third edition, 2004.
- [Mém11] Facundo Mémoli. Gromov-Wasserstein distances and the metric approach to object matching. Found. Comput. Math., 11:417-487, 2011.
- [Mer50] Matthäus Merian. Konigsberga. engraving on copper, University and State Library Darmstadt, Darmstadt, ca. 1650.
- [Mer92] E. Meron. Pattern formation in excitable media. Phys. Rep., 218:1–66, 1992.
- [MF22] Víctor Muñoz and Eduardo Flández. Complex network study of solar magnetograms. *Entropy*, 24(6):753, 2022.
- [MFL⁺08] Wolfgang Mader, David Feess, Rüdiger Lange, Dorothee Saur, Volkmar Glauche, Cornelius Weiller, Jens Timmer, and Björn Schelter. On the detection of direct directed information flow in fMRI. *IEEE J.* Sel. Top. Sign. Proces., 2:965–974, 2008.
- [MHD16] Elliot A. Martin, Jaroslav Hlinka, and Jörn Davidsen. Pairwise network information and nonlinear correlations. *Phys. Rev. E*, 94:040301, 2016.
- [MHM⁺17] Elliot A Martin, Jaroslav Hlinka, Alexander Meinke, Filip Děchtěrenko, Jaroslav Tintěra, Isaura Oliver, and Jörn Davidsen. Network inference and maximum entropy estimation on information diagrams. Sci. Rep., 7:7062, 2017.
- [MHMK13] Peter J Menck, Jobst Heitzig, Norbert Marwan, and Jürgen Kurths. How basin stability complements the linear-stability paradigm. Nat. Phys., 9:89-92, 2013.
- [MHVD09] M. Muskulus, S. Houweling, S. Verduyn-Lunel, and A. Daffertshofer. Functional similarities and distance properties. J. Neurosci. Methods, 183:31-41, 2009.
- [MKR⁺05] F. Mormann, T. Kreuz, C. Rieke, R. G. Andrzejak, A. Kraskov, P. David, C. E. Elger, and K. Lehnertz. On the predictability of epileptic seizures. *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 116:569–587, 2005.
- [MLDE00] F. Mormann, K. Lehnertz, P. David, and C. E. Elger. Mean phase coherence as a measure for phase synchronization and its application to the EEG of epilepsy patients. *Physica D*, 144:358-369, 2000.
- [MMT⁺15] W. Mader, M. Mader, J. Timmer, M. Thiel, and B. Schelter. Networks: On the relation of bi-and multivariate measures. Sci. Rep., 5:10805, 2015.
- [MP20] Jahangir Moini and Pirouz Piran. Functional and Clinical Neuroanatomy: A Guide for Health Care Professionals. Academic Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 2020.
- [MPRT15] S. L. Moshé, E. Perucca, P. Ryvlin, and T. Tomson. Epilepsy: new advances. Lancet, 385:884 - 898, 2015.
- [MRTK07] N. Marwan, M. C. Romano, M. Thiel, and J. Kurths. Recurrence plots for the analysis of complex systems. *Phys. Rep.*, 438:237–329, 2007.

- [MS16] Piotr Milanowski and Piotr Suffczynski. Seizures start without common signatures of critical transition. Int. J. Neural Syst., 26:1650053, 2016.
- [MSS⁺09] P. Manshour, S. Saberi, Muhammad Sahimi, J. Peinke, Amalio F. Pacheco, and M. Reza Rahimi Tabar. Turbulencelike behavior of seismic time series. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 102:014101, 2009.
- [MSS⁺12] Michael C. Münnix, Takashi Shimada, Rudi Schäfer, Francois Leyvraz, Thomas H. Seligman, Thomas Guhr, and Eugene H. Stanley. Identifying states of a financial market. *Sci. Rep.*, 2:644, 2012.
- [MTG⁺18] Rosa Michaelis, Venus Tang, Laura H Goldstein, Markus Reuber, William Curt LaFrance Jr, Tobias Lundgren, Avani C Modi, and Janelle L Wagner. Psychological treatments for adults and children with epilepsy: Evidence-based recommendations by the International League Against Epilepsy Psychology Task Force. *Epilepsia*, 59:1282–1302, 2018.
- [MWH20] Ahmad Mheich, Fabrice Wendling, and Mahmoud Hassan. Brain network similarity: methods and applications. Network Neurosci., 4:507-527, 2020.
- [MYL⁺16] J.-W. Mao, X.-L. Ye, Y.-H. Li, P.-J. Liang, J.-W. Xu, and P.-M. Zhang. Dynamic network connectivity analysis to identify epileptogenic zones based on stereo-electroencephalography. *Front. Comput. Neurosci.*, 10:113, 2016.
- [MZK05] A. E. Motter, C. Zhou, and J. Kurths. Network synchronization, diffusion, and the paradox of heterogeneity. *Phys. Rev. E*, 71:016116, 2005.
- [MZK06] Adilson E. Motter, Changsong Zhou, and Jurgen Kurths. Enhancing complex-network synchronization. *Europhys. Lett.*, 69:334–340, 2006.
- [MZL17] Chuang Ma, Hai-Feng Zhang, and Ying-Cheng Lai. Reconstructing complex networks without time series. *Phys. Rev. E*, 96:022320, 2017.
- [N⁺12] National Research Council et al. Assessing the reliability of complex models: mathematical and statistical foundations of verification, validation, and uncertainty quantification. National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2012.
- [NAK⁺18] Y. Nagai, J. Aram, M. Koepp, L. Lemieux, M. Mula, H. Critchley, S. Sisodiya, and M. Cercignani. Epileptic seizures are reduced by autonomic biofeedback therapy through enhancement of frontolimbic connectivity: A controlled trial and neuroimaging study. *EBioMedicine*, 27:112–122, 2018.
- [Nay11] Ali H Nayfeh. Introduction to perturbation techniques. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, 2011.
- [NCT17] Mor Nitzan, Jose Casadiego, and Marc Timme. Revealing physical interaction networks from statistics of collective dynamics. Sci. Adv., 3:e1600396, 2017.
- [New01] M. E. J. Newman. Scientific collaboration networks. II. Shortest paths, weighted networks, and centrality. *Phys. Rev. E*, 64:016132, 2001.
- [New02a] M. E. J. Newman. Assortative mixing in networks. Phys. Rev. Lett., 89:208701, 2002.
- [New02b] M. E. J. Newman. Spread of epidemic disease on networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 66:016128, 2002.
- [New12] M. E. J. Newman. Communities, modules and large-scale structure in networks. Nat. Phys., 8:25– 31, 2012.
- [New18] Mark Newman. Networks. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2018.
- [NL05] E. Niedermeyer and F. Lopes da Silva. Elec-

troencephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields. Lippincott Williams and Williams, Philadelphia, 2005.

- [NL18] Linda Null and Julia Lobur. Essentials of Computer Organization and Architecture. Jones & Bartlett Learning, Burlington, 5th edition, 2018.
- [NMLH03] T. Nishikawa, A. E. Motter, Y. C. Lai, and F. C. Hoppensteadt. Heterogeneity in oscillator networks: Are smaller worlds easier to synchronize? *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 91:014101, 2003.
- [Noi13] William George Noid. Perspective: Coarse-grained models for biomolecular systems. J. Chem. Phys., 139(9):09B201 1, 2013.
- [NRT⁺10] J. Nawrath, M. C. Romano, M. Thiel, I. Z. Kiss, M. Wickramasinghe, J. Timmer, J. Kurths, and B. Schelter. Distinguishing direct from indirect interactions in oscillatory networks with multiple time scales. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:038701, 2010.
- [NSW⁺97] P. L. Nunez, R. Srinivasan, A. F. Westdorp, R. S. Wijesinghe, D. M. Tucker, R. B. Silberstein, and P. J. Cadusch. EEG coherency I: statistics, reference electrode, volume conduction, Laplacians, cortical imaging, and interpretation at multiple scales. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 103:499-515, 1997.
- [OAS10] T. Opsahl, F. Agneessens, and J. Skvoretz. Node centrality in weighted networks: Generalizing degree and shortest paths. Soc. Networks, 32:245–251, 2010.
- [OBD⁺11] Jens M Olesen, Jordi Bascompte, Yoko L Dupont, Heidi Elberling, Claus Rasmussen, and Pedro Jordano. Missing and forbidden links in mutualistic networks. Proc. Roy. Soc. B: Biological Sciences, 278:725-732, 2011.
- [OMSL07] H. Osterhage, F. Mormann, M. Staniek, and K. Lehnertz. Measuring synchronization in the epileptic brain: A comparison of different approaches. Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos Appl. Sci. Eng., 17:3539–3544, 2007.
- [OMWL08] H. Osterhage, F. Mormann, T. Wagner, and K. Lehnertz. Detecting directional coupling in the human epileptic brain: Limitations and potential pitfalls. *Phys. Rev. E*, 77:011914, 2008.
- [OSH⁺07] J. P. Onnela, J. Saramäki, J. Hyvönen, G. Szábo, D. Lazer, K. Kaski, J. Kertész, and A.-L. Barabási. Structure and tie strengths in mobile communication networks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 104(18):7332-7336, 2007.
- [OSKK05] J. P. Onnela, J. Saramäki, J. Kertész, and K. Kaski. Intensity and coherence of motifs in weighted complex networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 71:065103, 2005.
- [Pal07] Milan Paluš. From nonlinearity to causality: statistical testing and inference of physical mechanisms underlying complex dynamics. *Contemp. Phys.*, 48:307-348, 2007.
- [PBV07] Gergely Palla, Albert-László Barabási, and Tamás Vicsek. Quantifying social group evolution. *Nature*, 446:664–667, 2007.
- [PCL⁺19] Mark J Panaggio, Maria-Veronica Ciocanel, Lauren Lazarus, Chad M Topaz, and Bin Xu. Model reconstruction from temporal data for coupled oscillator networks. *Chaos*, 29:103116, 2019.
- [PDG12] Luce Prignano and Albert Díaz-Guilera. Extracting topological features from dynamical measures in networks of Kuramoto oscillators. *Phys. Rev.* E, 85:036112, 2012.

- [PDG13] Piero Perucca, François Dubeau, and Jean Gotman. Widespread EEG changes precede focal seizures. *PloS one*, 8:e80972, 2013.
- [Pei18] Tiago P Peixoto. Reconstructing networks with unknown and heterogeneous errors. Phys. Rev. X, 8(4):041011, 2018.
- [Pei19] Tiago P Peixoto. Network reconstruction and community detection from dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 123:128301, 2019.
- [PF13] Hae-Jeong Park and Karl Friston. Structural and functional brain networks: From connections to cognition. Science, 342:1238411, 2013.
- [Pic12] Ina Pichlmayr. *EEG atlas for anesthesiologists*. Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, 2012.
- [Pik16] A. Pikovsky. Reconstruction of a neural network from a time series of firing rates. *Phys. Rev. E*, 93:062313, 2016.
- [Pik18] A Pikovsky. Reconstruction of a random phase dynamics network from observations. *Phys. Lett. A*, 382:147-152, 2018.
- [PKKD13] A. Papana, C. Kyrtsou, D. Kugiumtzis, and C. Diks. Simulation study of direct causality measures in multivariate time series. *Entropy*, 15:2635– 2661, 2013.
- [PKL14] Stephan Porz, Matthaeus Kiel, and Klaus Lehnertz. Can spurious indications for phase synchronization due to superimposed signals be avoided? *Chaos*, 24:033112, 2014.
- [PQQB05] E. Pereda, R. Quian Quiroga, and J. Bhattacharya. Nonlinear multivariate analysis of neurophysiological signals. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 77:1–37, 2005.
- [PR89] W. H. Press and G. B. Rybicki. Fast algorithm for spectral analysis of unevenly sampled data. Astrophys. J., 338:277-280, 1989.
- [PR12] Scott D. Pauls and Daniel Remondini. Measures of centrality based on the spectrum of the Laplacian. *Phys. Rev. E*, 85:066127, 2012.
- [PR13] Volker Pernice and Stefan Rotter. Reconstruction of sparse connectivity in neural networks from spike train covariances. J. Stat. Mech. Theor. Exp., 2013(03):P03008, 2013.
- [PRK01] A. S. Pikovsky, M. G. Rosenblum, and J. Kurths. Synchronization: A universal concept in nonlinear sciences. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2001.
- [Pro88] Itamar Procaccia. Complex or just complicated? Nature, 333(6173):498-499, 1988.
- [PSCVMV15] Romualdo Pastor-Satorras, Claudio Castellano, Piet Van Mieghem, and Alessandro Vespignani. Epidemic processes in complex networks. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 87:925–979, 2015.
- [PSH15] Jonathan D. Phillips, Wolfgang Schwanghart, and Tobias Heckmann. Graph theory in the geosciences. *Earth-Science Rev.*, 143:147-160, 2015.
- [PSK08] Matej Praprotnik, Luigi Delle Site, and Kurt Kremer. Multiscale simulation of soft matter: From scale bridging to adaptive resolution. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem., 59:545-571, 2008.
- [PV07] M. Paluš and M. Vejmelka. Directionality of coupling from bivariate time series: How to avoid false causalities and missed connections. *Phys. Rev. E*, 75:056211, 2007.
- [PV18] L. Parrino and A. E. Vaudano. The resilient brain and the guardians of sleep: New perspectives on old assumptions. *Sleep Med. Rev.*, 39:98–107, 2018.

- [PV22] Alexey Piunovskiy and Bakhtier Vasiev. Modelling ethnogenesis. *BioSystems*, 219:104731, 2022.
- [PZMB16] David Papo, Massimiliano Zanin, Johann H Martínez, and Javier M Buldú. Beware of the smallworld neuroscientist! Front. Hum. Neurosci., 10:96, 2016.
- [QAS13] Rick Quax, Andrea Apolloni, and Peter M. A. Sloot. The diminishing role of hubs in dynamical processes on complex networks. J. R. Soc. Interface, 10:20130568, 2013.
- [QLZ⁺17] Yuhua Qian, Yebin Li, Min Zhang, Guoshuai Ma, and Furong Lu. Quantifying edge significance on maintaining global connectivity. Sci. Rep., 7:45380, 2017.
- [QQAG00] R. Quian Quiroga, J. Arnhold, and P. Grassberger. Learning driver-response relationships from synchronization patterns. *Phys. Rev. E*, 61:5142-5148, 2000.
- [QR65] James Quirk and Richard Ruppert. Qualitative economics and the stability of equilibrium. Rev. Econ. Stud., 32(4):311-326, 1965.
- [R76] O. E. Rössler. An equation for continuous chaos. *Phys. Lett. A*, 57:397–398, 1976.
- [RA13] Marlon Ramos and Celia Anteneodo. Random degree-degree correlated networks. J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp., 2013(02):P02024, 2013.
- [Rap22] Wouter-Jan Rappel. The physics of heart rhythm disorders. *Phys. Rep.*, 978:1-45, 2022.
- [RBM⁺22] Arnob Ray, Timo Bröhl, Arindam Mishra, Subrata Ghosh, Dibakar Ghosh, Tomasz Kapitaniak, Syamal K Dana, and Chittaranjan Hens. Extreme events in a complex network: Interplay between degree distribution and repulsive interaction. *Chaos*, 32(12):121103, 2022.
- [RCR17] Jessica C Rozek, Richard J Camp, and J Michael Reed. No evidence of critical slowing down in two endangered hawaiian honeycreepers. *PloS one*, 12(11):e0187518, 2017.
- [RCR⁺20] Thorsten Rings, Roy Cox, Theodor Rüber, Klaus Lehnertz, and Juergen Fell. No evidence for spontaneous cross-frequency phase-phase coupling in the human hippocampus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 51:1735-1742, 2020.
- [REI⁺13] R. Ramb, M. Eichler, A. Ing, M. Thiel, C. Weiller, C. Grebogi, C. Schwarzbauer, J. Timmer, and B. Schelter. The impact of latent confounders in directed network analysis in neuroscience. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A*, 371:20110612, 2013.
- [RFV12] Mikhail I Rabinovich, Karl J Friston, and Pablo Varona, editors. *Principles of brain dynamics: global* state interactions. MIT Press. Cambridge. MA, 2012.
- [RGHLT19] Leonardo Rydin Gorjão, Jan Heysel, Klaus Lehnertz, and M. R. R. Tabar. Analysis and datadriven reconstruction of bivariate jump-diffusion processes. *Phys. Rev. E*, 100:062127, 2019.
- [RGSA⁺18] Leonardo Rydin Gorjão, Arindam Saha, Gerrit Ansmann, Ulrike Feudal, and Klaus Lehnertz. Complexity and irreducibility of dynamics on networks of networks. *Chaos: An Interdiscipilinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 28:106306, 2018.
- [RHPK12] Jakob Runge, Jobst Heitzig, Vladimir Petoukhov, and Juergen Kurths. Escaping the curse of dimensionality in estimating multivariate transfer entropy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108:258701, 2012.
- [Ric10] M. Richardson. Current themes in neuroimaging of epilepsy: Brain networks, dynamic phenom-

ena, and clinical relevance. Clin. Neurophysiol., 121:1153-1175, 2010.

- [RL01] F. Rosenow and H. Lüders. Presurgical evaluation of epilepsy. Brain, 124:1683-1700, 2001.
- [RL11] Alexander Rothkegel and Klaus Lehnertz. Recurrent events of synchrony in complex networks of pulse-coupled oscillators. *Europhys. Lett.*, 95:38001, 2011.
- [RL12] Alexander Rothkegel and Klaus Lehnertz. Conedy: A scientific tool to investigate complex network dynamics. *Chaos*, 22:013125, 2012.
- [RL16] T. Rings and K. Lehnertz. Distinguishing between direct and indirect directional couplings in large oscillator networks: partial or non-partial phase analyses? *Chaos*, 26:093106, 2016.
- [RM05] Lior Rokach and Oded Maimon. Clustering methods. In O. Maimon and L. Rokach, editors, *Data* mining and knowledge discovery handbook, pages 321-352. Springer, Boston, MA, 2005.
- [RMBM⁺14] N. Rubido, A. C. Marti, E. Bianco-Martinez, C. Grebogi, M. S. Baptista, and C. Masoller. Exact detection of direct links in networks of interacting dynamical units. *New J. Phys.*, 16:093010, 2014.
- [RMF⁺14] A C Rodrigues, B S Machado, G Florence, A P Hamad, A C Sakamoto, A Fujita, L A Baccalá, E Amaro Jr, and K Sameshima. Brain network dynamics characterization in epileptic seizures. *Eur. Phys. J.-Spec. Top.*, 223:2933–2941, 2014.
- [RN88] Joseph Lee Rodgers and W. Alan Nicewander. Thirteen ways to look at the correlation coefficient. Am. Stat., 42:59–66, 1988.
- [Roc17] Luis EC Rocha. Dynamics of air transport networks: A review from a complex systems perspective. *Chinese J. Aeronaut.*, 30(2):469-478, 2017.
- [RP01] M. G. Rosenblum and A. S. Pikovsky. Detecting direction of coupling in interacting oscillators. *Phys. Rev. E*, 64:045202(R), 2001.
- [RPK97] M. G. Rosenblum, A. S. Pikovsky, and J. Kurths. From phase to lag synchronization in coupled chaotic oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 78:4193-4196, 1997.
- [RPK⁺01] M. G. Rosenblum, A. S. Pikovsky, J. Kurths, C. Schaefer, and P. A. Tass. Phase synchronization: from theory to data analysis. In F. Moss and S. Gielen, editors, *Handbook of Biological Physics*, pages 297–321. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 2001.
- [RRMV22] David Rodríguez-Rodríguez and Javier Martínez-Vega. Human Impact on the Biosphere: A Contemporary Ecocide, pages 1–10. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2022.
- [RSWT14] Martin Rohden, Andreas Sorge, Dirk Witthaut, and Marc Timme. Impact of network topology on synchrony of oscillatory power grids. *Chaos*, 24(1):013123, 2014.
- [RTSJ⁺14] Sriram Ramgopal, Sigride Thome-Souza, Michele Jackson, Navah Ester Kadish, Iván Sánchez Fernández, Jacquelyn Klehm, William Bosl, Claus Reinsberger, Steven Schachter, and Tobias Loddenkemper. Seizure detection, seizure prediction, and closed-loop warning systems in epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav., 37:291-307, 2014.
- [Run15] Jakob Runge. Quantifying information transfer and mediation along causal pathways in complex systems. *Phys. Rev. E*, 92:062829, 2015.
- [RVWB⁺21] Thorsten Rings, Randi Von Wrede, Timo Bröhl, Sophia Schach, Christoph Helmstaedter, and Klaus Lehnertz. Impact of transcutaneous auricu-

lar vagus nerve stimulation on large-scale functional brain networks: From local to global. *Front. Physiol.*, page 1328, 2021.

- [SA05] D. A. Smirnov and R. G. Andrzejak. Detection of weak directional coupling: Phase dynamics approach versus state-space approach. *Phys. Rev. E*, 61:036207, 2005.
- [SA20] Per Sebastian Skardal and Alex Arenas. Higher order interactions in complex networks of phase oscillators promote abrupt synchronization switching. *Commun. Phys.*, 3(1):218, 2020.
- [SB07] Gonzalo Moreno Sanchez and Alwyn Louise Burridge. Decision making in head injury management in the Edwin Smith Papyrus. *Neurosurg. Focus.*, 23(1):1-9, 2007.
- [SB09] D. A. Smirnov and B. P. Bezruchko. Detection of couplings in ensembles of stochastic oscillators. *Phys. Rev. E*, 79:046204, 2009.
- [SB10] N. K. So and W. T. Blume. The postictal EEG. Epilepsy Behav., 19:121-126, 2010.
- [SB17] Andreas Schulze-Bonhage. Brain stimulation as a neuromodulatory epilepsy therapy. Seizure, 44:169– 175, 2017.
- [SBB⁺09] Marten Scheffer, Jordi Bascompte, William A. Brock, Victor Brovkin, Stephen R. Carpenter, Vasilis Dakos, Hermann Held, Egbert H. van Nes, Max Rietkerk, and George Sugihara. Early-warning signals for critical transitions. *Nature*, 461(7260):53–59, 2009.
- [SBH⁺08] K. Schindler, S. Bialonski, M.-T. Horstmann, C. E. Elger, and K. Lehnertz. Evolving functional network properties and synchronizability during human epileptic seizures. *Chaos*, 18:033119, 2008.
- [SC13] Saeid Sanei and Jonathon A Chambers. EEG signal processing. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, 2013.
- [Sca10] Luca Scardovi. Clustering and synchronization in phase models with state dependent coupling. In 49th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), pages 627-632. IEEE, 2010.
- [SCF⁺01] Marten Scheffer, Steve Carpenter, Jonathan A Foley, Carl Folke, and Brian Walker. Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Nature*, 413(6856):591-596, 2001.
- [Sch98] T. Schreiber. Constrained randomization of time series data. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 80:2105, 1998.
- [Sch00] T. Schreiber. Measuring information transfer. Phys. Rev. Lett., 85:461-464, 2000.
- [Sch02] Helen E Scharfman. Epilepsy as an example of neural plasticity. *Neuroscientist*, 8(2):154-173, 2002.
- [Sch05] Steven J Schiff. Dangerous phase. Neuroinformatics, 3:315–317, 2005.
- [Sch16] Eckehard Schöll. Synchronization patterns and chimera states in complex networks: Interplay of topology and dynamics. *Eur. Phys. J. Spec. Top.*, 225(6):891-919, 2016.
- [Sch20] Marten Scheffer. Critical transitions in nature and society, volume 16. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 2020.
- [SCL⁺12] Marten Scheffer, Stephen R. Carpenter, Timothy M. Lenton, Jordi Bascompte, William Brock, Vasilis Dakos, Johan van de Koppel, Ingrid A. van de Leemput, Simon A. Levin, Egbert H. van Nes, Mercedes Pascual, and John Vandermeer. Anticipating critical transitions. *Science*, 338:344–348, 2012.
- [SDE12] M. Siegel, T. H. Donner, and A. K. Engel. Spectral fingerprints of large-scale neuronal interactions.

Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 13:121-134, 2012.

- [SDMS12] Tomislav Stankovski, Andrea Duggento, Peter V. E. McClintock, and Aneta Stefanovska. Inference of time-evolving coupled dynamical systems in the presence of noise. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 109:024101, 2012.
- [Sey09] Rüdiger Seydel. Practical bifurcation and stability analysis, volume 5. Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, 3rd edition, 2009.
- [SF21] Sarah Schoenmakers and Ulrike Feudel. A resilience concept based on system functioning: A dynamical systems perspective. *Chaos*, 31:053126, 2021.
- [SG05] A. Schnitzler and J. Gross. Normal and pathological oscillatory communication in the brain. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 6:285-296, 2005.
- [SGZ18] Dennis D Spencer, Jason L Gerrard, and Hitten P Zaveri. The roles of surgery and technology in understanding focal epilepsy and its comorbidities. *The Lancet Neurol.*, 17:373–382, 2018.
- [Sha48] C. E. Shannon. A mathematical theory of communication. Bell System Technol. J, 27:379-423, 1948.
- [SJ18] Camellia Sarkar and Sarika Jalan. Spectral properties of complex networks. Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science, 28(10):102101, 2018.
- [SK16] Justus T. C. Schwabedal and Holger Kantz. Optimal extraction of collective oscillations from unreliable measurements. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116:104101, 2016.
- [SL07] M. Staniek and K. Lehnertz. Parameter selection in permutation entropy measurements. Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos Appl. Sci. Eng., 17:3729, 2007.
- [SL17] Kirsten Stahn and Klaus Lehnertz. Surrogateassisted identification of influences of network construction on evolving weighted functional networks. *Chaos*, 27:123106, 2017.
- [SMG15] Tiziano Squartini, Rossana Mastrandrea, and Diego Garlaschelli. Unbiased sampling of network ensembles. New J. Phys., 17(2):023052, 2015.
- [Smi14] Dmitry A. Smirnov. Quantification of causal couplings via dynamical effects: A unifying perspective. *Phys. Rev. E*, 90:062921, 2014.
- [SMP⁺22] Adekunle Sanyaolu, Aleksandra Marinkovic, Stephanie Prakash, Abu Fahad Abbasi, Risha Patidar, Martina Williams, Anne Zhao, Gideon Dzando, Chuku Okorie, and Ricardo Izurieta. A look at covid-19 global health situation, 1-year post declaration of the pandemic. *Microbiol. Insights*, 15:11786361221089736, 2022.
- [SMS14] Tomislav Stankovski, Peter V. E. McClintock, and Aneta Stefanovska. Dynamical inference: Where phase synchronization and generalized synchronization meet. *Phys. Rev. E*, 89:062909, 2014.
- [SNV14] Nicholas D Schiff, Tanya Nauvel, and Jonathan D Victor. Large-scale brain dynamics in disorders of consciousness. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.*, 25:7–14, 2014.
- [SO12] Didier Sornette and Guy Ouillon. Dragon-kings: mechanisms, statistical methods and empirical evidence. Eur. Phys. J.-Spec. Top., 205(1):1-26, 2012.
- [Sor03] D. Sornette. Critical Phenomena in Natural Sciences. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2003.
- [SP13] J. T. C. Schwabedal and A. Pikovsky. Phase description of stochastic oscillations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:204102, 5 2013.
- [Spe02] S. S. Spencer. Neural networks in human epilepsy:

Evidence of and implications for treatment. *Epilepsia*, 43:219–227, 2002.

- [SPMS17] Tomislav Stankovski, Tiago Pereira, Peter V. E. McClintock, and Aneta Stefanovska. Coupling functions: Universal insights into dynamical interaction mechanisms. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 89:045001, 2017.
- [Spo11] O. Sporns. Networks of the Brain. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 2011.
- [SPP⁺17] K. Schiecke, B. Pester, D. Piper, M. Feucht, F. Benninger, H. Witte, and Lutz J. Leistritz. Advanced nonlinear approach to quantify directed interactions within EEG activity of children with temporal lobe epilepsy in their time course. *EPJ Nonlinear Biomed. Phys.*, 5:3, 2017.
- [SS96] T. Schreiber and A. Schmitz. Improved surrogate data for nonlinearity tests. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 77:635-638, 1996.
- [SS00] T. Schreiber and A. Schmitz. Surrogate time series. *Physica D*, 142:346–382, 2000.
- [SS01] E. Salinas and T. J. Sejnowski. Correlated neuronal activity and the flow of neural information. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 2:539-550, 2001.
- [ST11] Srinivas Gorur Shandilya and Marc Timme. Inferring network topology from complex dynamics. New J. Phys., 13:013004, 2011.
- [Sta14] C. J. Stam. Modern network science of neurological disorders. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 15:683-695, 2014.
- [STMS15] T. Stankovski, V. Ticcinelli, P. V. E. McClintock, and A. Stefanovska. Coupling functions in networks of oscillators. New J. Phys., 17:035002, 2015.
- [STŽ⁺18] Nikola Simidjievski, Jovan Tanevski, Bernard Ženko, Zoran Levnajić, Ljupčo Todorovski, and Sašo Džeroski. Decoupling approximation robustly reconstructs directed dynamical networks. New J. Phys., 20:113003, 2018.
- [STZM11] Dong-Ming Song, Michele Tumminello, Wei-Xing Zhou, and Rosario N Mantegna. Evolution of worldwide stock markets, correlation structure, and correlation-based graphs. *Phys. Rev. E*, 84(2):026108, 2011.
- [Suc19] Sauro Succi. Of naturalness and complexity. Eur. Phys. J. Plus, 134(3):1-12, 2019.
- [SWD⁺06] B. Schelter, M. Winterhalder, R. Dahlhaus, J. Kurths, and J. Timmer. Partial phase synchronization for multivariate synchronizing systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96:208103, 2006.
- [SWE⁺06] Björn Schelter, Matthias Winterhalder, Michael Eichler, Martin Peifer, Bernhard Hellwig, Brigitte Guschlbauer, Carl Hermann Lücking, Rainer Dahlhaus, and Jens Timmer. Testing for directed influences among neural signals using partial directed coherence. J. Neurosci. Methods, 152:210-219, 2006.
- [SWF⁺14] Zhesi Shen, Wen-Xu Wang, Ying Fan, Zengru Di, and Ying-Cheng Lai. Reconstructing propagation networks with natural diversity and identifying hidden sources. Nat. Commun., 5:4323, 2014.
- [SWPM12] S. Stramaglia, Guo-Rong Wu, M. Pellicoro, and D. Marinazzo. Expanding the transfer entropy to identify information circuits in complex systems. *Phys. Rev. E*, 86:066211, 2012.
- [Tab19] M. R. R. Tabar. Analysis and Data-Based Reconstruction of Complex Nonlinear Dynamical Systems: Using the Methods of Stochastic Processes. Springer, Cham-Switzerland, 2019.
- [TAWM09] Anna L Tyler, Folkert W Asselbergs, Scott M

Williams, and Jason H Moore. Shadows of complexity: what biological networks reveal about epistasis and pleiotropy. *Bioessays*, 31:220–227, 2009.

- [Tay15] Alan M Taylor. Credit, financial stability, and the macroeconomy. Annu. Rev. Econ., 7(1):309-339, 2015.
- [TB16] Hoang M Tran and Satish TS Bukkapatnam. Inferring sparse networks for noisy transient processes. *Sci. Rep.*, 6:21963, 2016.
- [TC14] M. Timme and J. Casadiego. Revealing networks from dynamics: an introduction. J. Phys. A, 47:343001, 2014.
- [Tim07] M. Timme. Revealing network connectivity from response dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:224101, 2007.
- [TITP19] Mattia Tantardini, Francesca Ieva, Lucia Tajoli, and Carlo Piccardi. Comparing methods for comparing networks. Sci. Rep., 9:17557, 2019.
- [TJK12] Marzieh S Tahaei, Mahdi Jalili, and Maria G Knyazeva. Synchronizability of EEG-based functional networks in early Alzheimer's disease. *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabilitation Eng.*, 20(5):636– 641, 2012.
- [TLI19] Isao T Tokuda, Zoran Levnajic, and Kazuyoshi Ishimura. A practical method for estimating coupling functions in complex dynamical systems. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A*, 377(2160):20190015, 2019.
- [TMA12] Gouhei Tanaka, Kai Morino, and Kazuyuki Aihara. Dynamical robustness in complex networks: the crucial role of low-degree nodes. *Sci. Rep.*, 2:232, 2012.
- [TR04] A. A. Tsonis and P. J. Roebber. The architecture of the climate network. *Physica A*, 333:497–504, 2004.
- [TRW⁺98] P. A. Tass, M. G. Rosenblum, J. Weule, J. Kurths, A. Pikovsky, J. Volkmann, A. Schnitzler, and H. J. Freund. Detection of n : m phase locking from noisy data: Application to magnetoencephalography. Phys. Rev. Lett., 81:3291–3294, 1998.
- [TSEBM15] Giulio Tirabassi, Ricardo Sevilla-Escoboza, Javier M Buldú, and Cristina Masoller. Inferring the connectivity of coupled oscillators from time-series statistical similarity analysis. Sci. Rep., 5:10829, 2015.
- [TT09] Shanbao Tong and Nitish V Thankor. Quantitative EEG analysis methods and clinical applications. Artech House, Norwood, 2009.
- [UGC⁺⁰⁰] Peter Uetz, Loic Giot, Gerard Cagney, Traci A Mansfield, Richard S Judson, James R Knight, Daniel Lockshon, Vaibhav Narayan, Maithreyan Srinivasan, Pascale Pochart, Alia Qureshi-Emili, Ying Li, Brian Godwin, Diana Conover, Theodore Kalbfleisch, Govindan Vijayadamodar, Meijia Yang, Mark Johnston, Stanley Fields, and Jonathan M. Rothberg. A comprehensive analysis of proteinprotein interactions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nature, 403:623-627, 2000.
- [US06] P. J. Uhlhaas and W. Singer. Neural synchrony in brain disorders: relevance for cognitive dysfunctions and pathophysiology. *Neuron*, 52:155-168, 2006.
- [VDHG⁺21] Pedro F Viana, Jonas Duun-Henriksen, Martin Glasstëter, Matthias Dümpelmann, Ewan S Nurse, Isabel P Martins, Sonya B Dumanis, Andreas Schulze-Bonhage, Dean R Freestone, Benjamin H Brinkmann, et al. 230 days of ultra long-term subcutaneous EEG: seizure cycle analysis and comparison

to patient diary. Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol., 8:288-293, 2021.

- [vdHS13] Martijn P. van den Heuvel and Olaf Sporns. Network hubs in the human brain. Trends Cogn. Sci., 17:683-696, 2013.
- [vK99] Andrej Šali and John Kuriyan. Challenges at the frontiers of structural biology. Trends Biochem. Sci., 24(12):M20-M24, 1999.
- [VKM09] V. A. Vakorin, O. A. Krakovska, and A. R. McIntosh. Confounding effects of indirect connections on causality estimation. J. Neurosci. Methods, 184:152-160, 2009.
- [VLRM01] F. J. Varela, J. P. Lachaux, E. Rodriguez, and J. Martinerie. The brain web: Phase synchronization and large-scale integration. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 2:229-239, 2001.
- [vM11] Piet van Mieghem. Graph spectra for complex networks. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011.
- [vMCH⁺13] P. van Mierlo, E. Carrette, H. Hallez, R. Raedt, A. Meurs, S. Vandenberghe, D Van Roost, P. Boon, S. Staelens, and K. Vonck. Ictal-onset localization through connectivity analysis of intracranial EEG signals in patients with refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 54:1409–1418, 2013.
- [vMSK⁺11] P. van Mieghem, D. Stevanović, F. Kuipers, C. Li, R. van de Bovenkamp, D. Liu, and H. Wang. Decreasing the spectral radius of a graph by link removals. *Phys. Rev. E*, 84:016101, 2011.
- [vRB⁺22] Randi von Wrede, Thorsten Rings, Timo Bröhl, Jan Pukropski, Sophia Schach, Christoph Helmstaedter, and Klaus Lehnertz. Transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation differently modifies functional brain networks of subjects with different epilepsy types. Front. Hum. Neurosci., 16, 2022.
- [VTF⁺12] G. Varotto, L. Tassi, S. Franceschetti, R. Spreafico, and F. Panzica. Epileptogenic networks of type II focal cortical dysplasia: A stereo-EEG study. *NeuroImage*, 61:591–598, 2012.
- [vWBR⁺22] Randi von Wrede, Timo Bröhl, Thorsten Rings, Jan Pukropski, Christoph Helmstaedter, and Klaus Lehnertz. Modifications of functional human brain networks by transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation: Impact of time of day. *Brain Sci.*, 12(5):546, 2022.
- [vWRS⁺21] Randi von Wrede, Thorsten Rings, Sophia Schach, Christoph Helmstaedter, and Klaus Lehnertz. Transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation induces stabilizing modifications in large-scale functional brain networks: towards understanding the effects of taVNS in subjects with epilepsy. Sci. Rep., 11:7906, 2021.
- [vWSD10] B. C. M. van Wijk, C. J. Stam, and A. Daffertshofer. Comparing brain networks of different size and connectivity density using graph theory. *PLoS ONE*, 5:e13701, 2010.
- [WDB⁺07] J. Waddell, R. Dzakpasu, V Booth, B. Riley, J. Reasor, G. Poe, and M. Zochowski. Causal entropies-A measure for determining changes in the temporal organization of neural systems. J. Neurosci. Methods, 162:320-332, 2007.
- [WDHK⁺19] Sigge Weisdorf, Jonas Duun-Henriksen, Marianne J Kjeldsen, Frantz R Poulsen, Sirin W Gangstad, and Troels W Kjær. Ultra-long-term subcutaneous home monitoring of epilepsy—490 days of EEG from nine patients. *Epilepsia*, 60:2204–2214,

2019.

- [WHCK04] Brian Walker, Crawford S Holling, Stephen Carpenter, and Ann Kinzig. Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecol. Soc.*, 9:5, 2004.
- [WHV08] Huijuan Wang, Javier Martin Hernandez, and Piet Van Mieghem. Betweenness centrality in a weighted network. Phys. Rev. E, 77:046105, 2008.
- [Wil02] A G Wilson. Complex spatial systems: Challenges for modellers. Math. Comput. Model, 36(3):379–387, 2002.
- [Wis84] C Wissel. A universal law of the characteristic return time near thresholds. Oecologia, 65(1):101– 107, 1984.
- [WLG16] Wen-Xu Wang, Ying-Cheng Lai, and Celso Grebogi. Data based identification and prediction of nonlinear and complex dynamical systems. *Phys. Rep.*, 644:1-76, 2016.
- [WLGY11] Wen-Xu Wang, Ying-Cheng Lai, Celso Grebogi, and Jieping Ye. Network reconstruction based on evolutionary-game data via compressive sensing. *Phys. Rev. X*, 1:021021, 2011.
- [WMGT⁺13] O. Woolley-Meza, D. Grady, C. Thiemann, J. P. Bagrow, and D. Brockmann. Eyjafjallajökull and 9/11: The impact of large-scale disasters on worldwide mobility. *PLoS ONE*, 8, 2013.
- [Wor13] World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. JAMA, 310(20):2191-2194, 11 2013.
- [Wor21] World Meteorological Organization. State of the global climate 2020, 2021.
- [WRL19] Theresa Wilkat, Thorsten Rings, and Klaus Lehnertz. No evidence for critical slowing down prior to human epileptic seizures. *Chaos*, 29:091104, 2019.
- [WS98] Duncan J. Watts and Steven H. Strogatz. Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks. *Nature*, 393:440-442, 1998.
- [WSM⁺06] M. Winterhalder, B. Schelter, T. Maiwald, A. Brandt, A. Schad, A. Schulze-Bonhage, and J. Timmer. Spatio-temporal patient-individual assessment of synchronization changes for epileptic seizure prediction. *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 117:2399– 2413, 2006.
- [WTL18] Ang-Kun Wu, Liang Tian, and Yang-Yu Liu. Bridges in complex networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 97(1):012307, 2018.
- [WWH11] C. Wilke, G. Worrell, and B. He. Graph analysis of epileptogenic networks in human partial epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 52:84–93, 2011.
- [Xia14] Ling Xiang. Effect of mixing assortativity on extreme events in complex networks. *Chin. Phys. Lett.*, 31:068901, 2014.
- [YFX⁺21] Chengbo Yi, Jianwen Feng, Chen Xu, Jingyi Wang, and Yi Zhao. Event-triggered consensus control for stochastic multi-agent systems under statedependent topology. Int. J. Control, 94(9):2379– 2387, 2021.
- [YJF⁺18] Xiaoran Yan, Lucas G. S. Jeub, Alessandro Flammini, Filippo Radicchi, and Santo Fortunato. Weight thresholding on complex networks. *Phys. Rev. E*, 98:042304, 2018.
- [YWO⁺05] D. Yao, L. Wang, R. Oostenveld, K. Dremstrup Nielsen, L. Arendt-Nielsen, and A. C. N. Chen. A comparative study of different references for EEG spectral mapping: the issue of the neutral reference

and the use of the infinity reference. *Physiol. Meas.*, 26:173-184, 2005.

- [YYZ21] Yelie Yuan, Jun Yan, and Panpan Zhang. Assortativity measures for weighted and directed networks. J. Complex Netw., 9(2):cnab017, 2021.
- [ZCF⁺18] James J Zhou, Tsinsue Chen, S Harrison Farber, Andrew G Shetter, and Francisco A Ponce. Open-loop deep brain stimulation for the treatment of epilepsy: a systematic review of clinical outcomes over the past decade (2008-present). Neurosurg. Focus, 45:E5, 2018.
- [ZDS06] Hitten P Zaveri, Robert B Duckrow, and Susan S Spencer. On the use of bipolar montages for timeseries analysis of intracranial electroencephalograms. *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 117:2102–2108, 2006.
- [ZFLH14] Tanja Zerenner, Petra Friederichs, Klaus Lehnertz, and Andreas Hense. A Gaussian graphical model approach to climate networks. *Chaos*, 24:023103, 2014.
- [ZGA⁺15] F. Zubler, H. Gast, E. Abela, C. Rummel, M. Hauf, R. Wiest, C. Pollo, and K. Schindler. Detecting functional hubs of ictogenic networks. *Brain Topogr.*, 28:305–317, 2015.
- [ZGAH15] Dong Zhou, Avi Gozolchiani, Yosef Ashkenazy, and Shlomo Havlin. Teleconnection paths via climate network direct link detection. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*,

 $115:268501,\ 2015.$

- [ZGC12] Vinko Zlatić, Diego Garlaschelli, and Guido Caldarelli. Networks with arbitrary edge multiplicities. *EPL*, 97(2):28005, 2012.
- [ZL13] Massimiliano Zanin and Fabrizio Lillo. Modelling the air transport with complex networks: A short review. Eur. Phys. J. ST, 215:5-21, 2013.
- [ZMD15] Yury V Zaytsev, Abigail Morrison, and Moritz Deger. Reconstruction of recurrent synaptic connectivity of thousands of neurons from simulated spiking activity. J. Comput. Neurosci., 39:77–103, 2015.
- [ZMOP08] Elena Zotenko, Julian Mestre, Dianne P. O'Leary, and Teresa M. Przytycka. Why do hubs in the yeast protein interaction network tend to be essential: Reexamining the connection between the network topology and essentiality. *PLoS Comput. Biol.*, 4:1000140, 2008.
- [ZRT⁺11] Y. Zou, M. C. Romano, M. Thiel, N. Marwan, and J. Kurths. Inferring indirect coupling by means of recurrences. Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos Appl. Sci. Eng., 21:1099-1111, 2011.
- [ZV61] Leo M Zimmerman and Ilza Veith. Great ideas in the history of surgery. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, 1961.

Auxiliaries

Prof. Dr. Klaus Lehnertz, Dr. Gerrit Ansman, and Dr. Christian Geier introduced me to the topics and issues addressed in this thesis and, especially during the initial phase of this thesis, offered advise and support for my investigations. A large number of discussions with Prof. Dr. Klaus Lehnertz and Timo Bröhl were vital for the interpretation of the various findings recorded in this thesis.

Besides the necessary hardware and a large amount of self-programmed software written in Python 2 and Python 3 with Jupyter notebook, I employed the software packages pandas, matplotlib, numpy, scikit-learn, and scipy for numerical simulations and data analysis. I furthermore used the software Inkscape for image processing.

I hereby declare that I have written this thesis independently and without the use of other than the stated aids. All passages taken verbatim or in spirit from published and unpublished works are marked as such. This thesis has not yet been submitted in the same or similar form or in excerpts within the framework of another examination. I assure that the submitted electronic version corresponds completely to the submitted printed version.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my personal gratitude to my patient and long-suffering parents, whose support made it possible for me to study our wonderful world (and physics).

I would also like to take this opportunity to thank my doctoral supervisor, Prof. Dr. Klaus Lehnertz. His guidance and support on many complex issues played a major role in the success of my dissertation. His constant interest and our countless discussions (often even about physics) are an important cornerstone of my understanding of science. His example is a great inspiration.

I would also like to thank my former and current colleagues in the Neurophysics group, who have always stood by my side when it came to making sense of a chaotic world. I would especially like to mention Timo Bröhl, Lina Zabawa, Prof. Dr. Leonardo Rydin Gorjão, Dr. Gerrit Ansmann, Dr. Christian Geir and Dr. Henning Dickten, without whose friendship, experience and guidance I would never have made it this far.

Last but not least, I would also like to thank Dr. Randi von Wrede, Prof. Dr. Christoph Helmstaedter, Prof. Dr. Reza Rahimi Tabar and Dr. Jürgen Fell for their great collaboration on various projects (and the celebration of their successes). Our shared experiences will always be with me, sometimes even without driving me crazy.